Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf



# Heterogeneous fate choice of neural stem cells in the damaged and intact central nervous system

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von

### FELIX BEYER

aus Cottbus

Düsseldorf, 5. October 2020

aus dem Labor Neuroregeneration der Neurologischen Klinik der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

Gutachter Promotionsbetreuer: Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry Mentor: Prof. Dr. Nikolaj Klöcker

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 25.02.2021

Für meine Eltern

## Abstract

The vertebrate central nervous system (CNS) primarily consists of the brain and spinal cord. In both structures, so-called white and gray matter regions (WM and GM, respectively) can be discriminated by their cell composition and hence functionality. While highly efficient, the CNS shows a low regenerative capacity following an acute injury or while suffering from other neuropathological diseases during which neural cells are lost. Adult neural stem cells (NSCs) harbor the potential to replace lost cells but are locally restricted to only two discrete niches in the brain. However, the transplantation of multipotent NSCs holds great promises in terms of cell replacement strategies, e.g. when myelinating oligodendrocytes are lost. In this scenario, fate choice of exogenously applied NSCs must be directed towards the oligodendroglial lineage in order to achieve sufficient cell replacement. The p57kip2 gene has been described as a negative regulator of oligodendroglial fate choice in rat NSCs. However, it was unknown whether p57kip2 suppressed NSCs show a similar increase in oligodendrogenesis following transplantation into either healthy or injured GM- and WM tissue. Moreover, the impact on fate choice of transplanted NSCs in different neuropathological diseases has been abundantly described but rarely compared from a disease-instructing perspective.

To address these issues, I first analyzed the publicly available literature describing the transplantation of NSCs into different unharmed CNS regions and various neuropathological models, respectively. It became evident, that different brain and spinal cord regions exert different fate directing instructions on transplanted NSCs. Surprisingly, transplantation into the same regions under pathological paradigms led to dissenting results depending on the kind of pathology or acute injury. Since evidence for a differential impact of GM versus WM on NSC fate was rare, I next transplanted p57kip2 suppressed and control NSCs into the GM and WM of both, brain and spinal cord. White matter structures in both CNS compartments promoted an oligodendroglial fate compared to gray matter. Moreover, besides an additional increase in oligodendroglial descendants of p57kip2 suppressed NSCs in WM, this intrinsic modulation overruled the inhibitory nature of GM areas with regard to oligodendrocyte generation. Finally, I showed that the transplantation of p57kip2 suppressed NSCs in an acutely injured spinal cord also led to the promotion of an oligodendroglial fate choice but resulted in a net cell loss, probably due to a higher vulnerability of this lineage in a hostile environment.

This study reveals the high degree in adaptability of transplanted NSCs as the fate choice was almost exclusively driven by the cellular need of the respective injury. Furthermore, it discloses the necessity for more comparability within and between NSC transplantation studies owing to the high degree in heterogeneity between different CNS regions and between healthy and pathological tissue. Since an intrinsic modulation could partially overrule microenvironmental-driven lineage instructions in unharmed and injured CNS tissue, this study provides evidence for a hierarchy of intrinsic versus extrinsic fate directing signals, which should be considered in future cell replacement studies.

## Zusammenfassung

Das Zentralnervensystem (CNS) der Wirbeltiere besteht hauptsächlich aus Gehirn und Rückenmark. In beiden Strukturen können weiße und graue Substanz (WM bzw. GM) durch ihre Zellzusammen-setzung und damit Funktionalität unterschieden werden. Obwohl das ZNS hocheffizient ist, zeigt es nach einer akuten Verletzung oder anderen neuropathologischen Erkrankungen, bei denen Nervenzellen verloren gehen, eine geringe Regenerationsfähigkeit. Adulte neurale Stammzellen (NSCs) können möglicherweise verlorene Zellen ersetzen. Jedoch sind sie lokal auf nur zwei diskrete Nischen im Gehirn beschränkt. Die Transplantation multipotenter NSCs birgt jedoch ein großes Potenzial in Bezug auf Zellersatzstrategien, z.B. wenn myelinisierende Oligodendrozyten verloren gehen. In diesem Szenario muss die Schicksalsentscheidung von exogen applizierten NSCs in Richtung der oligodendrogliale Entwicklung gerichtet sein, um einen ausreichenden Zellersatz zu erzielen. Das p57kip2-Gen wurde als negativer Regulator der oligodendroglialen Schicksalsentscheidung bei Ratten-NSCs beschrieben. Es war jedoch nicht bekannt, ob p57kip2-supprimierte NSCs nach einer Transplantation in gesundes oder verletztes GM- und WM-Gewebe einen ähnlichen Anstieg der Oligodendrogenese zeigen. Darüber hinaus wurde das Ergebnis der Schicksalswahl transplantierter NSCs bei verschiedenen neuropathologischen Erkrankungen zwar ausführlich beschrieben, jedoch selten aus einem krankheitsinstruierenden Blickwinkel verglichen.

Um diese Fragestellungen anzugehen, analysierte ich zunächst die öffentlich verfügbare Literatur, welche die Transplantation von NSCs in verschiedene unversehrte CNS-Regionen bzw. verschiedene neuropathologische Modelle beschreibt. Es wurde deutlich, dass verschiedene Gehirn- und Rückenmarksregionen einen unterschiedlichen Einfluss auf die Schicksalssteuerung transplantierter NSCs ausüben. Überraschenderweise führte die Transplantation in dieselben Regionen unter pathologischen Paradigmen zu anderen Ergebnissen, abhängig von der Art der Pathologie bzw. der akuten Verletzung. Da Hinweise auf einen unterschiedlichen Einfluss von GM gegenüber WM auf das Schicksal von NSCs selten waren, transplantierte ich als nächstes p57kip2-supprimierte sowie Kontroll-NSCs in die GM und WM von Gehirn und Rückenmark. Strukturen der weißen Substanz in beiden CNS-Kompartimenten förderten ein oligodendrogliales Schicksal im Vergleich zur grauen Substanz. Neben einem zusätzlichen Anstieg von Oligodendroglia nach p57kip2-Suppression in NSCs in der WM setzte diese intrinsische Modulation zusätzlich die Unterdrückung von GM-Bereichen hinsichtlich der Oligodendrozytenerzeugung außer Kraft. Schließlich zeigte ich, dass die Transplantation von p57kip2supprimierten NSCs in ein akut verletztes Rückenmark zwar ebenfalls zur Förderung eines oligodendroglialen Schicksals führte, jedoch einen Nettozellverlust bedeutete, was wahrscheinlich auf eine höhere Anfälligkeit dieser Zellen gegenüber einer lebensfeindlichen Umgebung zurückzuführen ist.

Diese Studie zeigt den hohen Grad an Anpassungsfähigkeit transplantierter NSCs, da die Wahl des Schicksals fast ausschließlich vom zellulären Bedarf der jeweiligen Verletzung abhing. Darüber hinaus wird die Notwendigkeit einer besseren Vergleichbarkeit innerhalb und zwischen NSC-Transplantationsstudien aufgrund des hohen Grads an Heterogenität zwischen verschiedenen CNS-Regionen sowie zwischen gesundem und pathologischem Gewebe offenbart. Da eine intrinsische Modulation die schicksalinstruierenden Signale von Mikroumgebungen in unversehrtem und verletztem CNS-Gewebe teilweise außer Kraft setzen konnte, liefert diese Studie Hinweise auf eine Hierarchie zwischen intrinsischen und extrinsischen Schicksalssignalen, welche in zukünftigen Zellersatzstudien berücksichtigt werden sollten.

### Abbreviations

ALS	Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis
aNSC	adult Neural Stem Cell
Aqp4	Aquaporin-4
BBB	Blood-Brain-Barrier
BDNF	Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor
BMP	Bone-Morphogenic Protein
Cdkn1c	Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor 1C
CNS	Central Nervous System
Cspg4	Chondroitin Sulfate Proteoglycan 4
Dcx	Doublecortin
DG	Dentate Gyrus
EAE	Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis
ESC	Embryonic Stem Cell
GE	Ganglionic Eminence
GFAP	Glial Fibrillary Acidic protein
GM	Gray Matter
GSTπ	Glutathione S-Transferase pi
GZ	Granule Zone
Hes	Hairy and Enhancer of Split
iPSC	Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell
LGE	Lateral Ganglionic Eminence
LIF	Leukemia Inhibitory Factor
MCAO	Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion
MGE	Medial Ganglionic Eminence
mOL	Myelinating Oligodendrocyte
MS	Multiple Sclerosis

MSC-CM	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Conditioned Medium
NB	Neuroblast
NEC	Neuroepithelial Cell
NeuN	Hexaribonucleotide binding Protein-3
Neurog2	Neurogenin 2
NG2	Neuron-Glia antigen 2
OB	Olfactory Bulb
Olig1	Oligodendrocyte transcription factor 1
Olig2	Oligodendrocyte transcription factor 2
OPC	Oligodendroglial Precursor Cell
PDGFRα	Platelet Derived Growth Factor Receptor, alpha
Plp1	Proteolipid protein 1
PMD	Pelizaeus-Merzbacher Disease
PNS	Peripheral Nervous System
RGC	Radial Glial Cell
RMS	Rostral Migratory Stream
SCI	Spinal Cord Injury
SGZ	Subgranular Zone
Shh	Sonic hedgehog
Shi	shiverer
Sox10	SRY-box 10
Sox9	SRY-box 9
SVZ	Subventricular Zone
ТАР	Transient Amplifying Cell
TBI	Traumatic Brain Injury
VZ	Ventricular Zone
WM	White Matter
β-III-Tub	Class III β-tubulin

### Contents

Abs	stract	
Zusa	sammenfassung	
Abb	breviations	7
1.	Introduction	11
1.1	Cellular composition of the central nervous system	
1.2	Central nervous system development	
	1.2.1 Developmental and adult neurogenesis in the subventricular zone	
	1.2.2 Gliogenesis	
	1.2.3 Oligodendrogenesis	
	1.2.4 Adult oligodendrogenesis in health and disease	
1.3	Neural stem cells and their niches	
	1.3.1 Adult neural stem cells	
	1.3.2 The role of p57kip2 in directing neural stem cell fate	
1.4	Heterogeneity in the central nervous system	
	1.4.1 Glial heterogeneity	
	1.4.2 Heterogeneity between the diseased/injured versus healthy central nervo	us system 20
1.5	Central nervous system diseases and injuries affecting oligodendrocytes	
	1.5.1 Treatment strategies	
	1.5.2 Additional stem cell based therapies	
1.6	Aims of this thesis	
2.	Results (Publications)	
2.1	Heterogeneous fate choice of genetically modulated adult neural stem cells in matter of the central nervous system	gray and white
2.2	Do neural stem cells have a choice? Heterogenic outcome of cell fate acquisit injury models	ion in different
3.	Discussion	
3.1	Intrinsic versus extrinsic signals directing the fate of adult neural stem cells	
3.2	p57kip2's potential to direct oligodendroglial fate acquisition	
3.3	Neural stem cell heterogeneity and it's consequence on transplantation outcomes	
3.4	How does an injury or disease change the outcome of transplanted neural stem co	ells? 33
3.5	Alternatives to extrinsic neural stem cells for cell replacement strategies	
3.6	The importance of my results for future cell replacement strategies	
3.7	Conclusion	
4.	References	

Ackno	owledgement – Danksagung	48
5.	Publications	49
Eides	stattliche Erklärung	86

## 1. Introduction

#### **1.1** Cellular composition of the central nervous system

The nervous system of all mammalian species, including human, is composed of a peripheral and a central nervous system (PNS and CNS, respectively). The PNS serves to sense environmental stimuli and forward this information via afferent nerve fibers to the CNS. Here, the information is processed and efferent signals propagate back into the periphery, e.g. a motoric signal along a peripheral nerve fiber ending at a neuromuscular junction causing this muscle to contract. The CNS is composed of brain and spinal cord. The brain can be further classified into a multitude of sub regions such as the cerebellum, hippocampal formation, stratum radiatum, motor- and sensory cortex. Simplistically, brainand spinal cord tissue can be broadly categorized into two distinct types of tissue: gray and white matter (GM and WM, respectively). On a macroscopic level, these two classifications arise either from the more gray (non-myelinated) or from white (myelinated, lipid-rich structures) appearance of the respective tissue. Further differences of the two tissue classes will be described in more detail later during the introduction. However, it is noteworthy that the two main cell types, neurons and macroglia, reside in both matters. In general, neurons reflect the electro-chemically active functional subunit in the CNS. Typically, a neuron consists of a neuronal cell body harboring the nucleus and other fundamental organelles, a dendritic tree serving as input region to receive information, and a single axon that serves to propagate the signal to other neurons or muscles. The ends of both, dendrites and the axon, show membrane protuberances called synapses, which enable chemical signal transduction via the release of neurotransmitters. Eventually, neurotransmitters released by pre-synapses on the axon side diffuse via the synaptic cleft to reach receptors on the dendritic post-synapse. Here, binding of the neurotransmitter leads to a change in ion homeostasis in the neuron which, when reaching a certain threshold, evokes an action potential at the axon hillock leading to the depolarization of the membrane. This electrical signal then propagates along the axon to activate neurotransmitter release at the next pre-synapse. In order for an action potential to propagate faster along an axon, the axon diameter has to be increased as described for giant squids (Zalc B et al., 2008). However, limited spatial properties in higher (land-)animals has impacted evolution in a way to keep smaller sized axons with yet fast signal conduction by arranging the electrical current to "jump" along an axon. This so-called saltatory signal transduction is warranted by insulating axons with myelin sheaths that show regularly occurring gaps, at which the action potential is newly generated (Cohen CCH et al., 2020). Myelin consists of lipid and myelin proteins and is wrapped around axonal structures by myelinating oligodendrocytes (mOLs) in the CNS. One mature mOL can insulate multiple axons (in contrast to their peripheral counterparts: Schwann cells) and constitutes one of the main macroglial cell types. Very recent evidence attributes even supporting metabolic functions to these mOLs (Funfschilling U et al., 2012;Lee Y et al., 2012;Saab AS et al.,

2016; Snaidero N et al., 2017). The other macroglial cell mainly provides structural and metabolic support to neurons, ensheathes the synaptic cleft in a structure called tripartite synapse to avoid neurotransmitter spillover and consequently excitotoxicity, and serves as a filter cell between blood vessels and neural cells as part of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB): the astrocyte (Sofroniew MV and Vinters HV, 2010). Besides these two macroglial cells, neuroectoderm-derived ependymal cells reside in the brain and build up a barrier between the cerebral-spinal fluid filled ventricles and neural tissue. In contrast to neurons, macroglia and ependymal cells, microglia are mesoderm-derived cells in the CNS. These cells reside in all parts of the CNS and play a critical role as the immune response system of the CNS (Prinz M et al., 2019). The generation of new neural cells, referred to as neurogenesis or gliogenesis, respectively, decreases dramatically from early postnatal development to adulthood (Encinas JM et al., 2011;Katsimpardi L and Lledo PM, 2018;Kuhn HG et al., 1996;Sorrells SF et al., 2018). In the CNS, both processes are limited by the number of precursors (e.g. oligodendroglial precursor cells, OPCs) of each individual cell type at post-developmental time points. Moreover, two niches in the adult mammal (and bird) harbor adult neural stem cells (aNSCs) which potentially give rise to neurons and macroglia: the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) within the hippocampal formation (Gotz M et al., 2016;Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A, 2009).

#### 1.2 Central nervous system development

Following the formation of the blastula from a fertilized egg, three germ layers form: endoderm, mesoderm, and ectoderm. Ectoderm in proximity to the noto chord thickens and develops into the neuroectoderm: the neural plate. As lateral edges of this cell layer fuse, the neural plate folds and eventually forms the neural tube. While these former lateral edges consist of neural crest cells, which will generate the PNS, cells of the neural tube will give rise to neurons and glial cells of the CNS. The formation of three primary vesicles at the anterior part of the tube particularly mark the beginning of brain development. These vesicles will subdivide into five secondary vesicles and already define the major structures of the adult brain (e.g.: cortex, midbrain, or cerebellum). The single cell layered wall of the neural tube mainly contains NSC, the neuroepithelium. By numerous symmetric cell divisions these cells drive enlargement of the brain until asymmetric cell divisions (division of an NSC into a self-renewing NSC and a daughter cell primed to differentiate) eventually produces neuronal and glial precursor cells. Increased neuronal cell migration hallmarks the next phase of brain development, while proliferation starts to decline. Once neuronal precursors and neurons have reached their final position, they differentiate and mature in order to form functional neuronal networks. While developmental neurogenesis is declining, gliogenesis begins (Taverna E et al., 2014).

#### **1.2.1** Developmental and adult neurogenesis in the subventricular zone

The generation of neurons from stem cells is referred to as neurogenesis. While its existence in the adult human is still under debate (Boldrini M et al., 2018;Moreno-Jimenez EP et al., 2019;Sorrells SF, et al., 2018), adult neurogenesis has been well studied in rodents and allowed insight into key similarities and differences compared to developmental neurogenesis (Gotz M, et al., 2016). In rodents, developmental neurogenesis starts with the formation of the neural tube. The first stem cells of the CNS, neuroepithelial cells (NECs), form the germinal zone along the ventricle called the ventricular zone (VZ) of the neural tube. During this early phase (starting at E10.5 in mice), NECs transform into radial glial cells (RGCs), which show an elongated radial morphology and proliferate symmetrically to increase the pool of these primary NSCs (Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A, 2009; Taverna E, et al., 2014). Subsequently, proliferation changes from symmetric to asymmetric cell division in which one RGC gives rise to a daughter RGC and an intermediate progenitor cell, which either directly differentiates into a neuron or produces two neurons by asymmetric cell division. By this mechanism, the pool of primary NSCs remains constant while the number of progenitors and subsequently neuronal cells increases. During development, RGCs serve as "highways" for newly produced progenitors to migrate in radial direction along radial fibers in order to reach cortical structures. Following proliferation and migration phases, neural progenitors start to mature by becoming post-mitotic and forming synaptic networks. Remaining RGCs in the adult SVZ are considered adult NSCs also called type B cells (Doetsch F et al., 1999;Gotz M, et al., 2016). Although adult NSCs still express the astrocyte marker glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP, as do their embryonic counterparts, the RGCs), they can be well discriminated from astrocytes by their expression of the cytoskeletal protein Nestin. Upon activation, these slowly dividing stem cells give rise to type C cells (transient amplifying progenitors, TAPs), which are highly proliferative. In the SVZ, TAPs give rise to type A cells, also termed neuroblasts, which are less proliferative and mainly migrate along the rostral migratory stream (RMS) towards the olfactory bulb (OB). Here, neurogenesis ends with the differentiation and maturation of neuroblasts (NBs) into glomerular- and granule neurons. With the transition into migrating NBs, these cells become positive of the protein Doublecortin (Dcx), indicating their commitment towards the neuronal lineage. Once mature, neuronal cells lose Dcxpositivity and can hence be identified by the expression of Hexaribonucleotide binding Protein-3 (also termed neuronal nuclear antigen, NeuN).

#### 1.2.2 Gliogenesis

Astrocytes and oligodendrocytes are summarized as macroglial cells and are believed to outnumber neurons in an approximately 2:1 ratio in the CNS (von Bartheld CS et al., 2016). In general, neurogenesis precedes gliogenesis and the conversion from one process to the other is referred to as neuron-glial switch. The emergence of both cell types, neurons and macroglia, is equally dependent on the expression of pro-neural versus pro-glial factors as well as inhibitory signals for both lineages. During late embryogenesis and early postnatal stages, macroglial cells develop from RGCs which involves a variety

of extrinsic signaling molecules and intrinsic transcription factors (Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A, 2009). These molecules orchestrate the fate specification of neuronal versus glial progenitors and subsequently that of oligodendroglial versus astroglial cells. Components of the sonic hedgehog- (Shh) and bone morphogenic protein- (BMP) pathway pattern the neural tube (Liem KF, Jr. et al., 2000;Timmer JR et al., 2002;Zagorski M et al., 2017). While cells residing in the ventral neural tube secrete Shh, the origin of BMPs lays in the dorsal region and both molecules show antagonistic function. Astrocytes are the first macroglial cells that are generated during development. Here, BMP signaling induces the expression of hairy and enhancer of split (Hes) leading to the repression of downstream proneuronal genes. Simultaneously, activated component of the Notch signaling pathway further drive gliogenesis (Ge W et al., 2002). The expression of the basic-helix-loop-helix (bHLH) transcription factor Sox9 marks glial progenitors primed to differentiate into astrocytes (Stolt CC et al., 2003;Sun W et al., 2017). As astrocyte mature, their volume increases and they become highly ramified or elongated, depending on their final destination (astrocyte subtypes will be introduced in a later chapter). In addition, mature astrocytes express distinct marker proteins that can help to identify them such as the water channel protein aquaporin 4 (Aqp4), SRY-box 9 (Sox9), and GFAP.

In the developing telencephalon, OPC fate specification takes place in the ventral lateral ganglionic eminence (LGE) as well as the medial ganglionic eminence (MGE) shortly after astroglial specification. Oligodendroglial precursor cells are marked by their expression of platelet derived growth factor receptor, alpha (PDGFR $\alpha$ ) as well as the bHLH transcription factors Olig1, Olig2 (oligodendrocyte transcription factor 1 and 2, respectively), and SRY-box 10 (Sox10) and initially emerge from the ventral pMN domain to migrate throughout the whole developing spinal cord and telencephalon (El Waly B et al., 2014). These transcription factors actively promote the generation of OPCs. The maturation into oligodendrocytes is accompanied by a change in marker protein expression. While Olig2 and Sox10 serve as pan-oligodendroglial markers and are involved in oligodendroglial fate specification as well as the initiation of myelination, the expression of glutathione S-transferase pi (GST $\pi$ ) has been used to identify mature OLs (Bunk EC et al., 2016;Kremer D et al., 2009). Once activated to insulate an axon with myelin, myelin protein (e.g. 2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3' phosphodiesterase (CNPase), myelin basic protein (MBP) and myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)) expression starts (Bercury KK and Macklin WB, 2015).

#### 1.2.3 Oligodendrogenesis

Oligodendrocytes are mature glial cells that differentiate from OPCs to myelinate axons, thereby facilitating saltatory signal propagation throughout the CNS. Developmental oligodendrogenesis in the brain is characterized by three consecutive waves of OPC generation. The first wave of OPCs arises at E12.5 in the mouse telencephalon from NK2 homeobox 1 (Nkx2.1) expressing precursors in the medial ganglionic eminence (MGE) and ventral parts of the lateral ganglionic eminence (LGE) (Spassky N et al., 2001). These early OPCs are replaced by a second and third wave of OPCs from the lateral and

caudal GE at E15.5 and the dorsal VZ at early postnatal time points, respectively (Kessaris N et al., 2006). Similarly, in the neural tube/developing spinal cord two prenatal waves of OPCs from the ventral and dorsal region, respectively, are followed by a third postnatal wave (Spassky N, et al., 2001). The exact oligodendroglial patterning of the neural tube progenitor domains (denoted p0, p1 p2, p3 and pMN) is yet not fully understood but involves a combination of extrinsic and intrinsic neural repressors as well as the expression of pro-oligodendroglial factors (El Waly B, et al., 2014). While extrinsic Shh signaling and intrinsic expression of Olig2 and Sox10 serve as pro-oligodendroglial determinants, downregulation of pro-neuronal neurogenin 2 (Neurog2) is equally important. Some of the OPCs do not differentiate and can be identified by their expression of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 4 (Cspg4; referred to as neuron-glia antigen 2, NG2). These cells remain proliferative into adulthood and potentially serve as a backup pool for lost mOLs (Vigano F et al., 2016).

#### 1.2.4 Adult oligodendrogenesis in health and disease

During development, not all OPCs differentiate into mOLs but remain as slowly proliferating or quiescent NG2-cells throughout the whole CNS (El Waly B, et al., 2014). While OPCs in the GM are almost exclusively activated to proliferate and differentiate following an injury, WM-OPCs slowly divide and give rise to new OLs during adulthood, both during health and disease state (Spitzer SO et al., 2019). However, the production of new OPCs and subsequently mOLs rapidly declines with age to reach a low generation rate in rodents (Psachoulia K et al., 2009). Besides OPCs, NSCs from the SVZ contribute to adult oligodendrogenesis. Here, stem cells from the SVZ (foremost the dorsal SVZ adjacent to the corpus callosum) first give rise to rapidly dividing transient amplifying cells (TAPs) that in turn can give rise to OPCs, which migrate radially into the WM or GM (Menn B et al., 2006). Of note, to this point it is unknown whether adult oligodendrogenesis is also a feature of the human CNS (exceeding the age of 19) (Giedd JN and Rapoport JL, 2010).

Different stimuli such as voluntary exercise increase the rate of adult OPC/OL generation (Alvarez-Saavedra M et al., 2016) in the healthy state. Furthermore, the strongest stimuli for OPC and OL generation is damage to the CNS by e.g. traumatic injury, autoimmune diseases or infections leading to demyelination – the breakdown of myelin. In general, demyelination is accompanied by the death of mOLs even though two studies using RNA-Sequencing- and C<sup>14</sup>-analysis of Multiple sclerosis (a demyelinating autoimmune disease) post mortem brain tissue showed that in these patients mOLs only degenerated without being lost (Jakel S et al., 2019;Yeung MSY et al., 2019). However, the general features seen after demyelination are proliferation of adult OPCs, their migration towards the lesion and subsequent differentiation leading to an increased number of mOLs at the expense of the OPC pool (Franklin RJ et al., 1997;Levine JM and Reynolds R, 1999). Besides resident OPCs, aNSCs from the SVZ also contribute to the generation of new oligodendroglial cells upon demyelinating events (Nait-Oumesmar B et al., 1999;Picard-Riera N et al., 2002). While these stem cells primarily give rise to NBs, which migrate along the RMS to eventually differentiate into neurons of the OB, their potential to also

generate mature OLs was increased four-fold following demyelination. Furthermore, Nait-Oumesmar and colleagues could show a similar expression of NSC- and OPC-markers in cells migrating from the human SVZ of MS patients (Nait-Oumesmar B et al., 2007).

#### **1.3** Neural stem cells and their niches

Every stem cell needs its niche. In the CNS, NSCs reside either in the neural tube during development or in the SGZ of the DG and in the SVZ in the postnatal and adult organism, respectively. Here, contact with the surrounding cells as well as secreted signaling molecules affect the state (e.g. either quiescent or activated) of these stem cells. In principle, aNSCs are multipotent stem cells with the potential to give rise to neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes directly or via the generation of intermediate cell states such as TAPs and respective progenitor cell types (Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A, 2009). However, depending on the niche, the regional position of one cell in this niche, and the current state of the organism (e.g. healthy versus diseased, young versus old) the ratio of aNSC-derived cells is not overall equal (Encinas JM, et al., 2011;Katsimpardi L and Lledo PM, 2018;Moreno-Jimenez EP, et al., 2019;Zweifel S et al., 2018). This plasticity of aNSCs to generate different proportions of descendants at different rates depending on environmental cues has promised great potential to manipulate the fate of these cells. Therefore, isolated and *in vitro* cultured NSCs are kept in "niches" (culture media) which are carefully designed by researchers to i) provide necessary factors ensuring cell survival and ii) manipulate cell fate decisions and behavior of either wild type or further genetically engineered NSCs.

#### 1.3.1 Adult neural stem cells

During development, the majority of RGC descendants eventually give rise to post-mitotic cells of the CNS. A small proportion of RGC-derived adult radial glial-like cells remain as aNSCs in two niches of the adult brain: the SGZ and the SVZ (Altman J and Das GD, 1965;Doetsch F, et al., 1999;Fuentealba LC et al., 2012;Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A, 2009).

The DG of the hippocampal formation is compartmentalized into molecular layer, granule zone (GZ), hilus and a one cell layer thin SGZ between hilus and GZ (Eriksson PS et al., 1998). Radial glial-like cells can be identified molecularly by their expression of Nestin and GFAP as well as their distinct morphology of a cell body residing in the SGZ and a radial process projecting thru the GZ towards the molecular layer. Acting as NSCs in the SGZ, these cells spontaneously give rise to neurons and some astrocytes (Boldrini M, et al., 2018;Eriksson PS, et al., 1998;Ming GL and Song H, 2011;Moreno-Jimenez EP, et al., 2019;Spalding KL et al., 2013). While it is not clear whether astrocytic generation is direct or follows the generation of a glial precursor, different intermediate cells are generated before final differentiation into a neuron. Two-photon *in vivo* live cell imaging showed several symmetric and asymmetric cell divisions of radial glia-like cells and their non-radial glia-like descendant before these neural progenitors terminally differentiated into neurons of the GZ (Pilz GA et al., 2018). The generation of oligodendroglial cells by SGZ-NSCs does not occur without further ectopic manipulation of these

cells such as the inhibition of negative regulators of oligodendrogenesis (e.g. p57kip2, Drosha, Prox1) (Akkermann R et al., 2017). Of note, the number of OLs is very low compared to neurons and astrocytes in the DG.

The second niche that harbors adult NSCs, the SVZ, lays adjacent to the ventricular wall of the lateral ventricles. Here, multi-cilia ependymal cells line the inner wall of the lateral ventricles. Adult neural stem and progenitor cells are located adjacent to and partially intermingled between these ependymal cells. This pool of stem and progenitor cells consists of three main cell types: type A-, B, and C-cells (Doetsch F and Alvarez-Buylla A, 1996;Doetsch F, et al., 1999). Type B-cells represent the pool of quiescent and slowly dividing aNSCs, which give rise to fast proliferating type C-cells (also called TAPs). These TAPs are the major source of neuronal and glial cells from the SVZ. In the case of neuronal primed cells, TAPs convert into type A-cells (referred to as NBs) which migrate along the RMS towards the OB to eventually differentiate into granule- or glomerular neurons. While the majority of SVZ-derived cells adapt a neuronal identity, SVZ-NSCs harbor the potential to spontaneously give rise to glial cells as well. Besides the generation of astrocytes (Faiz M et al., 2015), pro-oligodendroglial cues such as the expression of the transcription factors Olig2 or Sox10 drive NSCs to generate OPCs (Menn B, et al., 2006;Pozniak CD et al., 2010).

#### 1.3.2 The role of p57kip2 in directing neural stem cell fate

While many factors have been explored to be involved in the regulation of cell fate decisions in aNSCs, my thesis focuses on the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1C (Cdkn1c) p57kip2. p57kip2 is involved in several processes throughout the nervous system (CNS and PNS) during development and in the adult state. Classically (from a cancer research perspective) p57kip2 is regarded as a tumor suppressor gene and therefore a negative regulator of proliferation by binding to G1 cyclin-CDK complexes. Furthermore, p57kip2 is associated with Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome, which leads to an increased risk of tumor formation in children. However, studies of myelinating cells of the PNS, Schwann cells, could attribute an additional role to p57kip2 as a negative regulator of Schwann cell differentiation (Heinen A et al., 2008). Small hairpin RNA (shRNA) interference mediated knock down of p57kip2 in cultured Schwann cells led to an increased differentiation rate and myelin protein expression (Heinen A, et al., 2008). Similarly, several studies proved a direct implication of p57kip2 in the control of proliferation versus differentiation in OPCs (Dugas JC et al., 2007;Gottle P et al., 2015;Kremer D, et al., 2009). Our own laboratory could not only show that p57kip2 knock down but also its specific subcellular localization (out of the nucleus into the cytoplasm) promoted OPC differentiation and OLmediated myelination (Gottle P, et al., 2015). In neural crest cells of the developing zebrafish, p57kip2 promotes both neuronal development in cells with high p57kip2 expression and oligodendroglial fate in cells with low p57kip2 levels (Park HC et al., 2005). In contrast to Parks results, a study of SGZ-NSCs suggests that p57kip2 is important for the maintenance of NSC quiescence in the SGZ and that reduction of p57kip2 leads to NSC activation and increased neurogenesis in vivo (Furutachi S et al., 2013).

Moreover, the emergence of slowly dividing, aNSCs of the SVZ depends on the expression of p57kip2 in embryonic neural progenitor cells as its deletion led to an impaired emergence of SVZ-NSCs (Furutachi S et al., 2015). Experiments of our own group further revealed involvement of p57kip2 in adult NSC fate modulation for both, SGZ- and SVZ-NSCs (Jadasz JJ et al., 2012;Jadasz JJ et al., 2018). Stem cells from both niches were subjected to shRNA-mediated suppression of p57kip2 by nucleofection *in vitro*. Positively transfected aNSCs showed decreased expression of neuronal and astroglial marker genes such as Class III  $\beta$ -tubulin ( $\beta$ -III-Tub) and GFAP, respectively. At the same time, the expression of proteins highlighting different stages of oligodendroglial development (for OPCs: ceramide galactosyltransferase (CGT), pre-mature OLs: Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), mature OLs: GST $\pi$ ) was increased. Additionally, transplantation of SGZ-NSCs into healthy rat spinal cords led to an increased differentiation into GST $\pi$ -positive OLs at the expense of GFAP-positive astrocytes upon p57kip2 knock down, demonstrating initial relevance of p57kip2 modulated aNSCs for the treatment of demyelinating injuries or diseases.

#### **1.4** Heterogeneity in the central nervous system

Heterogeneity occurs in many different facets, especially in the CNS. Although hippocampus, cerebellum, and spinal cord are all part of the CNS, they are very different in their functionality and cell composition. More than 100 years ago, Ramon y Cajal already showed how nerve cells (neurons) appear in different morphologies. In the time since, it became clear that also other cells found throughout the entire CNS, such as OPCs and astrocytes, appear in many different morphologies and molecular compositions potentially leading to functional differences (Cadwell CR et al., 2016;Fuzik J et al., 2016;Petitpre C et al., 2018;Spitzer SO, et al., 2019). The level of functional heterogeneity further increases if the CNS is subjected to damage, as for example astrocytes become reactive (Liddelow SA et al., 2017) or cells from the systemic milieu can enter the CNS upon disruption of the BBB. The most important levels of heterogeneity concerning the subject of this thesis will be introduced in the following chapters in more detail.

#### 1.4.1 Glial heterogeneity

"Understanding how myriad different cell types in the brain communicate to give rise to cognition and perception is the central challenge of neurobiology today." (Emery B and Barres BA, 2008). Understanding of the multitude of neurons in the CNS has been the focus of neuroscientific research in the past decade. However, more and more evidence accumulates hinting towards a comparable level of heterogeneity among glial cells. Its deeper understanding is the basis for future clinical approaches tackling diseases in which glial cells are affected.

Among astrocytes, two broad morphologies can be distinguished: i) protoplasmic astrocytes populating the GM and ii) fibrous astrocytes residing in WM structures (Andriezen WL, 1893;Matias I et al., 2019). Protoplasmic astrocytes are heavily ramified, which hints towards their contribution to neuromodulatory

functions in the tripartite synapse as the majority of synapses are found in GM structures (Bushong EA et al., 2002;Matias I, et al., 2019;Oberheim NA et al., 2012). In contrast, fibrous astrocytes of the WM have a less complex structure and are probably functionally restricted to nutritious and homeostatic support (Lundgaard I et al., 2014). Furthermore, astrocytes differ in their expression profile as revealed by RNA-sequencing- and proteome analyses (Bachoo RM et al., 2004;Chai H et al., 2017) depending on their localization in the CNS and the age of the organism. Molecularly, the identification of astrocytes throughout the CNS has been challenging due to their inhomogeneous expression of a specific astrocyte marker. While GFAP has been widely accepted and used to identify astrocytes *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Bonaguidi MA et al., 2005;Bushong EA, et al., 2002;Jadasz JJ, et al., 2012;Jadasz JJ, et al., 2018;Zhang Z et al., 2019), its expression does vary among astrocytes (Zhang Z, et al., 2019). Other markers such as aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 family member L1 (Aldh111), S100 protein beta polypeptide neural (s100b) or solute carrier family 1 member 3 (Slc1A3) have been equally challenged by the heterogeneous nature of astrocytes. Here, Aldh111 mainly labels cortical and hippocampal astrocytes and s100b additionally labels subsets of oligodendroglia (Hachem S et al., 2005).

Mature mOLs ensure saltatory signal propagation and axonal integrity by insulating axons with myelin sheaths. This function is mainly attributed to WM structures, since mOLs reside in the GM in much fewer numbers. Recent data suggests that mOLs also provide energy metabolites to neurons via socalled cytoplasmic "myelinic" channels (Philips T and Rothstein JD, 2017). Knock out studies of different myelin proteins (compact and uncompact) elegantly showed that axon degeneration does not occur in knock out animals, where uncompact myelin was still present as opposed to knock outs with only compact myelin (Snaidero N, et al., 2017). Whether this newly discovered function is a feature shared by all mOLs (e.g. GM vs WM and independent of the myelinated axon diameter) is still under debate. Single cell RNA-Sequencing analysis of mature and myelinating oligodendroglial cells, respectively, along different brain regions identified six molecularly similar (expression of mature OL genes), yet unequal OL populations which furthermore differed from two distinguishable myelinating OL states (Marques S et al., 2016). Oligodendroglial progenitor cells serve as a reservoir pool for mOLs during OL turnover and during re-myelination phases following demyelinating events (Vigano F, et al., 2016). Despite being morphologically homogenous, at least three OPC sub clusters can be distinguished by their unique combinatorial expression of canonical OPC marker genes (Margues S, et al., 2016). Canonical OPC marker genes (Olig1, Olig2, NG2, PDGFRa) are expressed by all OPCs, however, the expression level between each cluster differs and further led to the identification of cell surface proteins, unique for each subtype (Spitzer SO, et al., 2019). Here, GO term analysis (as well as other studies on functional OPC heterogeneity) (Fernandez-Castaneda A et al., 2020; Marisca R et al., 2020; Vigano F et al., 2013; Vigano F, et al., 2016) highlighted the role of varying OPC subpopulations in functionally divers brain functions ranging from reserve pool for mOLs to integrating neuronal activity. With regard to GM versus WM differences, Vigano and colleagues elegantly showed by hetero- and homotopically transplanting OPCs from GM into WM tissue of the mouse cerebral cortex (and vice versa) a higher intrinsic determination of WM-derived OPCs to differentiate into mOLs (Vigano F, et al., 2013). Furthermore, a WM tissue environment led to a myelination phenotype by transplanted GM-derived OPCs more similar to WM-derived OPCs, revealing environmental cues specific for GM versus WM cerebral tissue.

#### **1.4.2** Heterogeneity between the diseased/injured versus healthy central nervous system

Gray matter and white matter structures differ in their cell composition, e.g. WM being mostly devoid of neuronal cell bodies. Furthermore, the differences in relative number of neuronal- and glial cells between these two tissues lead to a heterogeneous environment. Normal homeostasis and basic CNS function across the entire CNS must be warranted by all (glial) cells in the healthy state using comparable biochemical pathways. However, transplantation experiments of multipotent NSCs have revealed: i) remarkable adaptability of NSCs to sense and react to their environment (which will be subjected in more detail in a later paragraph), and ii) undisputed proof about the heterogeneous effects different brain areas exert on NSCs fate (Gage FH et al., 1995;Herrera DG et al., 1999;Seidenfaden R et al., 2006). Interestingly, these host evoked effects on differentiation seem to be conserved across species as transplantation of human embryonic neural precursor cells into murine CNS tissue showed a comparable outcome (Fricker RA et al., 1999). Additionally, these studies revealed a limited migratory feasibility within the CNS except for specialized structures since significant migration only occurred when NSC populations were grafted near the RMS (Fricker RA, et al., 1999). This heterogeneity within the CNS further increases by introduction of neuropathological paradigms (e.g. traumatic brain- or spinal cord injury, demyelination, stroke) (Beyer F et al., 2019). The increase is based on three single events or a combination of them, depending on the pathological model: i) (local) breakdown of the BBB as for example in spinal cord injury models leads to the infiltration of immune cells (further increasing cell heterogeneity) and cytokines, which under healthy conditions would not be able to pass the BBB, further increasing heterogeneity in local signaling molecules; ii) the composition of cells in lesion areas changes (e.g. demyelinated, mOL-devoid lesions in MS models; recruitment of microglia and NG2-cells to the side of traumatic brain injury) and leads to cell-cell contacts and paracrine signaling cocktails differing from that of the heathy state; and iii) cell debris and inflammatory signals similarly activate microglial cells to change their state from "M2"(quiescent/immunosuppressive) to, M1" (pro-inflammatory) (Tang Y and Le W, 2016) and astrocytes from homeostatic "A2" to a reactive type "A1" (Clarke LE et al., 2018;Liddelow SA, et al., 2017). Here, changes in morphology, proliferation capacity, mobility, transcriptome, and functionality separate these cells clearly from their "homeostatic cell origin", leading to increased local diversification in neuropathological affected areas.

## 1.5 Central nervous system diseases and injuries affecting oligodendrocytes

Due to its multiplicity in functions essential for survival as well as in defining the human self, assault to the CNS has dramatic effects. This chapter will serve to give a broad overview of the different kinds of CNS pathologies (including acute injuries) relevant to both publications in this thesis and to introduce corresponding animal models before highlighting different scientific efforts which aimed to ameliorate the negative effects of CNS damage.

Deficiency in neurological function can be based on either focal (e.g. traumatic injury to the brain or spinal cord) or global (e.g. autoimmune responses and hereditary diseases) insults to the CNS. A focal insult by direct, forced impact to the brain or spinal cord results in a primary- and secondary injury (Ditunno JF et al., 2004). The primary, immediate consequence is destruction of the tissue architecture and homeostasis while the secondary injury is the result of cell death in and around the lesion area as well as the infiltration of immune cells, which results in an inflammatory response. Moreover, the generation of a glial scar by reactive GFAP-positive astrocytes around the lesion border constitutes a major challenge for re-growing axons following spinal cord injuries (SCIs) (Adams KL and Gallo V, 2018). The rodent models for traumatic brain injury (TBI) to the brain (stab wound model) and SCI (compression and hemi- or completely transected spinal cord) can be modified according to the region and tissue depth of interest and closely resemble the clinical situation in terms of wound infliction as well as primary and secondary effects. Middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) serves as a model for stroke – another focal injury to the CNS (Carmichael ST, 2005). Here, focal ischemia is induced by blocking the blood flow thru the middle cerebral artery (by intraluminal suture, inserting a suture until the tip occludes the middle artery, or by injection of blood cloths) leading to a lack of oxygen supply in certain brain areas. Despite resembling the impact of an actual stroke on multiple different cells in the oxygen deprived area, MCAO in rodents usually affects areas relatively larger than stroke-affected areas in the human brain (Carmichael ST, 2005).

In contrast to defined areas of injury, neuropathology with negative effects on a global CNS scale harbor different challenges. Leukodystrophies like the Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease (PMD) often derive from mutations in myelin genes (Koeppen AH and Robitaille Y, 2002). In PMD, multiple mutations in the proteolipid-protein 1 gene (a major component of CNS myelin sheaths) lead to disturbed formation or complete lack of myelin sheaths around axons. The so-called shiverer (shi) mouse has been developed to study such undirected failure in myelin sheath formation (Molineaux SM et al., 1986). A homozygous mutation in the gene encoding for MBP (a major component of compact myelin) results in the formation of abnormal myelin in which only uncompact myelin is formed. Although different in the (mutational) origin and unable to resemble the multitude of dysmyelinating neuropathology, shi mice show global failure in myelination and have allowed the study of reinforcing myelination by transplanted stem cell derived mOLs (Uchida N et al., 2012).

Apart from clearly hereditary/mutation-driven diseases negatively affecting myelin integrity, autoimmune diseases can lead to demyelination and consequently degeneration of axons. Multiple sclerosis (MS) patients suffer from multiple focal lesions on a global CNS scale showing demyelination, microglial activation, failure in OPC differentiation, and subsequently neuronal death (Goldenberg MM, 2012;Weinshenker BG, 1996). Consequently, this autoimmune-driven attack of myelin and mOLs results in sensory- and motor-dysfunction as well as cognitive decline (Thompson AJ et al., 2018). Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) serves as an animal model to study especially the inflammatory aspects of MS. Here, in general an injection of a peptide of the myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG<sub>35-55</sub>) into healthy adult mice results in a T-cell driven autoimmune response against the body's mOLs. Although direct evidence for the cause of MS in human is still unknown, the initial EAE etiopathology is comparable to the (inflammatory) processes documented in human MS tissue (Miller SD and Karpus WJ, 2007;Rivers TM and Schwentker FF, 1935).

#### **1.5.1** Treatment strategies

In line with the plurality of neuropathology, their cause, etiopathology, affected cell types and areas, strategies for supporting CNS regeneration are diverse. These strategies range from pharmacological approaches to support the survival and differentiation of affected cell types to computational devices implanted in Parkinson's disease (PD) patients for deep brain stimulation (Groiss SJ et al., 2009) or in SCI models in monkeys to alleviate gait deficits (Capogrosso M et al., 2016). Moreover, stem cell based therapies either transplanted into the CNS tissue or applied systemically aim to replace lost cells or support remaining cells via the secretion of paracrine factors (Beyer F, et al., 2019;Han F et al., 2015; Tang Y et al., 2017). In MS models, myelin breakdown and OL death is followed by perish of demyelinated axons. As symptoms in MS usually occur after the death of neurons, the search for treatment strategies has aimed at supporting the resident OPC pool to differentiate and make up for lost myelin (Gruchot J et al., 2019;Kremer D et al., 2019). Although the suppression or nuclear exclusion of the p57kip2 protein o supports OPC differentiation (Gottle P, et al., 2015;Kremer D, et al., 2009) in vitro, the translation into an in vivo MS model is pending. Here, genetic engineering of endogenous OPCs in several demyelinated areas constitutes a major challenge. In light of the tight regulation of the BBB and the problem to target only a specific cell type, the use of nanoparticles coated with OPCspecific antibodies has offered a new promising approach. Using NG2-coated nanoparticles, leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), a cytokine that promotes developmental myelination (Ishibashi T et al., 2009) as well as remyelination (Deverman BE and Patterson PH, 2012;Laterza C et al., 2013;Slaets H et al., 2010), was successfully delivered to OPCs in vivo and led to an increase in myelin repair (Rittchen S et al., 2015).

A similar pro-oligodendroglial role of p57kip2 has been attributed to NSCs. Its suppression led to an increased oligodendroglial marker expression while astroglial identity declined (Jadasz JJ, et al., 2012). As these cells reside in only two discrete niches deep in the brain tissue (e.g. the SVZ), targeting of this

cell pool has been equally challenging. The use of implanted minipumps into the ventricle has been shown to successfully target endogenous NSCs (Shen Q et al., 2008). However, in the context of MS, it seems unlikely that endogenous stem cells are able to reach sides of demyelination in the brain and spinal cord. Instead of endogenously activating oligodendroglial differentiation (e.g. via genetic engineering), the use of mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium (MSC-CM) resulted in a fate switch of cultured NSCs favoring an oligodendroglial phenotype (Jadasz JJ, et al., 2018;Rivera FJ et al., 2006). The transplantation of MSCs in neurodegenerative animal models supports the survival of these animals (Jin HK et al., 2002). Elucidation of the factor(s) responsible for the pro-oligodendroglial effect on NSCs and subsequent activation of endogenous MSCs (residing in the bone marrow) constitutes yet another promising approach in tackling global neurodegenerative diseases.

#### 1.5.2 Additional stem cell based therapies

Since this thesis contains a detailed review article describing the use of bona fide NSCs, this chapter serves to introduce therapeutic strategies using alternative stem cells. In contrast to multipotent NSCs, pluripotent stem cells, including embryonic stem cells (ESCs), bear the potential to produce cells of all three germ layers. While the use of ESCs raise several ethical issues and does not circumvent possible immune repulsion, the discovery of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) has promised great potential for transplantation strategies in neurodegenerative diseases. Using an overexpression cocktail of transcription factor (also known as the Yamanaka factors), the Yamanaka laboratory was able to induce pluripotency in somatic cells (Takahashi K and Yamanaka S, 2006). Subsequent research led to the generation of protocols that either promoted the transition of iPSCs towards the NSC lineage or the direct conversion of somatic cells into induced neural stem cells (iNSCs) (Kim J et al., 2011; Meneghini V et al., 2017; Thier M et al., 2012; Wen Y and Jin S, 2014). Here, mouse and human fibroblasts were successfully transdifferentiated into iNSCs using only one transcription factor (either zinc finger protein 521 or SRY-box2) (Ring KL et al., 2012;Shahbazi E et al., 2016). While the introduction of viral components for the overexpression of such genes may be accompanied by unwanted off target effects as well as the necessity for silencing these constructs post-lineage reprogramming, the use of chemical compounds led to the generation of chemically induced NSCs (ciNSCs) (Tang Y, et al., 2017). Meanwhile, multiple transplantation studies have used iNSCs in neurodegenerative models, such as in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), PD and Huntington's disease (HD) or Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Beyer F, et al., 2019; Tang Y, et al., 2017). Here, transplanted iPSC-derived NSCs either led to the replacement of lost neuronal and glial cells (McBride JL et al., 2004;Wu J et al., 2015) in PD and HD models or supported endogenous repair mechanisms by the secretion of beneficial growth factors such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Xu L et al., 2006; Yasuhara T et al., 2006; Zuo FX et al., 2015). It is not always clear whether mere cell replacement or the secretion of paracrine signals supporting endogenous repair mechanisms lead to functional improvements after stem cell transplantation (Tang Y, et al., 2017). However, the continuous development of new protocols for the fast and robust generation of iNSCs and iPSC-derived NSCs promises to raise further knowledge about the mechanisms that mediate functional improvement following stem cell transplantation into patients suffering from a neurodegenerative disease.

### **1.6** Aims of this thesis

A low regenerative capacity marks the CNS. Once an injury or neurological pathology leads to the loss of neurons or glial cells, only a limited cell pool of progenitors and intrinsic aNSCs is available to repopulate these areas. Although multiple transplantation studies using exogenously propagated and partially modulated NSCs with the aim to replace lost cells have been conducted, no successful clinical translation has been achieved so far. Therefore, the aim of this thesis was to closely evaluate and compare NSC transplantation studies of the past and to conduct own transplantation studies in order to answer the following questions:

- i) Does tissues heterogeneity between GM and WM affect the fate choice of transplanted aNSCs?
- ii) How and to what degree does an injury environment influence these fate choices?
- iii) Do we find evidence for a hierarchy of extrinsic versus intrinsic fate modulating signals? More specifically, does the suppression of the negative regulator of oligodendroglial differentiation p57kip2 overrule exogenous fate directing effects of different microenvironments?

## 2. Results (Publications)

The publications are displayed in chapter 5 (Publications).

### 2.1 Heterogeneous fate choice of genetically modulated adult neural stem cells in gray and white matter of the central nervous system

Felix Beyer\*, Janusz Jadasz\*, Iria Samper Agrelo, Jessica Schira-Heinen, Janos Groh, Anastasia Manousi, Christine Bütermann, Veronica Estrada, Laura Reiche, Martina Cantone, Julio Vera, Fancesca Viganò, Leda Dimou, Hans Werner Müller, Hans-Peter Hartung, Patrick Küry

#### Abstract

Apart from dedicated oligodendroglial progenitor cells, adult neural stem cells (aNSCs) can also give rise to new oligodendrocytes in the adult central nervous system (CNS). This process mainly confers myelinating glial cell replacement in pathological situations and can hence contribute to glial heterogeneity. Our previous studies demonstrated that the p57kip2 gene encodes an intrinsic regulator of glial fate acquisition and we here investigated to what degree its modulation can affect stem celldependent oligodendrogenesis in different CNS environments. We therefore transplanted p57kip2 knockdown aNSCs into white and gray matter (WM and GM) regions of the mouse brain, into uninjured spinal cords as well as in the vicinity of spinal cord injuries and evaluated integration and differentiation in vivo. Our experiments revealed that under healthy conditions intrinsic suppression of p57kip2 as well as WM localization promote differentiation toward myelinating oligodendrocytes at the expense of astrocyte generation. Moreover, p57kip2 knockdown conferred a strong benefit on cell survival augmenting net oligodendrocyte generation. In the vicinity of hemisectioned spinal cords, the gene knockdown led to a similar induction of oligodendroglial features; however, newly generated oligodendrocytes appeared to suffer more from the hostile environment. This study contributes to our understanding of mechanisms of adult oligodendrogenesis and glial heterogeneity and further reveals critical factors when considering aNSC mediated cell replacement in injury and disease.

\*these authors contributed equally to this work

Published: Glia 2020;68:393-406

DOI: 10.1002/glia.23724

Impact factor (2019): 5,984

#### Contribution on experimental design, experimental procedure and publication

#### Approximated share of contribution: 70%

Minor contribution to the design of the study by Felix Beyer; Major contribution to the experimental realization (adult mouse neural stem cell culture, transfection, qRT-PCR, mouse transplantations and handling, tissue processing, immunocyto- and immunohistochemistry, tissue pre-processing for immunoelectron microscopy, data analysis and figure preparation) by Felix Beyer; medium contribution to manuscript preparation and subsequently finalization following revision by Felix Beyer.

#### *Link to the publication*

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/glia.23724

## 2.2 Do neural stem cells have a choice? Heterogenic outcome of cell fate acquisition in different injury models

Felix Beyer\*, Iria Samper Agrelo\*, Patrick Küry

#### Abstract

The adult mammalian central nervous system (CNS) is generally considered as repair restricted organ with limited capacities to regenerate lost cells and to successfully integrate them into damaged nerve tracts. Despite the presence of endogenous immature cell types that can be activated upon injury or in disease cell replacement generally remains insufficient, undirected, or lost cell types are not properly generated. This limitation also accounts for the myelin repair capacity that still constitutes the default regenerative activity at least in inflammatory demyelinating conditions. Ever since the discovery of endogenous neural stem cells (NSCs) residing within specific niches of the adult brain, as well as the description of procedures to either isolate and propagate or artificially induce NSCs from various origins ex vivo, the field has been rejuvenated. Various sources of NSCs have been investigated and applied in current neuropathological paradigms aiming at the replacement of lost cells and the restoration of functionality based on successful integration. Whereas directing and supporting stem cells residing in brain niches constitutes one possible approach many investigations addressed their potential upon transplantation. Given the heterogeneity of these studies related to the nature of grafted cells, the local CNS environment, and applied implantation procedures we here set out to review and compare their applied protocols in order to evaluate rate-limiting parameters. Based on our compilation, we conclude that in healthy CNS tissue region specific cues dominate cell fate decisions. However, although increasing evidence points to the capacity of transplanted NSCs to reflect the regenerative need of an injury environment, a still heterogenic picture emerges when analyzing transplantation outcomes in injury or disease models. These are likely due to methodological differences despite preserved injury environments. Based on this meta-analysis, we suggest future NSC transplantation experiments to be conducted in a more comparable way to previous studies and that subsequent analyses must emphasize regional heterogeneity such as accounting for differences in gray versus white matter.

\*these authors contributed equally to this work

Published: International Journal of Molecular Sciences (2019), 20(2), 455 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20020455 Impact factor (2019): 4,556

Contribution on experimental design, experimental procedure and publication Approximated share of contribution: 35% Co-conceptualization and manuscript writing was performed by Felix Beyer.

Link to the publication

https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/20/2/455

### 3. Discussion

The high degree in complexity and heterogeneity of the adult CNS are two sides of the same coin. On the one hand, it enables it to simultaneously fulfill a multitude of complex, diverse tasks, to learn and adapt to environmental changes, and to being creative and inventive. On the other hand, damage to the CNS has devastating consequences reaching from failures in sensory and motor function, consequently impeding the interaction with its environment, to changes in personality and potentially death. In Addition, the high degree in heterogeneity makes the CNS less redundant, meaning that, in cases where cells are lost, only a small amount of progenitors with equal determination can serve as back-up pool. Multiple sclerosis is a bitter example of how challenging a comprehensive understanding and the development of therapeutic strategies for neuropathology are. As an autoimmune disease, regardless of whether the trigger lies in the CNS or the immune system, cells from the immune system outside the CNS attack myelinating OLs, which ensheathe axons from the eye, brain and spinal cord. Consequently, demyelinated axons degrade, neurons die and subsequently activate surrounding glial cells leaving multiple "hotspots" of demyelination, inflammation, and cell death. Therefore, MS is a disease, which affects the CNS on a global scale in contrast to a focal injury (e.g. SCI or TBI). Due to the lower degree in heterogeneity in focal lesions, the investigation of treatment options seems less challenging. Although this might be true and promising on the way to find strategies to replace lost neurons and regain functional recovery following SCI, no successful therapy has been clinically applied, yet. Since excessive neurodevelopmental research and in vitro studies on ("healthy") adult CNS cells have brought detailed insight into the molecular hallmarks of neuronal and glial cell development, the question arises: Why haven't these discoveries led to successful treatment strategies in a neuropathological background? Here it might be helpful to take a step back and look at i) the distinct differences between purified cells kept under defined conditions in vitro versus the chemical and physical mixture every cell is exposed to in CNS tissue, ii) the variety of tissue microenvironments present in the CNS in healthy organisms, and iii) the change in these microenvironments depending on a specific disease or injury.

Slowly dividing progenitor cells like OPCs reside throughout the CNS, which theoretically hold the potential to expand their pool via an accelerated cell cycle and mature into myelinating OLs (Vigano F, et al., 2016). Furthermore, the discovery of aNSCs have rejuvenated the clinical research on cell replacement strategies in neuropathology where cell replacement is required for functional recovery. Nevertheless, the regenerative capacity of the CNS especially with regard to cell replacement is overall poor compared to other organs such as the liver. This limited regeneration is due to inhibitory signals released during CNS insults as well as physical barriers such as the formation of a glial scar (Adams KL and Gallo V, 2018;Huebner EA and Strittmatter SM, 2009;Silver J et al., 2014) and the fact that aNSCs only reside in two discrete niches in the adult CNS. Consequently, using multipotent aNSCs for cell replacement strategies requires *in vitro* cultivation and expansion of aNSCs, fate modulation towards

specific cell types lost during the course of a disease, and detailed knowledge about the feasibility of translating *in vitro* findings into *in vivo* situations. Given the heterogeneity in CNS tissue- and cell composition, analysis of how different neuro-microenvironments affect fate, survival, and the migratory potential of transplanted aNSCs is a necessary step towards successful clinical translation.

This thesis describes the successful pro-oligodendroglial fate modulation by intrinsically modulating the expression of p57kip2 in mouse aNSCs in vitro. Consequently, albeit culture conditions promoting astroglial differentiation, modulated aNSCs showed decreased differentiation along this glial lineage. Transplantation of unmodified aNSCs into cortical tissue of young adult mice revealed that in contrast to GM tissue a WM environment exerted beneficial impact on long-term survival and oligodendroglial fate. The suppression of p57kip2 synergistically corroborated these effects. Additionally, p57kip2 suppressed aNSCs-derived mOLs expressed myelin proteins and ensheathed corpus callosum axons with myelin in vivo. Similar observations were made upon transplantation of rat aNSCs into intact rat spinal cord GM and WM, respectively. Despite the introduction of a spinal cord injury by means of a hemi section prior to transplantation of aNSCs close to the lesion side, p57kip2 suppressed aNSCs showed advanced oligodendroglial marker expression in WM tissue. However, increased oligodendroglial identity led to a higher vulnerability and consequently an overall diminished survival rate in the injury paradigm. The experimentally acquired data is mostly in line with published data on NSC transplantation studies into different CNS tissues. However, to my knowledge no NSC transplantation study has consequently compared the impact of i) GM versus WM as well as of ii) the microenvironmental changes of a given tissue upon acute injury on transplanted aNSCs.

## **3.1 Intrinsic versus extrinsic signals directing the fate of adult neural stem cells**

Ever since the discovery of aNSCs in higher organisms including human (Altman J and Das GD, 1965;Moreno-Jimenez EP, et al., 2019;Spalding KL, et al., 2013) gene expression silencing or overexpression of intrinsic fate regulators has been in the focus of clinical stem cell research in order to direct lineage commitment of these cells (Braccioli L et al., 2018;Garcia-Leon JA et al., 2018;Jadasz JJ, et al., 2012). Additionally, exogenous application of signaling molecules such MSC-CM modulates fate decisions of cultured aNSCs towards an oligodendroglial phenotype (Jadasz JJ, et al., 2018;Rivera FJ, et al., 2006). Transplantation of NSCs into intact brain tissue revealed a surprising degree of host tissue driven adaptability resulting in comparable lineage commitment, independent of the donor cell origin (SVZ versus SGZ), animal age or prior *in vitro* propagation (Gage FH, et al., 1995;Seidenfaden R, et al., 2006). It is likely, that upon intrinsic ablation of certain receptors and/or downstream pathways, extrinsic cues will not be able to drive a distinct fate directing expression program. An activation or

disinhibition might reinforce effects by exogenously applied fate directing molecules. However, a hierarchical classification between intrinsic and extrinsic fate directing signaling cues is missing.

Consequently, we asked how the pro-oligodendroglial paradigm of p57kip2 suppressed *in vitro* cultivated aNSCs changes due to exposure to different tissue compositions *in vivo*. Vigano and colleagues elegantly revealed a differential impact of gray- versus white matter tissue on OPCs (Vigano F, et al., 2013) *in vivo*. In line with these findings, our analysis of transplanted aNSCs confirmed that a WM microenvironment in both the cortex and the spinal cord had a pro-oligodendroglial effect leading to higher numbers in mature and myelinating OLs. In addition, we could reveal that prior p57kip2 suppression either enhanced WM driven lineage commitment or counteracted inhibitory cues from GM tissue. Transplanted, p57kip2 suppressed cells progressed even further than under *in vitro* culture conditions in a way, that myelin sheaths by aNSC-derived OLs were formed *in situ*. Myelination might also have been supported by accessibility to corpus callosum spanning axons expressing and presenting Neuregulin-1 Type III (NRG1 type III) (Taveggia C et al., 2005) – a trigger signal for myelination.

Understanding the interaction of how intrinsic and extrinsic signals shape a stem cells fate commitment will be key to clinical approaches aiming at NSC-driven cell replacement. For example, Koutsoudaki and colleagues overexpressed insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) in transplanted aNSCs prior to transplantation in a model of TBI (Koutsoudaki PN et al., 2016). *In vitro*, IGF1 overexpression led to an enhanced neuronal differentiation. However, upon transplantation close to the lesion side, these stem cells did not show any preferential lineage commitment compared to control NSCs. This underlines the need for critical determination of factors accumulating during inflammatory phases of disease (such as in MS patients or after infiltration of immune cells following a SCI or TBI) and its interplay with endogenously modulated aNSCs. Here, the suppression p57kip2 supported aNSCs to overcome inhibitory GM cues with regard to oligodendroglial differentiation. Albeit leading to similar effects when transplanted into the vicinity of a hemisected spinal cord, the net outcome of surviving cells was diminished. Here, additional application of pro-survival cues will warrant a prolonged beneficial remyelination outcome initiated by intrinsic aNSC fate modulation.

### 3.2 p57kip2's potential to direct oligodendroglial fate acquisition

Cdkn1c (p57kip2) is a negative regulator of myelinating cell differentiation both of PNS and CNS origin (Gottle P, et al., 2015;Heinen A, et al., 2008;Kremer D, et al., 2009). Moreover, p57kip2 suppression leads to a higher rate in oligodendroglial lineage commitment in cultured rat aNSCs (Jadasz JJ, et al., 2012). Comparable results were achieved using mouse NSCs from the adult SVZ even under pro-astroglial culturing conditions (Beyer F et al., 2020). Whether p57kip2 also exerts a negative role on oligodendroglial fate choice in NSCs, residing in their *in vivo* niches in the adult awaits analysis. In general, *in vitro* cultured aNSCs have the potential to differentiate along the neuronal, astroglial, or oligodendroglial lineage (Kriegstein A and Alvarez-Buylla A, 2009). However, in our *in vitro* 

experiments no spontaneous neuronal differentiation occurred. Nevertheless, cultured aNSCs showed commitment towards the neuronal lineage upon transplantation into GM and WM, respectively. Here, neither p57kip2 modulation nor the varying tissue microenvironment resulted in changes in the number of cells expressing the NB marker protein Dcx. Therefore we hypothesize that p57kip2 plays a more significant role at the astrocyte-to-oligodendroglial decision axis in aNSCs. Does p57kip2 suppression lead to the active inhibition of astroglial identities or does it initiate a pro-oligodendroglial expression program? Upon suppression of p57kip2, early marker expression of oligodendroglial identity (e.g. NG2) increase and negative regulators of oligodendrogenesis decrease (e.g. Hes5). At the same time, genes representative of an astroglial and stem cell identity decrease. An earlier study on p57kip2 and rat aNSCs could comprehensively show that upon suppression, the expression of negative regulators of BMPsignaling (driving astrocyte generation, (Bonaguidi MA, et al., 2005)) is increased leading to the assumption that astrogenesis is actively inhibited. This is in line with our in vivo finding documenting that the highest degree of astrocyte generation in GM transplants of unmodulated aNSCs - astroglial differentiation decreased upon p57kip2 suppression. On the other hand, p57kip2 suppression enhanced WM tissue-driven oligodendroglial differentiation of transplanted aNSCs, which leads to the assumption that reduced p57kip2 levels additionally lead to a higher susceptibility of aNSCs for oligodendroglial cues. Analysis of the exact mechanism by which p57kip2 suppression leads to fate modulation in aNSCs requires deeper insight into the molecular changes following transplantation. Here, the analysis of early time windows via single cell RNA-Sequencing of sorted cells post-transplantation could reveal (pseudo time-dependent) changes in their transcriptome. Moreover, additional axes of modulation would be revealed and help to pave the way to a successful clinical translation of aNSC-dependent cell replacement.

## **3.3** Neural stem cell heterogeneity and it's consequence on transplantation outcomes

In light of the idea to use NSCs for cell replacement strategies in neuropathological diseases or following an acute injury, the following question arises: Does the NSC origin and donor age influence transplantation outcome in terms of cell survival and differentiation? Therefore, the analysis of injuryfree transplantation studies is warranted in order to define donor cell properties, which affect the before mentioned parameters most. Neural stem cells are heterogeneous along temporal and spatial axes. While sharing principle stem cell properties such as self-renewal and multipotency, NSCs from developmental and adult origin differ in cell cycle length and mode of progeny generation (Gotz M, et al., 2016). Moreover, the primary NSC pool of the developing neural tube vanishes, while adult NSCs reside in two discrete niches lifelong in adult vertebrates (Altman J and Das GD, 1965;Doetsch F and Alvarez-Buylla A, 1996;Doetsch F, et al., 1999;Lois C and Alvarez-Buylla A, 1993;Menn B, et al., 2006). Primary NSCs from the neuroepithelium first undergo rapid symmetric cell divisions to expand the stem cell pool. This phase is followed by asymmetric cell divisions generating RGCs, which give rise to neurons and subsequently glial cells. In the adult, radial glial-like cells of the SVZ and DG are slowly dividing NSCs. Depending on the niche and their location within this niche, these cells can give rise to neurons and glia alike upon activation (Akkermann R, et al., 2017;Zweifel S, et al., 2018). For transplantations conducted during this doctoral thesis, I exclusively used SVZ stem cells of mice with comparable adult age. Successful identification of specific markers to separate dorsal, medial and lateral SVZ stem cells would allow for a more detailed analysis of differentially primed NSCs in this niche. Here, Zweifel and colleagues recently showed that an increased expression gradient of Hopx along the medio-lateral axis of the dorsal SVZ defines the priming towards an astrocytic fate (Zweifel S, et al., 2018). However, as reviewed in this thesis (Beyer F, et al., 2019), even the enrichment in PSA-NCAM expressing (more neuronal primed) NSC from this niche did not change the outcome in cell identities compared to mixed NSC transplants into the mouse striatum and motor cortex. Surprisingly, even neuronal primed NSCs adapted, in line with my findings, predominantly a glial fate (Beyer F, et al., 2020; Seidenfaden R, et al., 2006). The same study showed that NSCs extracted from P75 and P5 (time of gliogenesis during development) mice did also not differ in differentiation outcome (Seidenfaden R, et al., 2006). In vivo, NSCs residing in the DG of the hippocampus almost exclusively give rise to neuronal progeny before final differentiation into post-mitotic astrocytes (Pilz GA, et al., 2018). When these cells were isolated and propagated in culture, proofing stem cell self-renewing properties, transplantation of this pool into the hippocampus and adjacent corpus callosum led to glial differentiation (Gage FH, et al., 1995) – a result, dominating the picture of injury-free transplantation studies using NSCs from different niches, donor species and age (Beyer F, et al., 2019). Consequently, the answer to the question whether NSC donor age and origin influence transplantation outcome is no. However, as heterogeneity is also a feature among all NSC-derived cells and because detailed analysis in this regard (e.g. by single cell RNA-Sequencing of NSC progeny following NCS transplantation) has not been conducted yet, it remains to be shown whether different NSC populations will give rise to either more or less heterogeneous neurons and glial cells. As for transplantation studies conducted in our laboratory, an intrinsic fate modulation by suppression of p57kip2 did change both, survival and fate outcome (Beyer F, et al., 2020; Jadasz JJ, et al., 2012). Here, analysis of how susceptible differing NSC sub-populations are in regard to the described changes following p57kip2 suppression would lead to a more detailed analysis and be of interest for future clinical approaches.

## **3.4** How does an injury or disease change the outcome of transplanted neural stem cells?

Neurodegenerative disease or acute injury to the CNS changes multiple parameters possibly affecting the fate of transplanted NSCs. While in contact with the systemic milieu via the tightly controlled BBB, the CNS still represents a rather closed system, which leads to the accumulation of cell debris whenever

cells die. Consequently, microglia and astrocytes change to a reactive state, which leads to changes in their phagocytosis capacity, morphology, and cytokine expression and secretion (Clarke LE, et al., 2018;Liddelow SA, et al., 2017;Tang Y and Le W, 2016). Moreover, following TBI using a stab wound model, a subset of NG2 glia positive for Gpr17 migrates towards the wound to undergo maturation, thereby changing the cell composition in the affected area (Boda E et al., 2011;Vigano F, et al., 2016). Results of several injury-free transplantation studies suggested, that transplanted NSCs could sense their environment and acquire fates that often closely represent the naive state of the individual areas (Beyer F, et al., 2019). Interestingly, fate choice analysis of transplanted NSCs in different injury/neuropathological models reinforced the idea of a highly adaptable nature of NSCs. When SVZderived NSCs were transplanted in wild type and shiverer (dysmyelinated) mouse brains, shi brains showed an increase in oligodendroglial differentiation by the transplanted NSCs (Yandava BD et al., 1999). In line with these findings, comparison of different transplantation studies sheds light on the impact of a changed microenvironment on NSC fate. Intra-hippocampal transplantation in healthy mice led to primarily neuronal and astroglial differentiation (Gage FH, et al., 1995;Raedt R et al., 2009). However, in a model of TBI in which a stab wound to the hippocampus causes a local injury, a higher number of transplanted NSCs differentiated into OLs (Koutsoudaki PN, et al., 2016). Surprisingly, neuronal cell death in a model of TLE induced by kainic acid injection into the hippocampus instructed NSCs to differentiate primarily into neurons (Miltiadous P et al., 2013). These findings lead to the assumption that a hierarchy for NSC-driven cell replacement exists. Under healthy conditions, exogenously applied NSCs seem to merely adapt to the existing network (Beyer F, et al., 2019). In case when primarily neurons are affected (kainic acid induced neuronal stress/death), NSCs are primed to refill the neuronal pool. However, in a focal stab wound to the hippocampus in which also cortical areas are injured leading to an equal damage of glial and neuronal cells, NSCs favor glial fate choice (Koutsoudaki PN, et al., 2016). This is in line with my own findings of NSC transplantation into both, hemisected and unharmed spinal cord (Beyer F, et al., 2020). Here, the ratio of NSC descendants with oligodendroglial identity increased upon transplantation into the injury model. Moreover, p57kip2 suppression increased the proportion of OL generation but simultaneously resulted in a net cell loss probably owing to a higher vulnerability of oligodendroglial cells towards injury inflicted hostile cues. Taking into account that no neurons were generated, time windows with the aim to replace lost cells such as neurons by applied NSCs need to be well defined in order to achieve functional improvement for patients suffering from SCI and other neurodegenerative diseases. As chronic temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) models have shown, that the injury microenvironment changes compared to an acute TLE in mice with respect to NSC fate choice (Miltiadous P, et al., 2013; Waldau B et al., 2010), close analysis of the temporal changes in the injury side would extend our knowledge on clinically relevant time windows for exogenous cell replacement.

## **3.5** Alternatives to extrinsic neural stem cells for cell replacement strategies

The use of (neural) stem cells for cell replacement strategies in patients where cells of the CNS are lost constitutes just one of many approaches neuroscientists and neurologists follow. Neural stem cells can be propagated in culture (Reynolds BA and Weiss S, 1992; Weiss S et al., 1996) to reach a sufficient number of cells needed, depending on the lesion extend. Moreover, NSCs are multipotent and can therefore differentiate into all neuroectoderm-derived cells, which they seem to do in a self-organized, hierarchic way as discussed in the chapter before. Finally, at least using model systems in mice and rats, neither embryonic and adult rodent NSCs nor human derived NSCs showed any tumor formation upon transplantation (Beyer F, et al., 2019). However, as no NSC based approach has been successfully translated into clinical application, alternative strategies need to be analyzed in parallel. Another extrinsic cell replacement approach could be facilitated by the use of multiple progenitor cells. For OPCs, a certain degree of adaptability was shown when progenitors from WM (corpus callosum) and GM (neocortex) were transplanted into the other region (GM and WM, respectively) (Vigano F, et al., 2013). Here, GM-derived OPC differentiated into myelinating OLs in a fashion characteristic for resident WM OPCs. Since usually both cell classes (neurons and glia) are affected in a disease or injury over time (Ditunno JF, et al., 2004;Goldenberg MM, 2012) a "multiple progenitor approach" would ensure the provision of potentially generated neurons as well as glial cells. However, for the prevention of an early disease progression such as in MS patients, where oligodendroglial cells die first prior to neuronal death (Thompson AJ, et al., 2018; Weinshenker BG, 1996) an overload of unnecessary cells could lead to a harmful immune response. Furthermore, the addition of astroglial progenitors to an acute spinal cord injury harbors the risk of enforcing the formation of a glial scar, which is considered a major obstacle for regrowing axons (Adams KL and Gallo V, 2018; Yuan YM and He C, 2013). All extrinsic cell replacement strategies not only face the obstacle of immune comparability but also a debate over cell origin accompanied by an ethical concern. The discovery of iPSC technology made both immune reaction and ethical questioning mostly dispensable. By inducing a transcription factor cocktail in somatic, post-mitotic cells (e.g. fibroblasts), these cells are reprogrammed and convert into pluripotent stem cells (Takahashi K and Yamanaka S, 2006). Further research led to protocols that drive either the direct generation of neurons and glia or the generation of NSCs from iPSCs (Tang Y, et al., 2017) paving the way for autologous neural cell replacement without ethical concerns or the fear of an immune rejection. Here, the beneficial use of (human) iPSCs and iPSC-derived NSCs in several neurodegenerative disease models is frequently reported (Lee-Kubli CA and Lu P, 2015; Meneghini V, et al., 2017). Furthermore, research in the field is currently focusing on improving protocols to minimize mutations and tumorigenicity, identify optimal treatment windows and select the most promising cell type and dosage for individual diseases and injuries (Knoepfler PS, 2009;Kooreman NG and Wu JC, 2010).

Whether multipotent NSCs with proliferating capacity exist in the adult human is currently under debate (Moreno-Jimenez EP, et al., 2019;Sorrells SF, et al., 2018). Targeting endogenous NSCs, if available in sufficient number, would redundantise the use of immunosuppressive drugs following an allotransplantation, as these NSCs would be genetically identical to the hosts' immune system. However, since human NSCs are also restricted to their niches it is unlikely that a sufficient number of cells would migrate towards multiple focal lesions, such as in MS patients, or along the spinal cord. Moreover, genetic engineering to promote a certain cell type (e.g. oligodendroglial differentiation by suppression of p57kip2) harbors several obstacles such as cell specific delivery of genetic engineering elements (e.g. shRNA) without any spill over. Finally, adult NSCs might not be suited for every possible neuropathology as Rowland and colleagues showed differences in oligodendroglial fate choice between primitive and adult NSCs in the shi mouse (Rowland JW et al., 2011). Circumventing immune rejection and avoiding the risks of neurological surgeries for transplantation of cells also holds great advantage when considering to target endogenous progenitor cells. However, neuronal progenitors have so far only been identified in close proximity to stem cell niches in the adult human CNS (Moreno-Jimenez EP, et al., 2019) while proliferative astrocyte progenitors were not detected in the adult human brain but only at fetal stages (Zhang Y et al., 2016). Adult OPCs reside in the adult human white matter (Roy NS et al., 1999; Windrem MS et al., 2004) and thus provide a targeted for cell replacement of lost OLs via application of stimulating cytokines. Here, theoretically proliferative signals should precede prodifferentiation cues. However, analysis of integrated nuclear bomb test-derived C<sup>14</sup> isotope in human post mortem brain tissue revealed little to no turnover of the OL pool (Yeung MS et al., 2014), raising the question of how potential resident adult OPCs are to differentiate. Moreover, in MS patients recent evidence suggests that mature OLs retract myelin fibers but survive in an inhibited, damaged state (Jakel S, et al., 2019) potentially being able to re-myelinate without the need of cell replacement by OPCs. Whether and how adult OPCs contribute to re-myelination in human neurological diseases such as MS needs further investigation prior to human-specific studies aiming at boosting the potential of endogenous (oligodendroglial) progenitor cells.

## **3.6** The importance of my results for future cell replacement strategies

Both, my experimental work and the review summarizing the heterogeneous impact of different injuries and neurological disease model systems on transplanted NSCs contribute to a more detailed knowledge about stem cell based cell replacement strategies. Especially in light of the heterogeneous effects of individual injury microenvironments on NSCs, which show remarkable adaptability, more attention needs to be raised to the course of a disease/injury. Finding the right time window and region for cell transplantations seems crucial as an injury/neurological disease is dynamic in terms of an altered microenvironment as well as cell composition concomitantly changing cell-cell contact mediated and
paracrine signals (Ditunno JF, et al., 2004;Goldenberg MM, 2012;Han F, et al., 2015;Liddelow SA, et al., 2017;Weinshenker BG, 1996). My transplantation experiments revealed that differential cell composition not only affects survival (with WM showing a beneficial effect on long-term survival) but also a differing impact on fate choice of transplanted aNSCs. Moreover, chronic TLE showed a different impact on fate choice compared to transplanted NSCs in an acute TLE mouse model (Miltiadous P et al., 2011;Waldau B, et al., 2010) underlining the dynamics in neuropathology lesions. So far, detailed knowledge about changes in the microenvironment is missing. Therefore, changes in the injury environment need to be considered more carefully especially in light of different cell kinetics in patients of different age. For example, in humans developmental oligodendrogenesis is ongoing until the age of 20 and declines rapidly after that (Giedd JN and Rapoport JL, 2010).

Several NSC transplantation studies have used embryonic or fetal, primitive NSCs in neurological disease models aiming at either cell replacement or trophic support (Beyer F, et al., 2019;Tang Y, et al., 2017) possibly not foreseeing ethical issues when translating results and application into the human. I successfully used adult NSCs and summarized published work from other aNSC transplantation studies, thereby revealing the high degree in adaptability of these adult derived stem cells. While my analysis proofed a differential impact of an unharmed versus damaged CNS tissue and could reveal gray versus white matter differences when comparing NSC fate choice, the majority of other NSC transplantation studies focused on injury model and transplantation side only (Beyer F, et al., 2019). Nevertheless, my transplantation studies lack information about a differential impact of a hemi-sectioned spinal cord on exogenously applied NSCs over time, which should be addressed in a comparable manner in future experiments.

Finally, easy cell access for genetic modulations constitutes just one advantage of using *in vitro* cultured NSCs for disease amelioration upon transplantation into or close to lesion sides. For example, overexpression of growth factors in NSCs prior to transplantation aims at both, cell replacement as well as disease amelioration by providing paracrine signals with neuroprotective properties such as IGF1 (Koutsoudaki PN, et al., 2016;Miltiadous P, et al., 2011). I used a shRNA-mediated approach to suppress the negative regulator of oligodendrogenesis p57kip2, which, from a pro-oligodendroglial perspective, antagonized inhibitory signals from GM and further increased NSC-derived OL yield in a WM environment. However, transplantation of p57kip2 suppressed NSCs near a hemisected spinal cord led to a net cell loss, probably due to a higher vulnerability of generated oligodendroglial cells. Therefore, carefully evaluating the precise timing of genetic modulation as well as the time point of transplantation in future experiments will help to reach a maximum efficiency of cell replacement and consequently functional improvements.

## 3.7 Conclusion

In conclusion, this thesis describes the differential impact of healthy versus damaged central nervous system tissue on the fate decision of transplanted neural stem cells (NSCs). Moreover, even in healthy tissue the fate choice of transplanted NSCs was dependent on the transplantation side with white matter structures supporting oligodendroglial fate. While NSCs show a remarkable adaptability in terms of cell replacement upon transplantation into varying tissues, I could show that an intrinsic suppression of p57kip2 in NSCs partially overruled microenvironmental driven effects. A more detailed knowledge about the heterogeneity of both the NSC pool as well as spatio-temporal changes in the microenvironment of neuropathological affected tissues will potentially lead to treatment strategies that are more effective using exogenously applied NSCs.

# 4. References

Adams KL, Gallo V (2018), The diversity and disparity of the glial scar. Nat Neurosci 21:9-15.

Akkermann R, Beyer F, Kury P (2017), Heterogeneous populations of neural stem cells contribute to myelin repair. Neural Regen Res 12:509-517.

Altman J, Das GD (1965), Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J Comp Neurol 124:319-335.

Alvarez-Saavedra M, De Repentigny Y, Yang D, O'Meara RW, Yan K, Hashem LE, Racacho L, Ioshikhes I, et al. (2016), Voluntary Running Triggers VGF-Mediated Oligodendrogenesis to Prolong the Lifespan of Snf2h-Null Ataxic Mice. Cell Rep 17:862-875.

Andriezen WL (1893), The Neuroglia Elements in the Human Brain. Br Med J 2:227-230.

Bachoo RM, Kim RS, Ligon KL, Maher EA, Brennan C, Billings N, Chan S, Li C, et al. (2004), Molecular diversity of astrocytes with implications for neurological disorders. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:8384-8389.

Bercury KK, Macklin WB (2015), Dynamics and mechanisms of CNS myelination. Dev Cell 32:447-458.

Beyer F, Jadasz J, Samper Agrelo I, Schira-Heinen J, Groh J, Manousi A, Butermann C, Estrada V, et al. (2020), Heterogeneous fate choice of genetically modulated adult neural stem cells in gray and white matter of the central nervous system. Glia 68:393-406.

Beyer F, Samper Agrelo I, Kury P (2019), Do Neural Stem Cells Have a Choice? Heterogenic Outcome of Cell Fate Acquisition in Different Injury Models. Int J Mol Sci 20.

Boda E, Vigano F, Rosa P, Fumagalli M, Labat-Gest V, Tempia F, Abbracchio MP, Dimou L, et al. (2011), The GPR17 receptor in NG2 expressing cells: focus on in vivo cell maturation and participation in acute trauma and chronic damage. Glia 59:1958-1973.

Boldrini M, Fulmore CA, Tartt AN, Simeon LR, Pavlova I, Poposka V, Rosoklija GB, Stankov A, et al. (2018), Human Hippocampal Neurogenesis Persists throughout Aging. Cell Stem Cell 22:589-599 e585.

Bonaguidi MA, McGuire T, Hu M, Kan L, Samanta J, Kessler JA (2005), LIF and BMP signaling generate separate and discrete types of GFAP-expressing cells. Development 132:5503-5514.

Braccioli L, Vervoort SJ, Puma G, Nijboer CH, Coffer PJ (2018), SOX4 inhibits oligodendrocyte differentiation of embryonic neural stem cells in vitro by inducing Hes5 expression. Stem Cell Res 33:110-119.

Bunk EC, Ertaylan G, Ortega F, Pavlou MA, Gonzalez Cano L, Stergiopoulos A, Safaiyan S, Vols S, et al. (2016), Prox1 Is Required for Oligodendrocyte Cell Identity in Adult Neural Stem Cells of the Subventricular Zone. Stem Cells 34:2115-2129.

Bushong EA, Martone ME, Jones YZ, Ellisman MH (2002), Protoplasmic astrocytes in CA1 stratum radiatum occupy separate anatomical domains. J Neurosci 22:183-192.

Cadwell CR, Palasantza A, Jiang X, Berens P, Deng Q, Yilmaz M, Reimer J, Shen S, et al. (2016), Electrophysiological, transcriptomic and morphologic profiling of single neurons using Patch-seq. Nat Biotechnol 34:199-203.

Capogrosso M, Milekovic T, Borton D, Wagner F, Moraud EM, Mignardot JB, Buse N, Gandar J, et al. (2016), A brain-spine interface alleviating gait deficits after spinal cord injury in primates. Nature 539:284-288.

Carmichael ST (2005), Rodent models of focal stroke: size, mechanism, and purpose. NeuroRx 2:396-409.

Chai H, Diaz-Castro B, Shigetomi E, Monte E, Octeau JC, Yu X, Cohn W, Rajendran PS, et al. (2017), Neural Circuit-Specialized Astrocytes: Transcriptomic, Proteomic, Morphological, and Functional Evidence. Neuron 95:531-549 e539.

Clarke LE, Liddelow SA, Chakraborty C, Munch AE, Heiman M, Barres BA (2018), Normal aging induces A1-like astrocyte reactivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115:E1896-E1905.

Cohen CCH, Popovic MA, Klooster J, Weil MT, Mobius W, Nave KA, Kole MHP (2020), Saltatory Conduction along Myelinated Axons Involves a Periaxonal Nanocircuit. Cell 180:311-322 e315.

Deverman BE, Patterson PH (2012), Exogenous leukemia inhibitory factor stimulates oligodendrocyte progenitor cell proliferation and enhances hippocampal remyelination. J Neurosci 32:2100-2109.

Ditunno JF, Little JW, Tessler A, Burns AS (2004), Spinal shock revisited: a four-phase model. Spinal Cord 42:383-395.

Doetsch F, Alvarez-Buylla A (1996), Network of tangential pathways for neuronal migration in adult mammalian brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:14895-14900.

Doetsch F, Caille I, Lim DA, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A (1999), Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. Cell 97:703-716.

Dugas JC, Ibrahim A, Barres BA (2007), A crucial role for p57(Kip2) in the intracellular timer that controls oligodendrocyte differentiation. J Neurosci 27:6185-6196.

El Waly B, Macchi M, Cayre M, Durbec P (2014), Oligodendrogenesis in the normal and pathological central nervous system. Front Neurosci 8:145.

Emery B, Barres BA (2008), Unlocking CNS cell type heterogeneity. Cell 135:596-598.

Encinas JM, Michurina TV, Peunova N, Park JH, Tordo J, Peterson DA, Fishell G, Koulakov A, et al. (2011), Division-coupled astrocytic differentiation and age-related depletion of neural stem cells in the adult hippocampus. Cell Stem Cell 8:566-579.

Eriksson PS, Perfilieva E, Bjork-Eriksson T, Alborn AM, Nordborg C, Peterson DA, Gage FH (1998), Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4:1313-1317.

Faiz M, Sachewsky N, Gascon S, Bang KW, Morshead CM, Nagy A (2015), Adult Neural Stem Cells from the Subventricular Zone Give Rise to Reactive Astrocytes in the Cortex after Stroke. Cell Stem Cell 17:624-634.

Fernandez-Castaneda A, Chappell MS, Rosen DA, Seki SM, Beiter RM, Johanson DM, Liskey D, Farber E, et al. (2020), The active contribution of OPCs to neuroinflammation is mediated by LRP1. Acta Neuropathol 139:365-382.

Franklin RJ, Gilson JM, Blakemore WF (1997), Local recruitment of remyelinating cells in the repair of demyelination in the central nervous system. J Neurosci Res 50:337-344.

Fricker RA, Carpenter MK, Winkler C, Greco C, Gates MA, Bjorklund A (1999), Site-specific migration and neuronal differentiation of human neural progenitor cells after transplantation in the adult rat brain. J Neurosci 19:5990-6005.

Fuentealba LC, Obernier K, Alvarez-Buylla A (2012), Adult neural stem cells bridge their niche. Cell Stem Cell 10:698-708.

Funfschilling U, Supplie LM, Mahad D, Boretius S, Saab AS, Edgar J, Brinkmann BG, Kassmann CM, et al. (2012), Glycolytic oligodendrocytes maintain myelin and long-term axonal integrity. Nature 485:517-521.

Furutachi S, Matsumoto A, Nakayama KI, Gotoh Y (2013), p57 controls adult neural stem cell quiescence and modulates the pace of lifelong neurogenesis. EMBO J 32:970-981.

Furutachi S, Miya H, Watanabe T, Kawai H, Yamasaki N, Harada Y, Imayoshi I, Nelson M, et al. (2015), Slowly dividing neural progenitors are an embryonic origin of adult neural stem cells. Nat Neurosci 18:657-665.

Fuzik J, Zeisel A, Mate Z, Calvigioni D, Yanagawa Y, Szabo G, Linnarsson S, Harkany T (2016), Integration of electrophysiological recordings with single-cell RNA-seq data identifies neuronal subtypes. Nat Biotechnol 34:175-183.

Gage FH, Coates PW, Palmer TD, Kuhn HG, Fisher LJ, Suhonen JO, Peterson DA, Suhr ST, et al. (1995), Survival and differentiation of adult neuronal progenitor cells transplanted to the adult brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11879-11883.

Garcia-Leon JA, Kumar M, Boon R, Chau D, One J, Wolfs E, Eggermont K, Berckmans P, et al. (2018), SOX10 Single Transcription Factor-Based Fast and Efficient Generation of Oligodendrocytes from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cell Reports 10:655-672.

Ge W, Martinowich K, Wu X, He F, Miyamoto A, Fan G, Weinmaster G, Sun YE (2002), Notch signaling promotes astrogliogenesis via direct CSL-mediated glial gene activation. J Neurosci Res 69:848-860.

Giedd JN, Rapoport JL (2010), Structural MRI of pediatric brain development: what have we learned and where are we going? Neuron 67:728-734.

Goldenberg MM (2012), Multiple sclerosis review. P T 37:175-184.

Gottle P, Sabo JK, Heinen A, Venables G, Torres K, Tzekova N, Parras CM, Kremer D, et al. (2015), Oligodendroglial maturation is dependent on intracellular protein shuttling. J Neurosci 35:906-919.

Gotz M, Nakafuku M, Petrik D (2016), Neurogenesis in the Developing and Adult Brain-Similarities and Key Differences. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 8.

Groiss SJ, Wojtecki L, Sudmeyer M, Schnitzler A (2009), Deep brain stimulation in Parkinson's disease. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2:20-28.

Gruchot J, Weyers V, Gottle P, Forster M, Hartung HP, Kury P, Kremer D (2019), The Molecular Basis for Remyelination Failure in Multiple Sclerosis. Cells 8.

Hachem S, Aguirre A, Vives V, Marks A, Gallo V, Legraverend C (2005), Spatial and temporal expression of S100B in cells of oligodendrocyte lineage. Glia 51:81-97.

Han F, Baremberg D, Gao J, Duan J, Lu X, Zhang N, Chen Q (2015), Development of stem cell-based therapy for Parkinson's disease. Transl Neurodegener 4:16.

Heinen A, Kremer D, Gottle P, Kruse F, Hasse B, Lehmann H, Hartung HP, Kury P (2008), The cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p57kip2 is a negative regulator of Schwann cell differentiation and in vitro myelination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:8748-8753.

Herrera DG, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Alvarez-Buylla A (1999), Adult-derived neural precursors transplanted into multiple regions in the adult brain. Ann Neurol 46:867-877.

Huebner EA, Strittmatter SM (2009), Axon regeneration in the peripheral and central nervous systems. Results Probl Cell Differ 48:339-351.

Ishibashi T, Lee PR, Baba H, Fields RD (2009), Leukemia inhibitory factor regulates the timing of oligodendrocyte development and myelination in the postnatal optic nerve. J Neurosci Res 87:3343-3355.

Jadasz JJ, Rivera FJ, Taubert A, Kandasamy M, Sandner B, Weidner N, Aktas O, Hartung HP, et al. (2012), p57kip2 regulates glial fate decision in adult neural stem cells. Development 139:3306-3315.

Jadasz JJ, Tepe L, Beyer F, Samper Agrelo I, Akkermann R, Spitzhorn LS, Silva ME, Oreffo ROC, et al. (2018), Human mesenchymal factors induce rat hippocampal- and human neural stem cell dependent oligodendrogenesis. Glia 66:145-160.

Jakel S, Agirre E, Mendanha Falcao A, van Bruggen D, Lee KW, Knuesel I, Malhotra D, Ffrench-Constant C, et al. (2019), Altered human oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in multiple sclerosis. Nature 566:543-547.

Jin HK, Carter JE, Huntley GW, Schuchman EH (2002), Intracerebral transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells into acid sphingomyelinase-deficient mice delays the onset of neurological abnormalities and extends their life span. J Clin Invest 109:1183-1191.

Katsimpardi L, Lledo PM (2018), Regulation of neurogenesis in the adult and aging brain. Curr Opin Neurobiol 53:131-138.

Kessaris N, Fogarty M, Iannarelli P, Grist M, Wegner M, Richardson WD (2006), Competing waves of oligodendrocytes in the forebrain and postnatal elimination of an embryonic lineage. Nat Neurosci 9:173-179.

Kim J, Efe JA, Zhu S, Talantova M, Yuan X, Wang S, Lipton SA, Zhang K, et al. (2011), Direct reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts to neural progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:7838-7843.

Knoepfler PS (2009), Deconstructing stem cell tumorigenicity: a roadmap to safe regenerative medicine. Stem Cells 27:1050-1056.

Koeppen AH, Robitaille Y (2002), Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 61:747-759.

Kooreman NG, Wu JC (2010), Tumorigenicity of pluripotent stem cells: biological insights from molecular imaging. J R Soc Interface 7 Suppl 6:S753-763.

Koutsoudaki PN, Papastefanaki F, Stamatakis A, Kouroupi G, Xingi E, Stylianopoulou F, Matsas R (2016), Neural stem/progenitor cells differentiate into oligodendrocytes, reduce inflammation, and ameliorate learning deficits after transplantation in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. Glia 64:763-779.

Kremer D, Gottle P, Flores-Rivera J, Hartung HP, Kury P (2019), Remyelination in multiple sclerosis: from concept to clinical trials. Curr Opin Neurol 32:378-384.

Kremer D, Heinen A, Jadasz J, Gottle P, Zimmermann K, Zickler P, Jander S, Hartung HP, et al. (2009), p57kip2 is dynamically regulated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and interferes with oligodendroglial maturation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:9087-9092.

Kriegstein A, Alvarez-Buylla A (2009), The glial nature of embryonic and adult neural stem cells. Annu Rev Neurosci 32:149-184.

Kuhn HG, Dickinson-Anson H, Gage FH (1996), Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: agerelated decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. J Neurosci 16:2027-2033.

Laterza C, Merlini A, De Feo D, Ruffini F, Menon R, Onorati M, Fredrickx E, Muzio L, et al. (2013), iPSC-derived neural precursors exert a neuroprotective role in immune-mediated demyelination via the secretion of LIF. Nat Commun 4:2597.

Lee-Kubli CA, Lu P (2015), Induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural stem cell therapies for spinal cord injury. Neural Regen Res 10:10-16.

Lee Y, Morrison BM, Li Y, Lengacher S, Farah MH, Hoffman PN, Liu Y, Tsingalia A, et al. (2012), Oligodendroglia metabolically support axons and contribute to neurodegeneration. Nature 487:443-448.

Levine JM, Reynolds R (1999), Activation and proliferation of endogenous oligodendrocyte precursor cells during ethidium bromide-induced demyelination. Exp Neurol 160:333-347.

Liddelow SA, Guttenplan KA, Clarke LE, Bennett FC, Bohlen CJ, Schirmer L, Bennett ML, Munch AE, et al. (2017), Neurotoxic reactive astrocytes are induced by activated microglia. Nature 541:481-487.

Liem KF, Jr., Jessell TM, Briscoe J (2000), Regulation of the neural patterning activity of sonic hedgehog by secreted BMP inhibitors expressed by notochord and somites. Development 127:4855-4866.

Lois C, Alvarez-Buylla A (1993), Proliferating subventricular zone cells in the adult mammalian forebrain can differentiate into neurons and glia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:2074-2077.

Lundgaard I, Osorio MJ, Kress BT, Sanggaard S, Nedergaard M (2014), White matter astrocytes in health and disease. Neuroscience 276:161-173.

Marisca R, Hoche T, Agirre E, Hoodless LJ, Barkey W, Auer F, Castelo-Branco G, Czopka T (2020), Functionally distinct subgroups of oligodendrocyte precursor cells integrate neural activity and execute myelin formation. Nat Neurosci 23:363-374.

Marques S, Zeisel A, Codeluppi S, van Bruggen D, Mendanha Falcao A, Xiao L, Li H, Haring M, et al. (2016), Oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in the mouse juvenile and adult central nervous system. Science 352:1326-1329.

Matias I, Morgado J, Gomes FCA (2019), Astrocyte Heterogeneity: Impact to Brain Aging and Disease. Front Aging Neurosci 11:59.

McBride JL, Behrstock SP, Chen EY, Jakel RJ, Siegel I, Svendsen CN, Kordower JH (2004), Human neural stem cell transplants improve motor function in a rat model of Huntington's disease. J Comp Neurol 475:211-219.

Meneghini V, Frati G, Sala D, De Cicco S, Luciani M, Cavazzin C, Paulis M, Mentzen W, et al. (2017), Generation of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Bona Fide Neural Stem Cells for Ex Vivo Gene Therapy of Metachromatic Leukodystrophy. Stem Cells Transl Med 6:352-368.

Menn B, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Yaschine C, Gonzalez-Perez O, Rowitch D, Alvarez-Buylla A (2006), Origin of oligodendrocytes in the subventricular zone of the adult brain. J Neurosci 26:7907-7918.

Miller SD, Karpus WJ (2007), Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the mouse. Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 15:Unit 15 11.

Miltiadous P, Kouroupi G, Stamatakis A, Koutsoudaki PN, Matsas R, Stylianopoulou F (2013), Subventricular zone-derived neural stem cell grafts protect against hippocampal degeneration and restore cognitive function in the mouse following intrahippocampal kainic acid administration. Stem Cells Transl Med 2:185-198.

Miltiadous P, Stamatakis A, Koutsoudaki PN, Tiniakos DG, Stylianopoulou F (2011), IGF-I ameliorates hippocampal neurodegeneration and protects against cognitive deficits in an animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Exp Neurol 231:223-235.

Ming GL, Song H (2011), Adult neurogenesis in the mammalian brain: significant answers and significant questions. Neuron 70:687-702.

Molineaux SM, Engh H, de Ferra F, Hudson L, Lazzarini RA (1986), Recombination within the myelin basic protein gene created the dysmyelinating shiverer mouse mutation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83:7542-7546.

Moreno-Jimenez EP, Flor-Garcia M, Terreros-Roncal J, Rabano A, Cafini F, Pallas-Bazarra N, Avila J, Llorens-Martin M (2019), Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is abundant in neurologically healthy subjects and drops sharply in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med 25:554-560.

Nait-Oumesmar B, Decker L, Lachapelle F, Avellana-Adalid V, Bachelin C, Baron-Van Evercooren A (1999), Progenitor cells of the adult mouse subventricular zone proliferate, migrate and differentiate into oligodendrocytes after demyelination. Eur J Neurosci 11:4357-4366.

Nait-Oumesmar B, Picard-Riera N, Kerninon C, Decker L, Seilhean D, Hoglinger GU, Hirsch EC, Reynolds R, et al. (2007), Activation of the subventricular zone in multiple sclerosis: evidence for early glial progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:4694-4699.

Oberheim NA, Goldman SA, Nedergaard M (2012), Heterogeneity of astrocytic form and function. Methods Mol Biol 814:23-45.

Park HC, Boyce J, Shin J, Appel B (2005), Oligodendrocyte specification in zebrafish requires notch-regulated cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor function. J Neurosci 25:6836-6844.

Petitpre C, Wu H, Sharma A, Tokarska A, Fontanet P, Wang Y, Helmbacher F, Yackle K, et al. (2018), Neuronal heterogeneity and stereotyped connectivity in the auditory afferent system. Nat Commun 9:3691.

Philips T, Rothstein JD (2017), Oligodendroglia: metabolic supporters of neurons. J Clin Invest 127:3271-3280.

Picard-Riera N, Decker L, Delarasse C, Goude K, Nait-Oumesmar B, Liblau R, Pham-Dinh D, Baron-Van Evercooren A (2002), Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mobilizes neural progenitors from the subventricular zone to undergo oligodendrogenesis in adult mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:13211-13216.

Pilz GA, Bottes S, Betizeau M, Jorg DJ, Carta S, Simons BD, Helmchen F, Jessberger S (2018), Live imaging of neurogenesis in the adult mouse hippocampus. Science 359:658-662.

Pozniak CD, Langseth AJ, Dijkgraaf GJ, Choe Y, Werb Z, Pleasure SJ (2010), Sox10 directs neural stem cells toward the oligodendrocyte lineage by decreasing Suppressor of Fused expression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:21795-21800.

Prinz M, Jung S, Priller J (2019), Microglia Biology: One Century of Evolving Concepts. Cell 179:292-311.

Psachoulia K, Jamen F, Young KM, Richardson WD (2009), Cell cycle dynamics of NG2 cells in the postnatal and ageing brain. Neuron Glia Biol 5:57-67.

Raedt R, Van Dycke A, Waeytens A, Wyckhuys T, Vonck K, Wadman W, Boon P (2009), Unconditioned adult-derived neurosphere cells mainly differentiate towards astrocytes upon transplantation in sclerotic rat hippocampus. Epilepsy Res 87:148-159.

Reynolds BA, Weiss S (1992), Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 255:1707-1710.

Ring KL, Tong LM, Balestra ME, Javier R, Andrews-Zwilling Y, Li G, Walker D, Zhang WR, et al. (2012), Direct reprogramming of mouse and human fibroblasts into multipotent neural stem cells with a single factor. Cell Stem Cell 11:100-109.

Rittchen S, Boyd A, Burns A, Park J, Fahmy TM, Metcalfe S, Williams A (2015), Myelin repair in vivo is increased by targeting oligodendrocyte precursor cells with nanoparticles encapsulating leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF). Biomaterials 56:78-85.

Rivera FJ, Couillard-Despres S, Pedre X, Ploetz S, Caioni M, Lois C, Bogdahn U, Aigner L (2006), Mesenchymal stem cells instruct oligodendrogenic fate decision on adult neural stem cells. Stem Cells 24:2209-2219.

Rivers TM, Schwentker FF (1935), Encephalomyelitis Accompanied by Myelin Destruction Experimentally Produced in Monkeys. J Exp Med 61:689-702.

Rowland JW, Lee JJ, Salewski RP, Eftekharpour E, van der Kooy D, Fehlings MG (2011), Generation of neural stem cells from embryonic stem cells using the default mechanism: in vitro and in vivo characterization. Stem Cells Dev 20:1829-1845.

Roy NS, Wang S, Harrison-Restelli C, Benraiss A, Fraser RA, Gravel M, Braun PE, Goldman SA (1999), Identification, isolation, and promoter-defined separation of mitotic oligodendrocyte progenitor cells from the adult human subcortical white matter. J Neurosci 19:9986-9995.

Saab AS, Tzvetavona ID, Trevisiol A, Baltan S, Dibaj P, Kusch K, Mobius W, Goetze B, et al. (2016), Oligodendroglial NMDA Receptors Regulate Glucose Import and Axonal Energy Metabolism. Neuron 91:119-132.

Seidenfaden R, Desoeuvre A, Bosio A, Virard I, Cremer H (2006), Glial conversion of SVZ-derived committed neuronal precursors after ectopic grafting into the adult brain. Mol Cell Neurosci 32:187-198.

Shahbazi E, Moradi S, Nemati S, Satarian L, Basiri M, Gourabi H, Zare Mehrjardi N, Gunther P, et al. (2016), Conversion of Human Fibroblasts to Stably Self-Renewing Neural Stem Cells with a Single Zinc-Finger Transcription Factor. Stem Cell Reports 6:539-551.

Shen Q, Wang Y, Kokovay E, Lin G, Chuang SM, Goderie SK, Roysam B, Temple S (2008), Adult SVZ stem cells lie in a vascular niche: a quantitative analysis of niche cell-cell interactions. Cell Stem Cell 3:289-300.

Silver J, Schwab ME, Popovich PG (2014), Central nervous system regenerative failure: role of oligodendrocytes, astrocytes, and microglia. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7:a020602.

Slaets H, Hendriks JJ, Van den Haute C, Coun F, Baekelandt V, Stinissen P, Hellings N (2010), CNStargeted LIF expression improves therapeutic efficacy and limits autoimmune-mediated demyelination in a model of multiple sclerosis. Mol Ther 18:684-691.

Snaidero N, Velte C, Myllykoski M, Raasakka A, Ignatev A, Werner HB, Erwig MS, Mobius W, et al. (2017), Antagonistic Functions of MBP and CNP Establish Cytosolic Channels in CNS Myelin. Cell Rep 18:314-323.

Sofroniew MV, Vinters HV (2010), Astrocytes: biology and pathology. Acta Neuropathol 119:7-35.

Sorrells SF, Paredes MF, Cebrian-Silla A, Sandoval K, Qi D, Kelley KW, James D, Mayer S, et al. (2018), Human hippocampal neurogenesis drops sharply in children to undetectable levels in adults. Nature 555:377-381.

Spalding KL, Bergmann O, Alkass K, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Huttner HB, Bostrom E, Westerlund I, et al. (2013), Dynamics of hippocampal neurogenesis in adult humans. Cell 153:1219-1227.

Spassky N, Olivier C, Cobos I, LeBras B, Goujet-Zalc C, Martinez S, Zalc B, Thomas JL (2001), The early steps of oligodendrogenesis: insights from the study of the plp lineage in the brain of chicks and rodents. Dev Neurosci 23:318-326.

Spitzer SO, Sitnikov S, Kamen Y, Evans KA, Kronenberg-Versteeg D, Dietmann S, de Faria O, Jr., Agathou S, et al. (2019), Oligodendrocyte Progenitor Cells Become Regionally Diverse and Heterogeneous with Age. Neuron 101:459-471 e455.

Stolt CC, Lommes P, Sock E, Chaboissier MC, Schedl A, Wegner M (2003), The Sox9 transcription factor determines glial fate choice in the developing spinal cord. Genes Dev 17:1677-1689.

Sun W, Cornwell A, Li J, Peng S, Osorio MJ, Aalling N, Wang S, Benraiss A, et al. (2017), SOX9 Is an Astrocyte-Specific Nuclear Marker in the Adult Brain Outside the Neurogenic Regions. J Neurosci 37:4493-4507.

Takahashi K, Yamanaka S (2006), Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126:663-676.

Tang Y, Le W (2016), Differential Roles of M1 and M2 Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Mol Neurobiol 53:1181-1194.

Tang Y, Yu P, Cheng L (2017), Current progress in the derivation and therapeutic application of neural stem cells. Cell Death Dis 8:e3108.

Taveggia C, Zanazzi G, Petrylak A, Yano H, Rosenbluth J, Einheber S, Xu X, Esper RM, et al. (2005), Neuregulin-1 type III determines the ensheathment fate of axons. Neuron 47:681-694.

Taverna E, Gotz M, Huttner WB (2014), The cell biology of neurogenesis: toward an understanding of the development and evolution of the neocortex. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 30:465-502.

Thier M, Worsdorfer P, Lakes YB, Gorris R, Herms S, Opitz T, Seiferling D, Quandel T, et al. (2012), Direct conversion of fibroblasts into stably expandable neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 10:473-479.

Thompson AJ, Baranzini SE, Geurts J, Hemmer B, Ciccarelli O (2018), Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 391:1622-1636.

Timmer JR, Wang C, Niswander L (2002), BMP signaling patterns the dorsal and intermediate neural tube via regulation of homeobox and helix-loop-helix transcription factors. Development 129:2459-2472.

Uchida N, Chen K, Dohse M, Hansen KD, Dean J, Buser JR, Riddle A, Beardsley DJ, et al. (2012), Human neural stem cells induce functional myelination in mice with severe dysmyelination. Sci Transl Med 4:155ra136.

Vigano F, Mobius W, Gotz M, Dimou L (2013), Transplantation reveals regional differences in oligodendrocyte differentiation in the adult brain. Nat Neurosci 16:1370-1372.

Vigano F, Schneider S, Cimino M, Bonfanti E, Gelosa P, Sironi L, Abbracchio MP, Dimou L (2016), GPR17 expressing NG2-Glia: Oligodendrocyte progenitors serving as a reserve pool after injury. Glia 64:287-299.

von Bartheld CS, Bahney J, Herculano-Houzel S (2016), The search for true numbers of neurons and glial cells in the human brain: A review of 150 years of cell counting. J Comp Neurol 524:3865-3895.

Waldau B, Hattiangady B, Kuruba R, Shetty AK (2010), Medial ganglionic eminence-derived neural stem cell grafts ease spontaneous seizures and restore GDNF expression in a rat model of chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. Stem Cells 28:1153-1164.

Weinshenker BG (1996), Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis. Neurol Clin 14:291-308.

Weiss S, Dunne C, Hewson J, Wohl C, Wheatley M, Peterson AC, Reynolds BA (1996), Multipotent CNS stem cells are present in the adult mammalian spinal cord and ventricular neuroaxis. J Neurosci 16:7599-7609.

Wen Y, Jin S (2014), Production of neural stem cells from human pluripotent stem cells. J Biotechnol 188:122-129.

Windrem MS, Nunes MC, Rashbaum WK, Schwartz TH, Goodman RA, McKhann G, 2nd, Roy NS, Goldman SA (2004), Fetal and adult human oligodendrocyte progenitor cell isolates myelinate the congenitally dysmyelinated brain. Nat Med 10:93-97.

Wu J, Sheng C, Liu Z, Jia W, Wang B, Li M, Fu L, Ren Z, et al. (2015), Lmx1a enhances the effect of iNSCs in a PD model. Stem Cell Res 14:1-9.

Xu L, Yan J, Chen D, Welsh AM, Hazel T, Johe K, Hatfield G, Koliatsos VE (2006), Human neural stem cell grafts ameliorate motor neuron disease in SOD-1 transgenic rats. Transplantation 82:865-875.

Yandava BD, Billinghurst LL, Snyder EY (1999), "Global" cell replacement is feasible via neural stem cell transplantation: evidence from the dysmyelinated shiverer mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:7029-7034.

Yasuhara T, Matsukawa N, Hara K, Yu G, Xu L, Maki M, Kim SU, Borlongan CV (2006), Transplantation of human neural stem cells exerts neuroprotection in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci 26:12497-12511.

Yeung MS, Zdunek S, Bergmann O, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Alkass K, Perl S, Tisdale J, et al. (2014), Dynamics of oligodendrocyte generation and myelination in the human brain. Cell 159:766-774.

Yeung MSY, Djelloul M, Steiner E, Bernard S, Salehpour M, Possnert G, Brundin L, Frisen J (2019), Dynamics of oligodendrocyte generation in multiple sclerosis. Nature 566:538-542.

Yuan YM, He C (2013), The glial scar in spinal cord injury and repair. Neurosci Bull 29:421-435.

Zagorski M, Tabata Y, Brandenberg N, Lutolf MP, Tkacik G, Bollenbach T, Briscoe J, Kicheva A (2017), Decoding of position in the developing neural tube from antiparallel morphogen gradients. Science 356:1379-1383.

Zalc B, Goujet D, Colman D (2008), The origin of the myelination program in vertebrates. Curr Biol 18:R511-512.

Zhang Y, Sloan SA, Clarke LE, Caneda C, Plaza CA, Blumenthal PD, Vogel H, Steinberg GK, et al. (2016), Purification and Characterization of Progenitor and Mature Human Astrocytes Reveals Transcriptional and Functional Differences with Mouse. Neuron 89:37-53.

Zhang Z, Ma Z, Zou W, Guo H, Liu M, Ma Y, Zhang L (2019), The Appropriate Marker for Astrocytes: Comparing the Distribution and Expression of Three Astrocytic Markers in Different Mouse Cerebral Regions. Biomed Res Int 2019:9605265.

Zuo FX, Bao XJ, Sun XC, Wu J, Bai QR, Chen G, Li XY, Zhou QY, et al. (2015), Transplantation of Human Neural Stem Cells in a Parkinsonian Model Exerts Neuroprotection via Regulation of the Host Microenvironment. Int J Mol Sci 16:26473-26492.

Zweifel S, Marcy G, Lo Guidice Q, Li D, Heinrich C, Azim K, Raineteau O (2018), HOPX Defines Heterogeneity of Postnatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells. Stem Cell Reports 11:770-783.

### Acknowledgement – Danksagung

Mein besonderer Dank geht an Prof. Dr. Patrick Küry, welcher mich als Mentor seit Beginn meiner wissenschaftlichen Karriere stets gefördert und positiv gefordert hat. Lieber Patrick, vielen Dank für Deine unermüdliche Unterstützung bei unzähligen wissenschaftlichen aber auch persönlichen Herausforderungen auf meinem Weg zu dieser Arbeit!

Ich danke auch Prof. Dr. Nikolaj Klöcker für seine Zeit und sein Interesse daran, als Zweitgutachter meiner Promotionsarbeit zu fungieren.

Ganz herzlich möchte ich mich bei allen (ehemaligen) Mitarbeiterinnen und Mitarbeitern des "Neurochemischen Labors" und der Neurologie bedanken. Besonders möchte ich dabei Marion Hendricks, Brigida Ziegler, Birgit Blomenkamp, Dr. Frank Bosse, Marcia Gasis und Zippora Kohne hervorheben. Ihr seid meine Gliazellen gewesen – in guten und in schwierigen Zeiten.

Ich möchte mich auch bei allen Koautoren für die tolle wissenschaftliche Zusammenarbeit bedanken. Eure Arbeiten und Ideen haben diese Arbeit mitgeformt. Als Kollegin meiner ehemaligen Arbeitsgruppe bedanke ich mich hier besonders bei Dr. Jessica Schira-Heinen. Das gemeinsame Arbeiten mit Dir hat mir sehr viel Spaß gemacht.

Für viele tolle, nervenaufreibende, heitere und wütende Jahre möchte ich mich bei meinen Doktorandengeschwistern bedanken. Wenn ich an meine Promotionszeit zurückdenke, werden diese Gedanken immer mit euch verbunden sein. Lieber Joel, unsere verpassten Espressos holen wir irgendwann an unserem eigenen Lehrstuhl nach!

Da sich die Anfertigung meiner Dissertation etwas hingezogen hat, gebührt an dieser Stelle auch Menschen aus meiner neuen Heimat ein Dank. Ich danke Dr. Ruth Beckervordersandforth für Ihre Geduld und die vielen lieben Worte, die mich innerhalb der letzten eineinhalb Jahre sehr unterstützt haben. Außerdem möchte ich mich bei meinen neuen Kollegen/innen und Freunden Julia Schneider und dem "Is Team" dafür bedanken, wie nachsichtig Ihr in schwierigen Phasen mit mir seid und dass ich mich immer auf Euch verlassen kann.

Am Ende gebührt mein Dank noch fünf Menschen, die einen ganz besonderen wissenschaftlichen und persönlichen Einfluss auf meine Promotionszeit hatten. Marci, vielen Dank, dass du immer für mich da warst. Liebe Julia und lieber Jan (Team JJJ<sup>3</sup>), ich hätte mir keine besseren Kollegen und Freunde als euch an meiner Seite wünschen können. Vielen Dank für alles!

Unendliche Dankbarkeit gebührt meinen Eltern. Ihr habt mir ermöglicht da zu stehen, wo ich heute stehe und ich konnte mich immer darauf verlassen, dass Ihr für mich da seid – Danke!

# 5. Publications

DOI: 10.1002/glia.23724

### **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

GLIA WILEY

# Heterogeneous fate choice of genetically modulated adult neural stem cells in gray and white matter of the central nervous system

Felix Beyer <sup>1</sup>   Janusz Jadasz <sup>1</sup>   Iria Samper Agrelo <sup>1</sup>   Jessica Schira-Heinen <sup>1</sup>
Janos Groh <sup>2</sup> 💿   Anastasia Manousi <sup>1</sup>   Christine Bütermann <sup>1</sup>   Veronica Estrada <sup>1</sup>
Laura Reiche <sup>1</sup>   Martina Cantone <sup>3</sup>   Julio Vera <sup>3</sup> 💿   Francesca Viganò <sup>4</sup>
Leda Dimou <sup>4</sup>   Hans Werner Müller <sup>1</sup>   Hans-Peter Hartung <sup>1</sup>   Patrick Küry <sup>1</sup> D

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, Medical Faculty, Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

<sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, Developmental Neurobiology, University Hospital Würzburg, Würzburg, Germany

<sup>3</sup>Laboratory of Systems Tumor Immunology, Department of Dermatology, Universitätsklinikum Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany

<sup>4</sup>Physiological Genomics, Institute of Physiology, Ludwig-Maximilians Universität München, München, Germany

#### Correspondence

Patrick Küry, Neuroregeneration Laboratory, Department of Neurology, Heinrich-Heine-University, Moorenstraße 5, D-40225 Düsseldorf, Germany. Email: kuery@uni-duesseldorf.de

#### Present address

Martina Cantone, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Specialty Division for Systems Biotechnology, Technische Universität München, München, Germany

#### Present address

Leda Dimou, Molecular and Translational Neuroscience, Department of Neurology, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany.

#### Funding information

Walter and Ilse Rose Foundation; Peek & Cloppenburg Düsseldorf Stiftung; Stifterverband/Novartisstiftung; iBrain; DMSG Ortsvereinigung Düsseldorf und Umgebung e. V.; Christiane and Claudia Hempel Foundation; Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Grant/ Award Numbers: KU1934/5-1, KU1934/2-1

### Abstract

Apart from dedicated oligodendroglial progenitor cells, adult neural stem cells (aNSCs) can also give rise to new oligodendrocytes in the adult central nervous system (CNS). This process mainly confers myelinating glial cell replacement in pathological situations and can hence contribute to glial heterogeneity. Our previous studies demonstrated that the p57kip2 gene encodes an intrinsic regulator of glial fate acquisition and we here investigated to what degree its modulation can affect stem cell-dependent oligodendrogenesis in different CNS environments. We therefore transplanted p57kip2 knockdown aNSCs into white and gray matter (WM and GM) regions of the mouse brain, into uninjured spinal cords as well as in the vicinity of spinal cord injuries and evaluated integration and differentiation in vivo. Our experiments revealed that under healthy conditions intrinsic suppression of p57kip2 as well as WM localization promote differentiation toward myelinating oligodendrocytes at the expense of astrocyte generation. Moreover, p57kip2 knockdown conferred a strong benefit on cell survival augmenting net oligodendrocyte generation. In the vicinity of hemisectioned spinal cords, the gene knockdown led to a similar induction of oligodendroglial features; however, newly generated oligodendrocytes appeared to suffer more from the hostile environment. This study contributes to our understanding of mechanisms of adult oligodendrogenesis and glial heterogeneity and further reveals critical factors when considering aNSC mediated cell replacement in injury and disease.

#### KEYWORDS

glial fate modulation, myelin, neural stem cell, p57kip2, regional heterogeneity, spinal cord injury, transplantation

### Felix Beyer and Janusz Jadasz contributed equally to this study.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2019 The Authors. *GLIA* published by Wiley Periodicals LLC.

## <sup>394</sup> WILEY GLIA

### 1 | BACKGROUND

Heterogeneity among oligodendroglial progenitor cells (OPCs) has previously been related to their gray (GM) or white matter (WM) localization in the central nervous system (CNS; (Lentferink, Jongsma, Werkman, & Baron, 2018; Vigano, Möbius, Götz, & Dimou, 2013)). Based on single cell sequencing data, this information has recently been expanded describing regional differences among oligodendroglial cells (Marques et al., 2016) as well toward disease-specific lineages upon demyelination (Falcao et al., 2018; Jäkel et al., 2019). Moreover, new reports point to an additional contribution to myelin repair in the adult CNS from partially lesioned oligodendrocytes (Duncan et al., 2018; Yeung et al., 2019). Besides GM and WM structures, the subventricular zone (SVZ), one of the stem cell niches of the adult brain, represents yet another source for myelinating cells, thus possibly contributing to glial heterogeneity. Adult self-renewing, multipotent neural stem cells (adult neural stem cells [aNSCs]) mainly generate neuroblasts which eventually differentiate into mature neurons of the olfactory bulb or the striatum (Bond, Ming, & Song, 2015; Lim & Alvarez-Buylla, 2016) but were also shown to give rise to new oligodendroglial cells in the corpus callosum following demyelinating events (Brousse, Magalon, Durbec, & Cayre, 2015; Menn et al., 2006; Nait-Oumesmar et al., 1999; Nait-Oumesmar et al., 2007; Picard-Riera et al., 2002; Xing et al., 2014). Signals responsible for neuronal versus glial progeny decisions remain yet to be identified but a number of factors were shown to either inhibit or promote stem cell-dependent oligodendrogenesis (Akkermann, Beyer, & Küry, 2017). In addition, bioinformatics analysis predicts the existence of a number of unexploited signaling pathways acting on niche cells (Azim et al., 2018). Nevertheless, a detailed knowledge about intrinsic regulators and extrinsic influences is needed in order to understand whether and how neural stem cells can be exploited for robust oligodendrocyte replacement, as warranted by WM loss observed in many neuropathologies. It also remains to be shown to what degree activation of endogenous stem/ progenitor cells versus supply of exogenous cells (transplantation) is applicable and whether generated cell derivatives correspond to fully myelinating oligodendrocytes or are alike cells only. Likewise, little is known about the influence of regional differences (GM and WM) as well as of an injury environment on transplanted aNSCs. As previous stem cell transplantation studies revealed poor fate directing properties when NSCs were, for example, instructed to differentiate into neurons prior to transplantation (Koutsoudaki et al., 2016) or when cells overexpressed IGF-1 (Miltiadous et al., 2013), this supports a potential dominant effect of the host tissue.

The p57kip2/cdkn1c gene encodes one of the intrinsic regulators involved in oligodendroglial cell fate acquisition. We previously demonstrated that short-hairpin RNA (shRNA) mediated suppression of this gene in rat aNSCs, derived from the subgranular zone and SVZ stem cell niches, induces oligodendroglial features at the expense of astrocyte generation, notably despite the presence of strong astrogenic cues (Jadasz et al., 2012). In addition, there is evidence for a differential expression of p57kip2 along SVZ subregions correlating with variations in the extent of oligodendrocyte progeny generation (Akkermann et al., 2017). In the current study, we investigated whether this intrinsic fate modulation leads to the same degree of oligodendrocyte formation following aNSC transplantation into different healthy brain and spinal cord regions and whether it can also dominate over factors emanating from a hostile, pathophysiological environment. To this end, genetically modulated aNSCs were transplanted into cortex (GM) and corpus callosum (WM), GM and WM of the spinal cord as well as in the vicinity of acutely lesioned spinal cords in order to investigate differential instructive signals influencing survival, tissue integration, and oligodendroglial differentiation. While we show that also in mouse, SVZ-derived aNSCs p57kip2 knockdown generally induces an oligodendroglial fate we nevertheless detected remarkable differences between WM and GM grafted cells as well as a differential impact from the injury environment on grafted cell survival. Taken together, our results uncover heterogeneous oligodendroglial fate determining and maturation effects mediated by extrinsic and intrinsic regulators.

### 2 | MATERIAL AND METHODS

### 2.1 | Animals

Female mice (C57BI/6) and rats (RjHan:W) were used as host animals in order to avoid possible gender dependent heterogeneity. All rodents were housed in a pathogen-free facility with 12 hr light/dark cycle and supplied with food/water ad libitum. Transplantation experiments into wildtype mice and rats were all approved by the LANUV (Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz Nordrhein-Westfalen; Az.: 84-02.04.2015.A239; Az.: 84-02.04.2015.A525) and carried out in accordance with ethical care. For the preparation of adult mouse NSCs from wildtype C57BI/6 or transgenic (NesCreERT2:: tdTomato) mice 3 month old female animals were used. Please note that NesCreERT2::tdTomato mice were received by introducing an inducible tdTomato cassette (Gt(ROSA)26Sor locus; for further detail, please see Jackson Laboratory stock No. 007914) into NesCreERT2 mice (Imayoshi, Ohtsuka, Metzger, Chambon, & Kageyama, 2006). Rat aNSCs were prepared from 8 to 10 week old female Wistar rats.

# 2.2 | Adult mouse and rat neural stem cell culture and transfection

Preparation of aNSCs was conducted using adult mouse and rat SVZs as previously described (Jadasz et al., 2012; Jadasz et al., 2018). Briefly, isoflurane anesthetized animals were killed by decapitation and after removal of the brains SVZ of both hemispheres were prepared, mechanically digested and transferred to 4°C phosphate buffered saline (PBS; D8537; Sigma-Aldrich, Taufkirchen, Germany). After washing in PBS, cells were enzymatically digested in PDD solution containing papain (0.01%, Worthington Biochemicals, Lakewood, CA), Dispase II (0.1%, Boehringer, Ingelheim, Germany), DNase I (0.01%, Worthington Biochemicals), and 12.4 mM MgSO4, dissolved in HBSS (PAA Laboratories) for 30 min at 37°C with trituration steps every 10 minutes. After additional washing steps in neurobasal (NB) medium

(Gibco BRL, Karlsruhe, Germany) supplemented with B27 (Gibco), 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco), 100 U/mL penicillin/0.1 mg/L streptomycin (Gibco) and centrifugation at 140 rcf for 5 min, cells were resuspended in NB medium supplemented with 2 mg/mL heparin (Sigma-Aldrich), 20 ng/mL FGF-2 (R&D Systems, Wiesbaden-Nordenstadt, Germany), and 20 ng/mL EGF (R&D Systems) from here on referred to as NBall medium. Cells were seeded at  $1 \times 10^6$  cells in one T75 culture flask in 10 mL NBall medium and cultured for 7 days at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO2. The medium was exchanged twice a week and on Day 7 cells were passaged using accutase (PAA Laboratories) for separation (10 min at 37°C). Mouse and rat aNSCs were dispersed using an accutase step and subjected to nucleofection using a Lonza nucleofection device and the adult mouse NSC nucleofector kit (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) as described before (Jadasz et al., 2018). Briefly,  $4 \times 10^{6}$  cells were transfected using the program A-033 (high efficiency) resuspended in 100  $\mu$ L nucleofection solution and 10  $\mu$ g plasmid DNA. Nucleofections were performed using constructs pSUPER ("ctrl"; empty vector control) and pSUPER-p57kip2 ("p57-KD"; suppression of p57kip2) and for visualization of transfected cells a citrine expression vector was cotransfected at a ratio of 5:1 all as published previously (Heinen et al., 2008; Jadasz et al., 2012; Kremer et al., 2009). Transfected cells were plated on poly-L-ornithine/laminin (100 and 5  $\mu$ g/mL; Sigma-Aldrich) coated and acid pretreated 13 mm glass cover slips  $(8 \times 10^4 \text{ cells/coverslip})$  for 24 hr in NBall medium before changing to astrocyte fate stimulating medium (Minimum Essential Medium Alpha ( $\alpha$ -MEM) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (FCS)). For in vitro quantitative real-time reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR) analysis, transfected cells were first cultured in 10 mL NBall medium for 24 hr in T75 flasks. Prior to fluorescent activated cell sorting (Jadasz et al., 2012), cells were gently washed from the flasks, treated for 5 min with accutase, washed with PBS containing 2 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, and subsequently sorted by means of citrine expression. Sorted cells were plated on 13 mm glass cover slips and cultured in  $\alpha$ -MEM + 10% FCS medium. For in vivo transplantation experiments, cells (derived from transgenic tdTomato-positive mice or from wildtype rats) were transfected as described above 1 hour prior to grafting.

### 2.3 | Immunocytochemistry

α-MEM + 10% FCS cultured mouse aNSCs were fixed after 4 or 7 days using 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) and stained for the detection of marker proteins as previously described (Jadasz et al., 2018) using the following antibodies: rabbit anti-neural/glial antigen 2 (NG2; 1:100, AB5320, Millipore, RRID: AB\_11213678), rabbit anti-glutathione-S-transferase-π (GSTπ; 1:500, ADI-MSA-101, ENZO, RRID: AB\_10615079) and rabbit anti-glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP; 1:4000, Z0334, DAKO, RRID: AB\_10013382). Primary antibodies were incubated at 4°C overnight, followed by three washing steps (1x PBS) and incubation with the secondary antibody (goat anti-rabbit Alexa 594; 1:500; A-11037, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB\_2534095) in PBS (supplemented with 4',6-diamidin-2-phenylindol [DAPI]) at room temperature (RT) for 30 min. Images were taken using a Zeiss Axioplan2 microscope and analyzed using the ImageJ BioVoxxel software.

### 2.4 | Gene expression analysis

Transfected and sorted mouse aNSCs were lysed after 7 days using 350  $\mu$ L RLT lysis buffer (Qiagen) supplemented with  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (1:100, Sigma). Total RNA purification, cDNA synthesis, and qRT-PCR were performed as previously described (Jadasz et al., 2012). For sequence detection, the following forward (fwd) and reverse (rev) primers were used, with TBP and ODC serving as reference genes:

TBP\_fwd: AGAATAAGAGAGCCACGGACAACT, TBP\_rev: TGGCT CCTGTGCACACCAT; ODC\_fwd: GGTTCCAGAGGCCAAACATC, ODC\_rev: GTTGCCACATTGACCGTGAC; p57kip2\_fwd: CCGAC TGAGAGCAAGCGAAC, p57kip2\_rev: ATTGGTGATGGACGGCTCCT; NG2\_fwd: ACGATCCACCTCGCATCATC, NG2\_rev: GTTCCACA GGGACACCAGAG; GSTπ\_fwd: CATGCCACCATACACCATTGTC, GSTπ\_rev: CATTCGCATGGCCTCCA; nestin\_fwd: AGCCATTGTGGT CTACGGAAGT, nestin \_rev: TCCACACACCCCAGTGGTT; Hes5\_fwd: TGCAGGAGGCGGTACAGTTG, Hes5\_rev: GCTGGAAGTGGTAAG CAGCTT; GFAP\_fwd: CCAGCTTCGAGCCAAGAA, GFAP\_rev: GAAGCTCCGCCTGGTAGACA; AQP4\_fwd: TCCTGATGTGGAGCTCA AACG, AQP4\_rev: GCTGCGCGGCTT TGC; Sox2\_fwd: CCAGCGCAT GGACAGCTA, Sox2\_rev: GCTGCTCCTGCATCATGCT.

# 2.5 | Stereotactic transplantation into GM and WM of the mouse brain

Then, 1 hr prior to transplantation, mouse aNSCs were transfected as described above and kept at RT in PBS. For transplantation into the mouse brain, cells were centrifuged for 5 min at 140 rcf and resuspended in PBS to a density of  $1\times 10^5$  cells/µL. Recipient C57BI/6J mice were deeply anesthetized using isoflurane inhalation. Approximately 0.75 µL of the cell suspension was injected in either the WM or GM of the somatosensory cortex of (13-14 week old) mice according to Vigano et al. (2013). Transplantations were performed with a Hamilton syringe (10  $\mu$ L Neuros Model 1701 RN, ga 33, L 0-20 mm) into the WM at 0.7 mm (anterior-posterior), ±1 mm (medial-lateral), 2.1-1.8 mm (dorsal-ventral) relative to the bregma and into the GM at 0.7 mm (anterioposterior), ±1 mm (medial-lateral), 1.5-1.3 mm (dorsal-ventral) relative to the bregma using a motorized robot stereotaxic instrument and StereoDrive software (Neurostar). Postoperative care comprised an analgesic treatment (RIMADYL, Pfizer; 5 mg/kg) for 3 days starting on the day of operation. For tissue removal, mice were deeply anesthetized with isoflurane and transcardially perfused with 20 mL ice-cold PBS followed by 20 mL 4% PFA. Mouse brains were harvested and postfixed overnight in 4% PFA at 4°C, followed by 24-48 hr cryoprotection in 30% sucrose (in PBS) at 4°C. Brains were embedded in Tissue-Tek OCT (Sakura Finetek Europe, Netherlands), frozen, and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until preparation of 10  $\mu$ m sections using a cryostat (Leica CM3050S). Sections were stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

# 2.6 | Stereotactic transplantation into the intact and hemisected rat spinal cord

Adult female rats were operated as previously described (Schira et al., 2012) with slight modifications. Briefly, after dorsal hemisection at thoracic level eight (Th8) using a Scouten wire knife (Bilaney), the dura was sutured and then rat aNSC transplantation was performed using a glass capillary, attached to a Small Animal Stereotaxic Instrument (David Kopf Instruments), at 2 mm rostral and 2 mm caudal to the lesion, 0.1 mm lateral to the midline and 1.1 mm (for GM) or 0.7 mm (for WM) dorsal-ventral from the dural surface. For the transplantation of aNSCs into the intact spinal cord, no hemisection was performed but cells were implanted at the same coordinates as previously mentioned. At each transplantation site  $2 \,\mu L$  containing  $1 \times 10^5$  either control transfected (ctrl; empty vector) or p57kip2-suppressed (p57-KD) cells in PBS were injected slowly within 4 min. Cells were transfected 60 min prior to grafting and for cell detection a citrine expression vector was cotransfected as indicated above. Please note that for both conditions, control and p57-KD, transfection efficiency was comparably high (Supplementary Figure 2). Postoperative care included prophylactic oral antibiotic treatment (Baytril, Bayer Health Care; 0.4 mL/kg) and manual bladder expression for 1 week. Further to this, rats received an analgesic treatment (RIMADYL, Pfizer; 5 mg/kg) for 3 days starting on the day of operation. Seven days postoperation, animals were transcardially perfused. Rats were deeply anesthetized using a mixed solution containing Ketamine (100 mg/kg body weight) and xylazine (10 mg/kg body weight) and transcardially perfused with 200 mL 4°C PBS followed by 400 mL 4% PFA. Spinal cords were harvested and postfixed overnight in 4% PFA at 4°C, followed by 24-48 hr cryoprotection in 30% sucrose (in PBS) at 4°C. Spinal cords were then embedded in Tissue-Tek OCT (Sakura Finetek Europe), frozen, and stored at  $-30^{\circ}$ C until preparation of 10  $\mu$ m sections using a cryostat (Leica, CM3050S). Sections were stored at  $-30^{\circ}$ C.

### 2.7 | Immunohistochemistry

Brain and spinal cord sections were thawed and left to dry for at least 15 min at RT. Before blocking, sections were rehydrated for 5 min in distilled water, transferred to -20°C acetone (5 min), and washed in 1x TBS (pH 7.6) and 1x TBS-T (TBS containing 0.02% Triton) for 5 min each. Blocking was performed with 5-10% biotin-free bovine serum albumin (BSA; in TBS-T) for 30 min at RT, followed by application of the following antibodies (in 5-10% BSA in TBS) and incubation overnight: rabbit anti-NG2 (1:100; MAB5320; Millipore, RRID: AB\_11213678; RT), rabbit anti-sex determining region Y-Box 10 (Sox10; 1:100, S1058C002, DCS Immunoline, RRID: AB\_2313583; RT), rabbit anti-GFAP (1:10,000; Z0334, DAKO, RRID: AB\_10013382; 4°C), goat anti-doublecortin (Dcx; 1:100, sc-8066, Santa Cruz, RRID: AB\_2088494; 4°C), rabbit anti-GSTπ (1:4,000; ADI-MSA-101, ENZO, RRID: AB\_10615079; 4°C), mouse anti-2',3'-cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (CNPase; 1:5,000, 836,402, Biolegend, RRID: AB\_2565362; 4°C), rat anti-myelin basic protein (MBP; 1:500, MCA409S, BioRad, RRID: AB\_325004; 4°C), rabbit anti-NeuN (1:500; ab177487, Abcam, RRID: AB\_2532109; 4°C), mouse anti-myelin

oligodendrocytes glycoprotein (MOG; 1:500, MAB5680, Millipore, RRID: AB\_1587278; 4°C), and chicken anti-green fluorescent protein/citrine (1:500-2,000; GFP-1020, Aves, RRID: AB\_10000240; 4°C or RT). Sections were washed two times for 7.5 min in TBS and incubated with the species-appropriate fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody (1:500 in PBS) for 30 min at RT: donkey anti-chicken Alexa 488 (703-545-155, Jackson Immuno Research Labs, RRID: AB\_2340375), donkey anti-goat Alexa 647 (A-21447, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB\_2535864), goat anti-chicken Alexa 488 (A-11039, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB\_2534096), goat anti-rabbit Alexa 405 (A-31556, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB\_221605), goat anti-mouse Alexa 647 (A-32728, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB\_2633277), goat anti-rat Alexa 647 (A-21247, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB 141778), goat anti-rabbit Alexa 594 (A-11037, Thermo Fisher Scientific, RRID: AB\_2534095), and DAPI or RedDot 2 (Biotium, Cat.#: 40061). Images were taken using a Zeiss CLSM microscope 510 (CLSM 510, Zeiss, Jena, Germany) and analyzed using the ImageJ BioVoxxel software.

### 2.8 | Histological cell quantification

Immunohistochemical staining was done on brain sections of the corresponding centers of transplantation (on average, 25 sections per marker per time point were analyzed). Fluorescently marked cells were counted on each picture/section leading to an average value for each animal. Observed cell numbers are represented by the area of an individual circle (Figure 3). For quantification of cell numbers in spinal cord, transplantation experiments corresponding centers of transplantation were used and 14–24 sections encompassing the transplantation zone per animal were analyzed. After calculating the mean number of citrine-positive cells per section, this number was then multiplied with the total number of sections containing citrine-positive cells (between 40 and 65 sections per animal) to indicate total numbers of surviving cells in the spinal cord.

### 2.9 | Immunoelectron microscopy

For immunoelectron microscopy, mice were perfused with 4% PFA in cacodylate buffer, brains were dissected and postfixed overnight. Brains were embedded in 6% agarose in cacodylate buffer, and 50-µm-thick coronal sections were cut in PBS using a microtome (Microm HM 650 V, Thermo Fisher Scientific). Free-floating sections were blocked with 1% BSA in PBS and incubated with 0.1 M NaIO<sub>3</sub> in PBS and subsequently in 5% dimethyl sulfoxide in PBS. Sections were incubated with rabbit anti-GFP antibody (1:100; AB3080, Millipore, RRID:AB\_91337) in 1% BSA in PBS overnight at 4°C and immune reactions were subsequently visualized using a biotinylated secondary antibody (biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG; 1:50; BA-1000, Vector, RRID: AB\_2313606) and streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase (PK-6100, Vector Laboratories, RRID:AB\_2336819) complex using diaminobenzidine-HCl (SK-4105, Vector Laboratories, RRID:AB\_2336520) and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. After diaminobenzidine staining, appropriate regions of the corpus callosum were cut, the sections were osmicated and processed for light and electron microscopy by dehydration and embedding in Spurr's medium.

Ultrathin sections (70 nm) were mounted to copper grids, counterstained with lead citrate, and investigated using a ProScan Slow Scan CCD camera mounted to a Leo 906 E electron microscope (Zeiss) and corresponding software iTEM (Soft Imaging System).

### 2.10 | Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses and graphs were done using Excel and Graph-Pad Prism 5.0 software. To determine statistical significance in graphs with more than two conditions, ordinary (not repeated measures) two-way analysis of variance with Bonferroni posttest was applied. For datasets with two conditions, Student's two-sided, unpaired *t* test was applied. Statistical significance thresholds were set as follows: \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001. All data are shown as mean values  $\pm$  *SEM* and "*n*" represents the number of independent experiments performed.

### 3 | RESULTS

### 3.1 | p57kip2 gene suppression leads to oligodendroglial fate acquisition in cultured aNSCs

The p57kip2/cdkn1c gene has previously been shown to encode a negative regulator of Schwann cell and oligodendroglial precursor cell differentiation (Heinen et al., 2008; Kremer et al., 2009). Moreover, we demonstrated that enforced downregulation of p57kip2 expression

leads to accumulation of oligodendroglial features and markers in rat hippocampus-derived aNSCs (Jadasz et al., 2012). Please note that in this previous publication, we demonstrated that p57kip2 suppression induces a moderate survival benefit in aNSCs and that it also slightly promoted their proliferation. In order to prepare in vivo stem cell maturation studies, we conducted a series of experiments using cultured adult mouse SVZ-derived NSCs. To assess whether p57kip2 gene suppression also instructs an oligodendroglial fate in mouse aNSCs, we transfected them with a p57kip2 specific shRNA generating vector (p57-KD; Heinen et al., 2008; Jadasz et al., 2012; Kremer et al., 2009). Control cells were transfected with an empty expression vector and for identification of transfected cells, a citrine-encoding construct was cotransfected. Transfected cells were fluorescence-activated cell sorted by means of their citrine expression (Jadasz et al., 2012) 1 day following transfection and subsequently cultured in an astroglial fate promoting medium as described previously (Jadasz et al., 2012; Jadasz et al., 2018). Seven days following transfection, transcript levels were measured and suppression of p57kip2 was confirmed (Figure 1a). This was accompanied by an increased gene expression of NG2 (oligodendroglial precursor marker; Figure 1b) and of the mature oligodendrocyte marker  $GST\pi$  (Figure 1c). At the same time, the expression of the negative regulator of oligodendroglial differentiation Hes5, of astroglial GFAP and aquaporin-4 (AQP4) and of stem cell markers nestin and Sox2 was decreased (Figure 1d-h). For validation of RNA expression, immunocytochemical staining using antibodies directed against NG2 (4d),  $GST\pi$ 



**FIGURE 1** Increased oligodendroglial gene expression in adult NSCs following suppression of p57kip2. qRT-PCR of FACS-sorted aNSCs 7 days following shRNA-mediated suppression of p57kip2 (p57-KD; gray bars) revealed p57kip2 transcript level reduction (a) compared to control transfected cells (ctrl; black bars). This led to an increased expression of early (NG2; b) as well as of mature oligodendroglial marker genes (GST $\pi$ ; c). The increase in oligodendroglial gene expression was accompanied by a decreased expression of stem cell genes nestin (d) and Sox2 (h), of the oligodendroglial differentiation inhibitor Hes5 (e), and of the astrocytic marker genes GFAP (f) and AQP4 (g). Data are shown as mean values, error bars represent *SEM*. Number of independent experiments: n = 3 for (b,g), n = 4 for (d), n = 5 for (c,h,f), and n = 6 for (a,e). Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided, unpaired t test: \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001. aNSCs, adult neural stem cells; FACS, fluorescent activated cell sorting; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GST $\pi$ , glutathione-S-transferase- $\pi$ ; qRT-PCR, quantitative real-time reverse transcription PCR; shRNA, short-hairpin RNA

## 398 WILEY GLIA



FIGURE 2 Suppression of p57kip2 in adult NSCs induces oligodendroglial protein expression. Immunocytochemical analysis of p57kip2 suppressed (p57-KD; gray bars) and control transfected aNSCs (ctrl; black bars) for the oligodendroglial precursor marker NG2 after 4 days (a-c), for the mature oligodendrocyte protein  $GST\pi$ after 7 days (d-f) and for GFAP after 7 days (g-i). Note that only transfected cells (citrine-positive) were analyzed. Arrows in representative images point toward double positive (citrine/ corresponding marker protein) cells. Scale bar in (h): 200 µm. Data are shown as mean values. error bars represent SEM. Number of independent experiments: n = 3. Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided, unpaired *t* test: \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\*p < .001. aNSCs, adult neural stem cells; CNS, central nervous system; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GST $\pi$ , glutathione-

S-transferase- $\pi$ ; shRNA, shorthairpin RNA [Color figure can be

viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

(7d), and GFAP (7d) were performed. Only transfected cells (marked by citrine expression) were scored and quantification confirmed increased oligodendroglial identities at the expense of GFAP expression in p57kip2 suppressed aNSCs (Figure 2).

Having established that transfection of the p57kip2 suppression vector confers an oligodendroglial fate on mouse SVZ-derived aNSCs as compared to control transfected cells (ctrl), we next investigated how to accomplish in vivo transplantation experiments with the lowest degree of technical variance among different host animals and surgeries. We therefore examined whether SVZ-derived aNSCs from transgenic tdTomato expressing mice (driven by nestin promoter (Imayoshi et al., 2006)) showed similar (p57kip2 dependent) properties in terms of oligodendroglial fate choice as nontransgenic transfected cells. For this purpose, we used a transgenic reporter mouse line in which the tdTomato expression was observed in approximately 50% of the cultured aNSCs (data not shown) as additional source for the preparation of SVZ aNSCs. Transfection of the p57kip2 suppression

vector/citrine vector combination reproducibly resulted in a third of cells being citrine-positive (of which 50% were also tdTomato-positive), hence with knocked down p57kip2 levels, whereas another third of cells was tdTomato-positive only. In our in vivo approaches, we then strictly compared green to red-only cells in order to have a site-by-site comparison of p57kip2 suppressed compared to control aNSCs. Note that cultured nontransfected/wildtype aNSCs, control-transfected/ wildtype aNSCs and nontransfected/tdTom-positive (transgenic) aNSCs showed the same astroglial and oligodendroglial protein marker expression dynamics (Supplementary Figure 1). Immunocytochemistry revealed that the degree of nestin positivity was the same (100%) in both, wildtype and tdTom-positive, stem cell populations. In addition, GFAP, GST $\pi$ , and Hes5 gene expression analysis revealed the same p57-KDdependent expression dynamics as shown for transfected wildtype aNSCs (Supplementary Figure 3). We also transplanted this cell population onto myelinating cocultures (Göttle et al., 2015; Göttle et al., 2018) in order to provide an as much as possible physiological ex vivo

p57-KD

environment. These experiments revealed that suppression of p57kip2induced Sox10 expression, a marker expressed in the whole oligodendrocytic lineage, in transgenic (tdTomato-positive) aNSCs from 14.63%  $\pm$  0.84% to 30.37%  $\pm$  2.17% which was to a similar degree as when control transfected wildtype aNSCs were compared to p57-KD transfected wildtype aNSCs (data not shown). This provided strong evidence that a direct assessment of citrine-positive (p57-KD) versus tdTomato-onlypositive (ctrl) cells perfectly reflects the differences as previously seen when p57-KD transfected cells were compared to control transfected cells. This constitutes an important aspect as we aimed at comparing cell fates upon modulation of p57kip2 expression in each individual host animal in situ, hence with a minimum of variation arising from the use of different mice or injection sites.

# 3.2 | p57kip2 suppressed aNSCs show survival advantage in both, GM and WM

As a next step, transgenic (tdTomato-positive) aNSCs transfected with the p57-KD/citrine vector combination were transplanted into 13–14 week old mouse brains. Coordinates were chosen according to a previous study challenging the fate of grafted OPCs (Vigano et al.,



**FIGURE 3** WM tissue and suppression of p57kip2 support survival of transplanted adult NSCs. (a) aNSC transplantation set up into GM or WM (GM, WM) and time points (ctrl: tdTomato-onlypositive nontransfected cells; p57-KD: citrine-positive p57kip2 suppressed cells). Grafting into GM (b) and WM (c) of young adult mouse brains. Brains were analyzed 4, 14, or 42 days posttransplantation (dpt). (b,c) Area ( $A = \pi r^2$ ) of pies represent the average cell count per field of view following all immunohistochemical analyses for each time point and tissue (GM vs. WM). Average survival rates of p57-KD cells (green) and ctrl cells (red) are given in percent within each pie. aNSCs, adult neural stem cells; GM, gray matter; WM, white matter [Color figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

## GLIA WILEY 399

2013) and modulated aNSCs were either implanted into WM or GM regions (corpus callosum and neocortex, respectively). Note that every graft was composed of tdTomato-only-positive control cells and of cells with downregulated p57kip2 expression (citrine-positive). Counting the number of fluorescent cells at 4, 14, and 42 days posttransplantation (dpt) revealed differences in cell survival rates depending on the genetic modulation and site of transplantation (as presented as pie charts in Figure 3). Overall, p57kip2 suppressed aNSCs showed greater survival rates as compared to control cells in both GM and WM, and at all time points examined. Such an increased survival upon p57kip2 knockdown, despite the fact that these cells underwent nucleofection, suggests that gene suppression or the subsequently induced oligodendroglial fate acquisition confer a survival benefit. Over time, a modest decline in surviving cell numbers was observed which was less prominent in WM as compared to GM (compare Figure 3c to b). Furthermore, the survival benefit of p57-KD cells appeared to increase over time. Importantly, because cell counts were not generated by means of a longitudinal analysis but derived by examining tissues from different cohorts of grafted mice, a direct comparison in numbers is only possible between GM and WM at a single time point but not within a given tissue between different time points. Nevertheless, using the here presented grafting procedure, we were able to reproducibly generate mice with implanted, genetically modified cells over a period of up to 6 weeks, thus allowing detailed analysis of maturation in vivo and tissue integration.

# 3.3 | WM signals and suppression of p57kip2 promote oligodendroglial fate choice

In order to determine the impact of a modulated p57kip2 expression in addition to GM versus WM environmental cues on fate acquisition of adult NSCs, brain sections (4, 14, and 42 dpt) were subjected to immunofluorescent staining (Figures 4 and 5). Quantitative analysis revealed that at 4 dpt Sox10 protein could only be detected in WM implanted cells or in GM implanted cells when they were p57kip2 suppressed (Figure 4b-d"",I). In the WM, the number of Sox10-positive cells was further increased by p57kip2 knockdown. A similar induction of NG2 positivity was observed in response to p57kip2 suppression at 4 dpt in both tissues (Figure 4e-g"",m). Note that at this stage, both tissues featured comparable numbers of implanted cells as represented by the pie charts in Figure 3. Concomitantly, the expression of GFAP was significantly decreased due to the p57kip2 knockdown at 4 dpt, whereas levels were generally lower in the WM (Figure 4h-i"",n). To test for a possible early neuronal fate, brain sections were stained using an antibody directed against the neuroblast marker Dcx. Neither suppression of p57kip2 nor tissue specific effects led to significant differences in the ratio of transplanted aNSC-derived neuroblasts (Figure 4j-k"",o).

We next examined expression of the mature oligodendrocyte marker GST $\pi$  among transplanted aNSCs at 14 dpt (Figure 5b-e). Generally, GST $\pi$  was found to be expressed in more cells transplanted into the WM, we nevertheless observed a robust and significant induction in response to the p57kip2 knockdown. On the other hand,



**FIGURE 4** Conferring an oligodendroglial fate to adult NSCs in vivo following suppression of p57kip2 and transplantation into WM tissue. (a) aNSC transplantation set up into GM or WM, time point, and examined marker proteins (ctrl: tdTomato-only-positive nontransfected cells; p57-KD: citrine-positive p57kip2 suppressed cells). (b–o) Immunohistochemical analysis for Sox10, NG2, GFAP, and Dcx was performed 4 days posttransplantation to reveal early fate choices of transplanted aNSCs. While oligodendroglial and astroglial marker protein expression correlate inversely, expression of Dcx showed neither tissue

at this time point, reduction in GFAP-positivity was more pronounced among WM implanted cells (Figure 5f). Finally, in order to test for functional integration including stem cell-derived myelin protein expression and the establishment of myelin sheaths, transplanted cells were analyzed at 42 dpt, mainly focusing on WM. We examined to what degree p57kip2 knockdown also confers a benefit in myelination when cells were exposed to axons in vivo. Moreover, we also wanted to address the question whether aNSCs after being cultured for several passages in vitro still have the potential to fully differentiate into myelinating oligodendrocytes following transplantation. Brain sections were subjected to immunofluorescent staining using antibodies against myelin proteins CNPase, MBP, and MOG. In WM, a strong increase in the degree of myelin protein expressing cells was detected in response to the long-term p57kip2 knockdown (Figure 5g-j). Note that a comparison between GM and WM, which was conducted using MOG stained cells, revealed that p57kip2 suppression boosts myelin expression in both tissues (Figure 5j). Furthermore, overall induction levels were higher in WM and together with the fact that at this time point significantly more p57kip2-suppressed cells survived in WM as compared to GM (see Figure 3), the overall yield in mature myelinating oligodendrocytes was severely elevated in this condition. These cells also displayed multiple myelin positive cell extensions morphologically resembling mature oligodendrocytes (Figure 5g-g'"; i-iv). An initial qualitative electron microscopic analysis further confirmed that processes of transplanted p57kip2-suppressed cells, identified by means of electron dense phenazine precipitates derived from anti-citrine immunohistochemical detection, were indeed found in direct proximity to myelin sheaths around corpus callosum axons. These myelinating extensions are therefore likely to derive from transplanted aNSCderived oligodendrocytes (Figure 5k-m). The degree of actively myelinating cells out of the pool of p57kip2 suppressed cells, over time as well as in relation to their integration sites, should be determined in upcoming studies.

# 3.4 | Stem cell-derived oligodendrogenesis in the spinal cord

In order to test whether the observed pro-oligodendroglial behavior of modulated stem cells is maintained under hostile conditions, aNSCs were transplanted into the lesioned spinal cord. For practical reasons, rat spinal cord hemisection characterized by a profound local lesion

nor p57kip2-dependent changes. Inserts in (c-c"") and (f-f"") correspond to blow-ups in (d-d"") and (g-g""), respectively. White arrows point toward citrine- and Sox10-/NG2-/GFAP-/Dcx- double-positive cells, respectively, while open arrows point toward tdTomato- and NG2-/ GFAP-/Dcx- double-positive cells, respectively. Scale bar in (c) for all nonblow up pictures: 100  $\mu$ m. Scale bar in (d) for all blow-ups: 20  $\mu$ m. Data are shown as mean values, error bars represent *SEM*. Number of independent experiments: n = 5 animals per graft site. Statistical significance was calculated using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttest: \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01. ANOVA, analysis of variance; aNSCs, adult neural stem cells; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GM, gray matter; WM, white matter [Color figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com] FIGURE 5 Suppression of p57kip2 leads to an increased yield of adult NSC-derived myelinating oligodendrocytes. (a) aNSC transplantation set up into GM or WM, time points and examined marker proteins (ctrl: tdTomato-only-positive nontransfected cells; p57-KD: citrine-positive p57kip2 suppressed cells). (b-e) Immunohistochemical analysis 14 days posttransplantation revealed that the ratio of  $GST\pi$ expressing cells was increased in WM and upon p57kip2 suppression. (f) At the same time, less transplanted aNSCs differentiated into GFAP expressing astrocytes. Immunohistochemical assessment of myelin protein expressing cells in the corpus callosum 42 days after transplantation revealed significant increases in CNPase- (h), MBP-(g-g'"), and MOG-positive cells (j) following p57kip2 suppression (green bars). Inserts in (c-c''') and (g'')correspond to blow-ups in (d-d"") and (i-iv), respectively. White rectangles in (g"') surround MBP-positive processes of transplanted p57-KD aNSC in the corpus callosum. White arrows point toward citrine- and GST $\pi$ - (b-d''') or MBP- (g-g'') double-positive cells. (k-m) Electron microscopy images show that p57-KD cells after 42 days posttransplantation exhibit anti-GFP stainingderived electron dense precipitates in the cytoplasm of myelinating extension (asterisks) and are in direct proximity to myelinated axons (arrows) in the corpus callosum. Data are shown as mean values, error bars represent SEM. Number of independent experiments: *n* = four animals per graft site for (e,f,j) and n = three animals for (h,i). Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided, unpaired t test (h,i) and using two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni posttest (e,f,j): p < .05; p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001. Scale bar in (c"",g"'): 100 μm, scale bar in (d""): 20  $\mu$ m, scale bar in (iv): 25  $\mu$ m, scale bar in (k,l): 1 µm, scale bar in (m): 500 nm. ANOVA, analysis of variance; aNSCs, adult neural stem cells; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GM, gray matter; GST $\pi$ , glutathione-S-transferase- $\pi$ ; MBP, myelin basic protein; WM, white matter [Color figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

(a) GM CNPase MBP MOG GSTπ GFAP electron microscopy 4 dpt 42 dpt 14 dpt DAPI ctrl p57-KD GSTπ merae (f) (e) (b) 🍾 (b″), (b' ) GSTπ GFAP (b′) 🖌 (b MΟ 1 1 50 K <del>ମ</del>୍ଚି 40cells 20-20-20-(c)(C') (C'') (C''') (C' Ositive MM CY S d k 44 CH E FK Z % of 10 (d′) (d″) (d d ĠМ wм ĠМ p57-KD WM blow-ups a (g′) (p57-KD) citrine (g‴) (g″) MBP (h) CNPase nucleus 100 cells 80 % of positive 60 40 20 (i) MBP 100 80 nucleus % of positive 60 40 20 (j) MOG cells 60

GLIA

-∰-WILEY

401

(an overview of such a lesion and citrine-positive transplanted cells [green] is shown in Supplementary Figure 4) was chosen and SVZderived rat aNSCs were used according to our previous study (Jadasz et al., 2012). Here, either empty vector control transfected- (ctrl) or p57kip2-suppressed (p57-KD) aNSCs were transplanted into GM and WM rostral and caudal to the lesion site, immediately after spinal cords were hemisectioned (Figure 6a). In contrast to our observations on mouse brain implanted stem cells, the average number of transplanted and surviving cells in the lesioned spinal cord significantly dropped in response to the p57kip2 knockdown at 7 dpt (Figure 6b). Immunofluorescent staining revealed no difference in the extent of Sox10-positivity in control cells between GM and WM and a significantly increased degree of Sox10-positivity in p57-KD cells transplanted into WM tracts (Figure 6c-h",i). The number of GST $\pi$ 







FIGURE 6 High vulnerability of aNSCderived oligodendroglial cells in the spinal cord injury microenvironment. (a) Hemisected rat spinal cord transplantation set up, time point, and examined marker proteins (ctrl: control transfected cells [black bars]; p57-KD: p57kip2 suppressed cells [gray bars]; both populations marked by means of citrine cotransfection). (b) Cell survival was negatively affected in the p57-KD aNSC population. (c-u) Immunohistochemical analyses for Sox10, GST $\pi$ , and GFAP 7 days posttransplantation. Inserts in (d-d''), (g-g''), (k-k''), and (n-n'')correspond to blow-ups shown in (e-e"), (hh"), (I-I"), and (o-o"), respectively. White arrows point toward citrine- and Sox10-/ GST $\pi$ -/GFAP- double-positive cells, respectively, while open arrows point toward citrine-positive cells only. Scale bar in (d) for all nonmagnified pictures: 100 um. Scale bar in (e) for all blow-up pictures: 20 µm. (v) Transplantation set up into the noninjured rat spinal cord, time point, and examined marker proteins (ctrl: control transfected cells [black bars]; p57-KD: p57kip2 suppressed cells [gray bars]; both populations marked by means of citrine cotransfection). (w) Cell survival of p57-KD and ctrl-transfected cells was not affected in the lesion-free transplantation paradigm. (x-z) In the intact spinal cord transplantation set up, the p57-KD cell population showed low (z) or no (x,y) pro-glial differentiation compared to the control aNSCs. However, transplantation into WM resulted in a significantly increased number of oligodendroglial cells compared to GM grafts (x,y). Data are shown as mean values, error bars represent SEM. Number of independent experiments: n = 6 control- versus 5 p57-KD animals for hemisected animals and 4 controlversus 5 p57-KD animals for transplantation into the noninjured spinal cord. Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-sided, unpaired t test (b,w) and using twoway ANOVA with Bonferroni posttest (i,p,u,xz): \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01. aNSCs, adult neural stem cells; GFAP, glial fibrillary acidic protein; GM, gray matter; GST $\pi$ , glutathione-Stransferase- $\pi$ ; WM, white matter [Color figure can be viewed at wileyonlinelibrary.com]

protein-positive transplanted stem cells was increased by the p57kip2 knockdown in both, GM as well as WM (Figure 6j-o",p) with the highest ratio of GST $\pi$ -positive aNSC-derived cells to be found upon gene knockdown in the WM area. While we showed that in the intact (or mildly traumatically affected) mouse brain the impact of WM as well as of the p57kip2-knockdown leads to a reduced astrocyte generation, staining for GFAP expression in spinal cord implanted stem

cells revealed almost no change in the extent of this marker expression (Figure 6q-t'',u). In line with the observation that none of the transplanted aNSCs were found expressing the neuronal marker NeuN (data not shown), it can be concluded that almost exclusively glial derivates arose from grafted stem cells, probably due to the astrogenic environment (Beyer, Samper Agrelo, & Küry, 2019 and references therein). Note that since in the lesion paradigm we decided to

perform our analyses at 7 dpt, so considerably later than in the brain (4 dpt), neuron detection was carried out using NeuN as marker. This goes along with the finding that for control- as well as for p57-KD cells, respective proportions of GFAP- and Sox10-positive cells added up close to 100% in both GM and WM. In contrast to our findings of reduced numbers of citrine-positive/p57kip2 suppressed cells in the vicinity of hemisectioned spinal cords (Figure 6b), survival rates between transplanted control- and p57-KD aNSCs did not differ in the nonlesioned spinal cord (Figure 6w). Here, we found that a total number of 686.9  $\pm$  27.3 p57-KD cells and 662.4  $\pm$  29.9 ctrl cells survived and integrated into the host tissue at 7 dpt. Moreover, upon transplantation into the intact spinal cord no profound prooligodendroglial effect in response to suppression of p57kip2 was observed as assessed using markers such as Sox10 and  $\mathsf{GST}\pi$ (Figure 6x,y). The extent of GFAP-positive cells was comparable in lesioned and nonlesioned tissues (Figure 6u,z) with a differentiation effect upon knockdown of p57kip2 resulting in a slight increase in GFAP-positive astrocytes after transplantation in the lesion-free spinal cord. However, aNSCs transplanted into the WM still showed increased oligodendroglial marker expression as compared to GM transplants (Figure 6x,y).

### 4 | DISCUSSION

An assessment of glial heterogeneity within the CNS is an important yet unsolved aspect of cell lineage analysis and for myelinating cells, it includes the description of different oligodendroglial cell populations within different brain regions (Vigano et al., 2013), during development (Spitzer et al., 2019) or in demyelinating diseases (Jäkel et al., 2019). Vigano et al., for example, reported an impaired differentiation of GM-derived OPCs compared to WM-derived OPCs upon heterotopic transplantation into GM and WM suggesting intrinsic differences between adult OPC subpopulations to occur (Vigano et al., 2013). Furthermore, they demonstrated that the WM environment can help to overcome intrinsic inhibitory cues acting on GM OPCs providing evidence for a role of differentially expressed extracellular matrix and/or diffusible ligands. Additional impact results from the contribution of aNSCs being heterogeneous between not only different niches but also revealing variations within well-defined niches such as the SVZ (Mizrak et al., 2019). For OPCs and aNSCs, overlapping intrinsic regulators of oligodendroglial differentiation have been described, such as, for example, Sox10, Olig2, and p57kip2 (Copray et al., 2006; Jadasz et al., 2012; Pozniak et al., 2010). Yet, it remains to be shown whether overall differentiation and maturation processes are really identical and to what degree progenitor or stem cell derivatives depend on environmental cues. The latter fact is also important considering the observation that internodes in remyelinated animals differ in terms of length and thickness depending on the origin of the myelinating cells (Xing et al., 2014). In order to achieve a better understanding of how aNSCs can contribute to glial cell heterogeneity either in different brain regions or under hostile conditions and to see whether extrinsic signals can be overcome by intrinsic manipulation of

# GLIA WILEY 403

the stem cell fate choice, we transplanted genetically modulated aNSCs in different CNS regions of mice and rats. By using less committed neural stem cells (as compared to committed OPCs), we aimed to reveal the full potential of healthy and lesioned GM- versus WMderived heterogeneous signals on cell fate acquisition and integration.

Our data clearly demonstrated that mouse and rat neural stem cells equally respond to lowered p57kip2 expression levels in that this manipulation increased the establishment of oligodendroglial features, improved and accelerated the generation of myelinating oligodendroglial cells at the expense of astroglial marker expression. Such directed fate acquisition and differentiation appeared to dominate over tissue specific cues such as in GM areas of the brain, where oligodendroglial fate directing cues seem to be either limited or of inhibitory nature. Moreover, increased oligodendroglial differentiation upon transplantation into WM tracts was further enhanced by the intrinsic p57kip2 modulation, which additionally granted a survival benefit resulting in a much higher yield of myelinating aNSCderived oligodendrocytes. Of note, neuronal differentiation was not observed in cultured cells and following transplantation, no differences in the extent of neurogenesis were observed. Whereas in stem cell culture this is likely to result from the astroglial promoting medium hence conferring a restriction to glial decisions it can be concluded that in vivo p57kip2 does not influence neurogenesis in this context.

Experimental transplantation of NSCs into CNS tissue aiming either at directed cell replacement or the local generation of trophic signals has so far almost exclusively been conducted under pathophysiological conditions (Assinck, Duncan, Hilton, Plemel, & Tetzlaff, 2017; Beyer et al., 2019). Few studies only engaged into regional differences (Fricker et al., 1999; Gage et al., 1995; Herrera, Garcia-Verdugo, & Alvarez-Buylla, 1999; Seidenfaden, Desoeuvre, Bosio, Virard, & Cremer, 2006) and none of them considered a potential impact of GM versus WM on implanted stem cells. Overall, the currently published injury- and pathology-free CNS transplantation studies imply that transplanted NSCs do sense their ectopic environment and to some degree adapt environment-specific migratory features and fate acquisition (summarized in Beyer et al. (2019)). However, direct assessment of GM versus WM differences on NCS fate and a detailed overview of oligodendroglial differentiation over time has so far been missing.

The here described differences observed between GM and WM of healthy and lesioned CNS point to dominant roles of an intrinsic fate modulation (here by suppression of p57kip2) and WM signals regarding oligodendroglial fate acquisition and successful execution of differentiation programs in the healthy CNS and of injury environmental cues related to cell survival. Based on these observations, particularly taking into account lowered long-term survival rates among GM grafts, it can be concluded that therapeutic cell replacement strategies either should be limited to diseases with a clear WM impact or must consider additional survival promoting manipulations. The absent prooligodendroglial effect in response to p57kip2 knockdown in the healthy spinal cord differed from our observations in the healthy brain. Several reasons might account for these differences such as, for

# 404 | WILEY GLIA

example, myelination dynamics and myelin as well as oligodendrocyte turnover not being identical over all CNS regions (Foran & Peterson, 1992; Snaidero & Simons, 2014; Williamson & Lyons, 2018). Further, we have to acknowledge that the composition of both tissues and their signaling cues affecting NSC fate and differentiation might differ. Finally, we cannot rule out species differences between our two rodent transplantation models. This can be interpreted in that p57kip2 suppression driven pro-oligodendroglial differentiation and cell integration can only be seen in tissues with a certain need for (re) myelination. Another question to be solved in the future relates to the heterogeneity among SVZ aNSCs (Azim et al., 2018) which might have an impact on how receptive these cells respond to an intrinsic p57kip2 modulation or extrinsic cues upon transplantation. Whether this includes for example the expression of a specific subset of gap junction proteins such as connexins would be of interest to address. Dynamic connexin expression following transplantation into striatal slice cultures and the generation of connexindependent networks were reported to affect adult neural precursor survival (Jaderstad, Jaderstad, & Herlenius, 2011; Ravella, Ringstedt, Brion, Pandolfo, & Herlenius, 2015). To what degree observed dependencies also apply to endogenous stem cells naturally giving rise to new oligodendrocytic cells, hence in a noninvasive experimental paradigm, thus most likely limited to myelin repair in demyelinating conditions, needs to be addressed in future experiments.

Taking other transplantation studies into account, it appears that the number of surviving NSCs seems to be overall rather low (as exemplified in Herrera et al. (1999), Raedt et al. (2009), and Seidenfaden et al. (2006)); summarized in Beyer et al. (2019)). It is therefore of considerable interest to see that suppression of the intrinsic regulator p57kip2 imparts a survival benefit. This might indeed be promising in light of improving potential myelinating cell replacement strategies. However, we also found that the number of p57kip2 suppressed cells was severely reduced upon grafting into lesioned CNS tissue suggesting that a promoted oligodendroglial fate acquisition on the one hand facilitates successful tissue integration but on the other hand might come with an increased sensitivity toward hostile cues as described before (Casha, Yu, & Fehlings, 2001; Crowe, Bresnahan, Shuman, Masters, & Beattie, 1997; Pfeifer et al., 2006; Rowland, Hawryluk, Kwon, & Fehlings, 2008; Vroemen, Aigner, Winkler, & Weidner, 2003). An influence of spinal cord infiltrating peripheral immune cells (Anderson, 2002; Margul et al., 2016) can also not be excluded yet. Such an impact could only be addressed by future transplantation experiments into subacute spinal cord injuries at later time points featuring reduced inflammation and beyond secondary cell death. Changes toward less hostile lesion conditions have in fact already been described for transplanted NSCs in temporal lobe epilepsy models (Raedt et al., 2009). However, it remains to be seen to what degree such a delayed aNSC application makes sense as grafting into lesion regions primarily aims at protection of demyelinated/endangered axons. In this regard, cotransplantation of NSCs with other cells that can exert an overall benefit to the whole lesion environment such as mediated by unrestricted somatic stem cells (Schira et al., 2012) or mesenchymal stem cells (Jadasz et al., 2012; Jadasz et al., 2018) might therefore constitute a promising alternative approach. Of note, cotransplantations of NSCs with other cells revealed indeed to be beneficial in terms of cell survival and functional improvements in ischemic stroke animal models (Cai et al., 2015; Luo et al., 2017). Moreover, coapplication of blockers of spinal cord injury-evoked oligodendroglia hostile cues such as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans (Dyck, Kataria, Akbari-Kelachayeh, Silver, & Karimi-Abdolrezaee, 2019) might further increase the yield in p57-KD aNSCderived oligodendrocytes.

In conclusion, our work uncovered regional heterogeneity between rodent CNS GM and WM affecting survival and fate of transplanted aNSCs. Here, WM tissue substantially promoted both, survival as well as differentiation into myelinating oligodendrocytes. In addition, we showed that suppression of the p57kip2 gene further increased WM effects and in part antagonized lower oligodendroglial yield in GM grafts. Gene knockdown-promoted oligodendrogenesis, however, suffers from a negative impact on cell survival mediated by the injured CNS hostile microenvironment, which must therefore be addressed prior to future cell replacement therapies.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The thank Birgit Blomenkamp, Marion Hendricks, Julia Jadasz, Zippora Kohne, Brigida Ziegler (all Düsseldorf), and Heinrich Blazyca (Würzburg) for their technical assistance and Prof. Dr. Olga Sergeeva for providing tdTomato reporter mouse line. This study was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; grants KU1934/2-1 and KU1934/5-1). Research on myelin repair and neuroregeneration has also been supported by the Christiane and Claudia Hempel Foundation for clinical stem cell research, DMSG Ortsvereinigung Düsseldorf und Umgebung e.V., iBrain, Stifterverband/Novartisstiftung, and Peek & Cloppenburg Düsseldorf Stiftung. The MS Center at the Department of Neurology is supported in part by the Walter and Ilse Rose Foundation.

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interests regarding the publication of this article.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

Rodent primary stem cell preparation was approved by the ZETT (Zentrale Einrichtung für Tierforschung und wissenschaftliche Tierschutzaufgaben; O90/15, O118/11). Cell transplantation experiments presented were approved by the authorities LANUV (Landesamt für Natur, Umwelt und Verbraucherschutz Nordrhein-Westfalen; Az.: 84-02.04.2015.A239; Az.: 84-02.04.2015.A525).

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

#### ORCID

 Felix Beyer
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3329-0249

 Janusz Jadasz
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5505-4570

 Janos Groh
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7628-0163

 Julio Vera
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3076-5122

 Patrick Küry
 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2654-1126

#### REFERENCES

- Akkermann, R., Beyer, F., & Küry, P. (2017). Heterogeneous populations of neural stem cells contribute to myelin repair. *Neural Regeneration Research*, 12(4), 509–517. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.204999
- Anderson, A. J. (2002). Mechanisms and pathways of inflammatory responses in CNS trauma: Spinal cord injury. *The Journal of Spinal Cord Medicine*, 25(2), 70–79 discussion 80.
- Assinck, P., Duncan, G. J., Hilton, B. J., Plemel, J. R., & Tetzlaff, W. (2017). Cell transplantation therapy for spinal cord injury. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(5), 637–647. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4541
- Azim, K., Akkermann, R., Cantone, M., Vera, J., Jadasz, J. J., & Küry, P. (2018). Transcriptional profiling of ligand expression in cell specific populations of the adult mouse forebrain that regulates neurogenesis. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12, 220. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00220
- Beyer, F., Samper Agrelo, I., & Küry, P. (2019). Do neural stem cells have a choice? Heterogenic outcome of cell fate acquisition in different injury models. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(2), 455. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms20020455
- Bond, A. M., Ming, G. L., & Song, H. (2015). Adult mammalian neural stem cells and neurogenesis: Five decades later. *Cell Stem Cell*, 17(4), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.09.003
- Brousse, B., Magalon, K., Durbec, P., & Cayre, M. (2015). Region and dynamic specificities of adult neural stem cells and oligodendrocyte precursors in myelin regeneration in the mouse brain. *Biology Open*, 4 (8), 980–992. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.012773
- Cai, Q., Chen, Z., Song, P., Wu, L., Wang, L., Deng, G., ... Chen, Q. (2015). Co-transplantation of hippocampal neural stem cells and astrocytes and microvascular endothelial cells improve the memory in ischemic stroke rat. *International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine*, 8 (8), 13109–13117.
- Casha, S., Yu, W. R., & Fehlings, M. G. (2001). Oligodendroglial apoptosis occurs along degenerating axons and is associated with FAS and p75 expression following spinal cord injury in the rat. *Neuroscience*, 103(1), 203–218.
- Copray, S., Balasubramaniyan, V., Levenga, J., de Bruijn, J., Liem, R., & Boddeke, E. (2006). Olig2 overexpression induces the in vitro differentiation of neural stem cells into mature oligodendrocytes. *Stem Cells*, 24(4), 1001–1010. https://doi.org/10.1634/stemcells.2005-0239
- Crowe, M. J., Bresnahan, J. C., Shuman, S. L., Masters, J. N., & Beattie, M. S. (1997). Apoptosis and delayed degeneration after spinal cord injury in rats and monkeys. *Nature Medicine*, 3(1), 73–76. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nm0197-73
- Duncan, I. D., Radcliff, A. B., Heidari, M., Kidd, G., August, B. K., & Wierenga, L. A. (2018). The adult oligodendrocyte can participate in remyelination. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 115(50), E11807–E11816. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1808064115
- Dyck, S., Kataria, H., Akbari-Kelachayeh, K., Silver, J., & Karimi-Abdolrezaee, S. (2019). LAR and PTP sigma receptors are negative regulators of oligodendrogenesis and oligodendrocyte integrity in spinal cord injury. *Glia*, 67(1), 125–145. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23533
- Falcao, A. M., van Bruggen, D., Marques, S., Meijer, M., Jakel, S., Agirre, E., ... Castelo-Branco, G. (2018). Disease-specific oligodendrocyte lineage

cells arise in multiple sclerosis. *Nature Medicine*, 24(12), 1837–1844. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0236-y

- Foran, D. R., & Peterson, A. C. (1992). Myelin acquisition in the central nervous system of the mouse revealed by an MBP-Lac Z transgene. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 12(12), 4890–4897.
- Fricker, R. A., Carpenter, M. K., Winkler, C., Greco, C., Gates, M. A., & Bjorklund, A. (1999). Site-specific migration and neuronal differentiation of human neural progenitor cells after transplantation in the adult rat brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 19(14), 5990–6005.
- Gage, F. H., Coates, P. W., Palmer, T. D., Kuhn, H. G., Fisher, L. J., Suhonen, J. O., ... Ray, J. (1995). Survival and differentiation of adult neuronal progenitor cells transplanted to the adult brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 92(25), 11879–11883.
- Göttle, P., Manousi, A., Kremer, D., Reiche, L., Hartung, H. P., & Küry, P. (2018). Teriflunomide promotes oligodendroglial differentiation and myelination. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 15(1), 76. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s12974-018-1110-z
- Göttle, P., Sabo, J. K., Heinen, A., Venables, G., Torres, K., Tzekova, N., ... Küry, P. (2015). Oligodendroglial maturation is dependent on intracellular protein shuttling. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(3), 906–919. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1423-14.2015
- Heinen, A., Kremer, D., Göttle, P., Kruse, F., Hasse, B., Lehmann, H., ... Küry, P. (2008). The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p57kip2 is a negative regulator of Schwann cell differentiation and in vitro myelination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(25), 8748–8753. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0802659105
- Herrera, D. G., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., & Alvarez-Buylla, A. (1999). Adultderived neural precursors transplanted into multiple regions in the adult brain. Annals of Neurology, 46(6), 867–877.
- Imayoshi, I., Ohtsuka, T., Metzger, D., Chambon, P., & Kageyama, R. (2006). Temporal regulation of Cre recombinase activity in neural stem cells. *Genesis*, 44(5), 233–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvg.20212
- Jadasz, J. J., Rivera, F. J., Taubert, A., Kandasamy, M., Sandner, B., Weidner, N., ... Küry, P. (2012). p57kip2 regulates glial fate decision in adult neural stem cells. *Development*, 139(18), 3306–3315. https://doi. org/10.1242/dev.074518
- Jadasz, J. J., Tepe, L., Beyer, F., Samper Agrelo, I., Akkermann, R., Spitzhorn, L. S., ... Küry, P. (2018). Human mesenchymal factors induce rat hippocampaland human neural stem cell dependent oligodendrogenesis. *Glia*, 66(1), 145–160. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.23233
- Jaderstad, J., Jaderstad, L. M., & Herlenius, E. (2011). Dynamic changes in connexin expression following engraftment of neural stem cells to striatal tissue. *Experimental Cell Research*, 317(1), 70–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.07.011
- Jäkel, S., Agirre, E., Mendanha Falcão, A., van Bruggen, D., Lee, K. W., Knuesel, I., ... Castelo-Branco, G. (2019). Altered human oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, 566(7745), 543–547. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-0903-2
- Koutsoudaki, P. N., Papastefanaki, F., Stamatakis, A., Kouroupi, G., Xingi, E., Stylianopoulou, F., & Matsas, R. (2016). Neural stem/progenitor cells differentiate into oligodendrocytes, reduce inflammation, and ameliorate learning deficits after transplantation in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. Glia, 64(5), 763–779. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.22959
- Kremer, D., Heinen, A., Jadasz, J., Göttle, P., Zimmermann, K., Zickler, P., ... Küry, P. (2009). p57kip2 is dynamically regulated in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and interferes with oligodendroglial maturation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106(22), 9087–9092. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0900204106
- Lentferink, D. H., Jongsma, J. M., Werkman, I., & Baron, W. (2018). Grey matter OPCs are less mature and less sensitive to IFN gamma than white matter OPCs: Consequences for remyelination. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 2113. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-19934-6

# 406 | WILEY GLIA

- Lim, D. A., & Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2016). The adult ventricular-subventricular zone (V-SVZ) and olfactory bulb (OB) neurogenesis. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 8(5), a018820. https://doi.org/10.1101/ cshperspect.a018820
- Luo, L., Guo, K., Fan, W., Lu, Y., Chen, L., Wang, Y., ... Lu, L. (2017). Niche astrocytes promote the survival, proliferation and neuronal differentiation of co-transplanted neural stem cells following ischemic stroke in rats. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, 13(2), 645–650. https:// doi.org/10.3892/etm.2016.4016
- Margul, D. J., Park, J., Boehler, R. M., Smith, D. R., Johnson, M. A., McCreedy, D. A., ... Seidlits, S. K. (2016). Reducing neuroinflammation by delivery of IL-10 encoding lentivirus from multiple-channel bridges. *Bioengineering & Translational Medicine*, 1(2), 136–148. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/btm2.10018
- Marques, S., Zeisel, A., Codeluppi, S., van Bruggen, D., Mendanha Falcao, A., Xiao, L., ... Castelo-Branco, G. (2016). Oligodendrocyte heterogeneity in the mouse juvenile and adult central nervous system. *Science*, 352 (6291), 1326–1329. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf6463
- Menn, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J. M., Yaschine, C., Gonzalez-Perez, O., Rowitch, D., & Alvarez-Buylla, A. (2006). Origin of oligodendrocytes in the subventricular zone of the adult brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(30), 7907–7918. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1299-06.2006
- Miltiadous, P., Kouroupi, G., Stamatakis, A., Koutsoudaki, P. N., Matsas, R., & Stylianopoulou, F. (2013). Subventricular zone-derived neural stem cell grafts protect against hippocampal degeneration and restore cognitive function in the mouse following intrahippocampal kainic acid administration. *Stem Cells Translational Medicine*, 2(3), 185–198. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2012-0074
- Mizrak, D., Levitin, H. M., Delgado, A. C., Crotet, V., Yuan, J., Chaker, Z., ... Doetsch, F. (2019). Single-cell analysis of regional differences in adult V-SVZ neural stem cell lineages. *Cell Reports*, 26(2), 394–406 e395. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.12.044
- Nait-Oumesmar, B., Decker, L., Lachapelle, F., Avellana-Adalid, V., Bachelin, C., & Baron-Van Evercooren, A. (1999). Progenitor cells of the adult mouse subventricular zone proliferate, migrate and differentiate into oligodendrocytes after demyelination. *The European Journal* of *Neuroscience*, 11(12), 4357–4366.
- Nait-Oumesmar, B., Picard-Riera, N., Kerninon, C., Decker, L., Seilhean, D., Hoglinger, G. U., ... Baron-Van Evercooren, A. (2007). Activation of the subventricular zone in multiple sclerosis: Evidence for early glial progenitors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(11), 4694–4699. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 0606835104
- Pfeifer, K., Vroemen, M., Caioni, M., Aigner, L., Bogdahn, U., & Weidner, N. (2006). Autologous adult rodent neural progenitor cell transplantation represents a feasible strategy to promote structural repair in the chronically injured spinal cord. *Regenerative Medicine*, 1(2), 255–266. https://doi.org/10.2217/17460751.1.2.255
- Picard-Riera, N., Decker, L., Delarasse, C., Goude, K., Nait-Oumesmar, B., Liblau, R., ... Baron-Van Evercooren, A. (2002). Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mobilizes neural progenitors from the subventricular zone to undergo oligodendrogenesis in adult mice. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 99(20), 13211–13216. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.192314199
- Pozniak, C. D., Langseth, A. J., Dijkgraaf, G. J., Choe, Y., Werb, Z., & Pleasure, S. J. (2010). Sox10 directs neural stem cells toward the oligodendrocyte lineage by decreasing suppressor of fused expression. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 107 (50), 21795–21800. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1016485107
- Raedt, R., Van Dycke, A., Waeytens, A., Wyckhuys, T., Vonck, K., Wadman, W., & Boon, P. (2009). Unconditioned adult-derived neurosphere

cells mainly differentiate towards astrocytes upon transplantation in sclerotic rat hippocampus. *Epilepsy Research*, 87(2–3), 148–159. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2009.08.009

- Ravella, A., Ringstedt, T., Brion, J.-P., Pandolfo, M., & Herlenius, E. (2015). Adult neural precursor cells form connexin-dependent networks that improve their survival. *Neuroreport*, 26(15), 928–936. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/WNR.000000000000451
- Rowland, J. W., Hawryluk, G. W., Kwon, B., & Fehlings, M. G. (2008). Current status of acute spinal cord injury pathophysiology and emerging therapies: Promise on the horizon. *Neurosurgical Focus*, 25(5), E2. https://doi.org/10.3171/FOC.2008.25.11.E2
- Schira, J., Gasis, M., Estrada, V., Hendricks, M., Schmitz, C., Trapp, T., ... Muller, H. W. (2012). Significant clinical, neuropathological and behavioural recovery from acute spinal cord trauma by transplantation of a well-defined somatic stem cell from human umbilical cord blood. *Brain*, 135(Pt. 2), 431–446. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awr222
- Seidenfaden, R., Desoeuvre, A., Bosio, A., Virard, I., & Cremer, H. (2006). Glial conversion of SVZ-derived committed neuronal precursors after ectopic grafting into the adult brain. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, 32(1–2), 187–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2006.04.003
- Snaidero, N., & Simons, M. (2014). Myelination at a glance. Journal of Cell Science, 127(14), 2999–3004. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.151043
- Spitzer, S. O., Sitnikov, S., Kamen, Y., Evans, K. A., Kronenberg-Versteeg, D., Dietmann, S., ... Karadottir, R. T. (2019). Oligodendrocyte progenitor cells become regionally diverse and heterogeneous with age. *Neuron*, 101(3), 459–471 e455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.12.020
- Vigano, F., Möbius, W., Götz, M., & Dimou, L. (2013). Transplantation reveals regional differences in oligodendrocyte differentiation in the adult brain. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(10), 1370–1372. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nn.3503
- Vroemen, M., Aigner, L., Winkler, J., & Weidner, N. (2003). Adult neural progenitor cell grafts survive after acute spinal cord injury and integrate along axonal pathways. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(4), 743–751.
- Williamson, J. M., & Lyons, D. A. (2018). Myelin dynamics throughout life: An ever-changing landscape? Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 12, 424. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00424
- Xing, Y. L., Roth, P. T., Stratton, J. A., Chuang, B. H., Danne, J., Ellis, S. L., ... Merson, T. D. (2014). Adult neural precursor cells from the subventricular zone contribute significantly to oligodendrocyte regeneration and remyelination. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(42), 14128–14146. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3491-13.2014
- Yeung, M. S. Y., Djelloul, M., Steiner, E., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Possnert, G., ... Frisen, J. (2019). Dynamics of oligodendrocyte generation in multiple sclerosis. *Nature*, 566(7745), 538–542. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41586-018-0842-3

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Beyer F, Jadasz J, Samper Agrelo I, et al. Heterogeneous fate choice of genetically modulated adult neural stem cells in gray and white matter of the central nervous system. *Glia*. 2020;68:393–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.</u> 1002/glia.23724







# Do Neural Stem Cells Have a Choice? Heterogenic Outcome of Cell Fate Acquisition in Different Injury Models

### Felix Beyer <sup>†</sup>, Iria Samper Agrelo <sup>†</sup> and Patrick Küry <sup>\*</sup>

Department of Neurology, Medical Faculty, Heinrich-Heine-University, D-40225 Düsseldorf, Germany; felix.beyer@uni-duesseldorf.de (F.B.); iria.samperagrelo@med.uni-duesseldorf.de (I.S.A.)

\* Correspondence: kuery@uni-duesseldorf.de; Tel.: +49-211-81-17822; Fax: +49-211-81-18469

+ These authors contributed equally to this work.

Received: 17 December 2018; Accepted: 18 January 2019; Published: 21 January 2019



Abstract: The adult mammalian central nervous system (CNS) is generally considered as repair restricted organ with limited capacities to regenerate lost cells and to successfully integrate them into damaged nerve tracts. Despite the presence of endogenous immature cell types that can be activated upon injury or in disease cell replacement generally remains insufficient, undirected, or lost cell types are not properly generated. This limitation also accounts for the myelin repair capacity that still constitutes the default regenerative activity at least in inflammatory demyelinating conditions. Ever since the discovery of endogenous neural stem cells (NSCs) residing within specific niches of the adult brain, as well as the description of procedures to either isolate and propagate or artificially induce NSCs from various origins ex vivo, the field has been rejuvenated. Various sources of NSCs have been investigated and applied in current neuropathological paradigms aiming at the replacement of lost cells and the restoration of functionality based on successful integration. Whereas directing and supporting stem cells residing in brain niches constitutes one possible approach many investigations addressed their potential upon transplantation. Given the heterogeneity of these studies related to the nature of grafted cells, the local CNS environment, and applied implantation procedures we here set out to review and compare their applied protocols in order to evaluate rate-limiting parameters. Based on our compilation, we conclude that in healthy CNS tissue region specific cues dominate cell fate decisions. However, although increasing evidence points to the capacity of transplanted NSCs to reflect the regenerative need of an injury environment, a still heterogenic picture emerges when analyzing transplantation outcomes in injury or disease models. These are likely due to methodological differences despite preserved injury environments. Based on this meta-analysis, we suggest future NSC transplantation experiments to be conducted in a more comparable way to previous studies and that subsequent analyses must emphasize regional heterogeneity such as accounting for differences in gray versus white matter.

**Keywords:** neural stem cell; subventricular zone; subgranular zone; CNS injury; disease; regeneration; transplantation; therapy; injury environment; regional heterogeneity

### 1. Introduction

Ever since the discovery of naturally occurring neural stem cells (NSCs) residing in discrete niches of the adult mammalian central nervous system (CNS) [1–5], these cryptic cell populations received considerable interest in terms of their contribution to brain plasticity, learning, and repair. In this regard, most work addressed structure, function, and maintenance on stem cell niches located in the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral brain ventricles as well as in the subgranular zone

(SGZ) of the dentate gyrus. Whereas cells with stem-like properties contained within the ependymal cell population of the adult spinal cord [6,7] received less attention. Years of research have brought advances in NSC mediated regeneration and also pointed particularly to NSC grafting into affected CNS tissues and tracts as a potential therapeutic choice for a variety of neuropathologies. Yet, no clinical trial has been able to successfully translate these approaches into clinical treatments. While the large degree of heterogeneity of applied NSCs, even when isolated from defined stem cell niches [8,9], is likely to affect reproducibility, standardization, and clinical translation, different brain regions and injury types additionally contribute to the number of parameters affecting cell fate acquisition. Most NSC mediated regeneration studies focus on stem cell modulation, induced lineage heterogeneity, and their impact on the treated injury. However, an inverse view has rarely been considered so far and is therefore the main scope of this review. In order to interpret the power of an injury microenvironment on grafted cells, one has to elucidate the effects mediated by different CNS regions on introduced cell survival, proliferation, migration, and fate acquisition. We will therefore first discuss injury-free NSC engraftment studies in order to compare different outcomes on the above-mentioned parameters. In the second part, additional impact arising from host tissue injuries and lesion inflicted reactions will be addressed.

While screening the publicly available literature, it became evident that there is a large degree of heterogeneity when it comes to the NSC transplantation procedure itself, related for example to age and species of donor- as well as host tissues, the question whether sorted/enriched cell populations versus mixed cell grafts were applied or concerning time-points at which host tissue and grafted cells were analyzed. Likewise, the localization and type of an injury prior to engraftment of stem cells, as well as their positioning within lesion zones additionally influence cellular integration and differentiation. It would therefore be important to define rate limiting and dominating parameters to ensure a larger degree of comparability across different investigations and to promote the development of protocols that will eventually lead to a successful clinical translation.

### 2. Injury-Free Neural Stem Cell Transplantation Studies

Clinical research depends on animal models, which mimic human disease or injury. For neuropathological studies of the CNS various animal models such as acute and chronic spinal cord injury (SCI); traumatic brain injury (TBI); inflammatory-, genetically-, or chemically induced demyelination/neurodegeneration have been used to assess the impact of NSC transplantation on either lesion amelioration or tissue regeneration. The outcome of these studies shows a surprising degree of variability in terms of cell fate acquisition, migration within the host tissue as well as the implanted cell's potential to fully mature (relevant studies discussed in detail below and summarized in Table 1). To better compare and interpret these differential outcomes an initial assessment of cellular reactions in the healthy CNS is warranted. Whether transplanted NSCs strictly recapitulate a developmental-like program within a non-hostile environment, as described for NSCs and their progenitor descendants in the healthy adult SGZ [10], or whether regional CNS heterogeneity decides on donor cell parameters is therefore a key question.

Reference	Donor NSC Origin	Host Animal	CNS Region	Time Post-Transplantation	Outcome
Seidenfaden et al. 2006	SVZ Mice P5 or P75	Mice (C57BL/6) Six to ten weeks old	Striatum (mainly) Motor cortex Lateral posterior thalamic nucleus	3 wpt and 6 mpt	Survival: independent of the donor animal age Migration: no preference for GM or WM Cell fate: glial
Gage et al. 1995	Hpc Adult female Fischer 344 rats >3 months old 33 passages	Adult female Fischer 344 rats >3 months old	Hippocampus	1, 4, 8, 12 wpt	Survival: yes Migration: some up to 3 mm Cell fate: glial in Cc and neuronal in Hpc
Raedt et al. 2009	SVZ Male mice (C57BL/6×DBA2/J) 10 passages	Sprague Dawley rats 175–200 g	Hippocampus	3 and 6 wpt	Survival: yes Migration: low degree Cell fate: astroglia (38.6%) and neuronal (5.8%)
Herrera et al. 1999	SVZ Mice (NSE-LacZ) 2-3 months old Directly isolated and transplanted	Male mice (CD-1) 2-3 months old	Cortex Striatum Hippocampus Olfactory bulb	2,4,6,8 wpt	Survival: comparable between Str, Cx and OB, less survival in Hpc Migration: only in the OB Cell fate: non-neuronal type-C (or astrocyte) and type-A (neuronal precursor) phenotypes in Cx and Str, neurons in OB
Lois and Alvarez-Buylla 1994	SVZ Mice (NSE-LacZ) Adult -	Mice Adult	Lateral ventricle	30 dpt	Survival: - Migration: along RMS up to OB Cell fate: -
Fricker et al. 1999	Forebrain Human 6.5 to 9 weeks old 9 to 21 passages	Female Sprague Dawley rats Adult (250 g) Immunosuppressed	Dentate gyrus RMS Striatum Subventricular zone	2 and 6 wpt	Survival: yes Migration: low (DC, Str), high (SVZ, RMS) Cell fate: neuroblast features in SVZ and RMS neuronal in OB and Hpc, glial and neuronal in Str
Brock et al. 1998	SVZ Sprague Dawley rats P0, P1, or P2 Transplanted 24 h after isolation VZ Rat embryos E16 to E17 Transplanted 24 h after isolation	Rats P0-P1	Subventricular zone	1 to 4 wpt	Survival: yes Migration: along RMS up to OB (SVZ-NSCs) cells remain at the injection site (VZ-NSCs) Cell fate: neurons
The table provides (froi weight/age), region of i this feature was given in GM/WM—gray- and w gyrus; VZ—ventricular	n left-to-right) information on the c transplantation within the CNS, tim n the original publication. Abbrevia hite matter, respectively; Hpc—hipp zone.	rriginal literature, don te points of analysis, a ttions: SVZ—subventr ocampus; Cc—corpus	or cell origin (tissue, speci nd features of transplantec icular zone; P—postnatal <i>c</i> callosum; Str—striatum; C	ss, age, and passage nu t cells (survival, migrati ay; dpt, wpt, mpt—day <cortex; ob—olfactory<="" td=""><td>mber in culture if applicable), host animals (species, on, cell fate). A "-" indicates that no information on s, weeks, months post-transplantation, respectively; / bulb; RMS—rostral migratory stream; DG—dentate</td></cortex;>	mber in culture if applicable), host animals (species, on, cell fate). A "-" indicates that no information on s, weeks, months post-transplantation, respectively; / bulb; RMS—rostral migratory stream; DG—dentate

Table 1. Summary of injury-free NSC transplantation studies.

Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2019, 20, 455

3 of 22

Using NSCs isolated from the SVZ of either postnatal day (P)5 or P75 old mice for transplantation into the striatum, motor cortex, and lateral posterior thalamic nucleus, Seidenfaden and colleagues showed that transplanted cell survival is independent of the donor animal age—at least when comparing immature postnatal- to young adult brains [11]. Furthermore, they observed that when these cells were implanted into the healthy striatum of adult mice, they did not show any migratory preference for either gray matter (GM) or white matter (WM) structures. In terms of fate choice, these SVZ-derived NSCs that are rather primed to take on a neuronal fate in their in vivo niche [12], primarily adopted glial phenotypes equally split between astroglia and oligodendroglia. Similar cell fates were observed in the additional transplantation regions such as cerebral motor cortex and lateral posterior thalamic nucleus. Surprisingly, even when grafted cells were enriched for neuronal precursors by means of the neuronal marker polysialylated neuronal cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM) and subsequently transplanted into the healthy striatum, the fate outcome in vivo was unchanged compared to non-sorted cells, indicating that striatal cues dominantly suppress neuronal lineage and favor glial descendants.

A related transplantation study used rats instead of mice for both donor cells as well as host animals [13]. However, "cells capable of proliferation and neurogenesis" [13] from the adult rat hippocampus were used as donor cells and most likely represent the NSC pool of the SGZ, which are even more neuronal primed as compared to SVZ-derived cells. Additionally, prior to transplantation these cells were passaged for over 1.5 years. Despite these numerous differences, fate acquisition was again mainly described as being glial (analyzed by morphology) upon transplantation back into the hippocampus and subsequent analysis in hippocampus and the adjacent corpus callosum. Furthermore, even though some degree of cell migration was described (adjacent to striatum and corpus callosum), it was considered as minor and the majority of cells remained close to the injection site. Of note, transplanted cells found in the corpus callosum, a region absent of neuronal cell bodies and primarily characterized by myelinating oligodendrocytes (OLs) and oligodendroglial precursor cells (OPCs), adopted an oligodendroglial morphology. Only transplanted cells directly located in the granule cell layer of the hippocampus, indeed acquired a neuronal cell fate, which, even back then, evoked the author's statement that "the in vivo fate of these cells is clearly influenced by exogenous factors" [13]. In contrast to these two allotransplantations (transplantation in which the donor material is derived from a different donor of the same species), Raedt and colleagues xenografted (donor and host differ in species) SVZ-derived NSCs from young mice, which additionally were propagated over 10 passages prior to transplantation, into the adult rat hippocampus [14]. Similar to Gage's observations, transplanted cells did not show high degrees of migration except for a few cells entering the granule cell layer of the hippocampus. However, in contrast to SGZ-derived NSCs, some of these SVZ-NSCs were detected close to the SVZ of the host rat, indicating SVZ niche specific cues, which might have attracted intra-hippocampal SVZ-NSC grafts. Even though oligodendroglial differentiation was not accessed, the majority of surviving NSC descendants were positive for glial markers such as astroglial glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (38.6%) and only a few cells (5.8%) showed mature neuronal marker RNA binding protein, fox-1 homolog (C. elegans) 3 (Rbfox3 or NeuN) expression, which is in agreement with earlier observations [11,13].

Further support for the assumption that exogenous factors influence the fate of transplanted NSCs [13] resulted from an extensive transplantation study published four years later [15]. While different injection sites within young adult, non-injured mice were chosen, a defined single donor cell condition was maintained for all transplantations, allowing for a direct comparison of fate acquisition and other cell properties within different brain regions. Neural stem cell survival rates were largely comparable between striatum, cortex, and olfactory bulb indicating that no preferential survival cues are expressed and secreted in these brain regions. Hippocampus implanted cells, however, survived less well for non-disclosed reasons. Moreover, it was also stated that proliferation (or even tumorigenesis resulting from aberrant cell expansion) was not observed among transplanted NSCs—an observation that was confirmed by many follow-up studies in the field. Whether this implies

the existence of mechanisms that actively restrict NSC division outside of their niches or whether this is rather a consequence of host-initiated cell differentiation remains to be shown but is promising in light of preventing the generation of brain tumors such as for example glioblastoma. Given that donor cells were acutely isolated from the adult SVZ and were therefore more primed towards neuronal differentiation subsequent analysis of fate choice in this study must be interpreted carefully, as even mentioned by the authors. Cortex- and striatum-transplanted cells attained primarily non-neuronal type-C (or astrocyte) and type-A (neuronal precursor) phenotypes. On the other hand, when these cells were transplanted into the olfactory bulb, a region receiving neuronal progenitors via the rostral migratory stream (RMS) more mature granule neurons were found to descend from transplanted NSCs [15]. Moreover, significant cell migration was observed in this situation. Of note, donor SVZ cells were isolated from a transgenic mouse line in which LacZ was expressed under the control of the neuron-specific enolase (NSE) promotor, which limits a proper analysis of fate choice due to reporter restriction to neuronal descendants. Still, some degree of astrocytic phenotype acquisition was observed indicating that the transgenic NSE promotor activity was not too specific. Oligodendroglial differentiation was not assessed in this study.

For a successful treatment of neurological conditions such as multiple sclerosis (MS) or adrenoleukodystrophies transplanted NSCs would have to distribute well within diseased brains in order to access multiple and irregularly dispersed lesions. Active migration within the brain parenchyma appears indeed to be a rare feature of implanted NSCs as for example transplantation of SVZ-derived NSCs into neighboring SVZ regions of adult healthy mice did not result in any observable migration activities [16]. Transplantation into the lateral ventricle, however, resulted in migration along the RMS up to the olfactory bulb, indicating that also artificially implemented cells are restricted to naturally occurring migration routes and cues.

Supporting evidence that brain region specific cues act across different species arose from a subsequent study in which embryonic human NSCs (huNSCs) were applied to injury-free models [17]. Here, donor cells extracted from 6.5 to 9-week-old embryonic human forebrains and subsequently expanded over 9 to 21 passages were transplanted into either the dentate gyrus, the RMS, the striatum, or the SVZ of adult immunosuppressed rats. These multipotent NSCs showed no tumor formation within the first six weeks post transplantation. In line with the previous reports on rodent-to-rodent transplantations, only minor NSC migration was observed into dentate gyrus or striatum. Moreover, such low migration rates were questioned in terms of whether they result from true (host evoked) cell movement or rather from random dispersion as consequence of pressure implemented during the implantation procedure. Similar to rodent-to-rodent NSC engraftments, larger migration activities were only observed when huNSCs were transplanted into the SVZ or RMS. In there, these embryonic cells adopted features similar to those of the surrounding endogenous neuroblasts. Interestingly, despite the multipotency and the rather high proliferative capacity of these huNSCs of embryonic origin, they adopted exclusively a neuronal fate when reaching the olfactory bulb or within the neuronal SGZ of the hippocampus. On the other hand, within the striatum, both glial- and neuronal NSC derivatives were described. Since NeuN expression was still absent these were most likely immature neuronal cells—a notion which supports the above-mentioned type-A cell (neuronal precursor) generation by rodent NSCs in the striatum [15]. Absent NeuN expression was also reported for the majority of host neurons in the striatum [17]. In this regard, the use of additional neuronal markers in order to achieve a more detailed description of the acquired cell fate resulted in the observation that the acquired neuronal phenotypes of engrafted NSC derivatives matched the neuronal population of the host striatum. Here, the authors describe that the transplanted NSCs differentiated into either glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD) 67-, calbindin-, or dopamine- and cAMP-regulated neuronal phosphoprotein-(DARPP-) 32-positive neurons, three neuronal types located in the host tissue [17].

The astonishing impact especially the RMS exerts on transplanted NSCs was corroborated by yet another study [18]. This investigation provides additional support for the SVZ/RMS environment acting as key guidance structure for transplanted cells since neonatal SVZ-derived NSCs transplanted

into the neonatal SVZ migrated with the same properties (route, speed, morphology) along the RMS as the endogenous cells arising from the SVZ. Even at their final destination in the olfactory bulb, the ratio of granule- versus glomerular-cell layer infiltration was maintained at 3:1, independent of whether these were transplanted NSCs or endogenous NSC-derived neuroblasts. However, when embryonic ventricular zone-derived cells were used they found that these NSCs never entered the RMS pathway but strictly remained at the injection sites within the neonatal SVZ. The authors thus suggested that this might be due to their inability to recognize specific guidance cues along postnatal migratory routes, which could be attributed to naturally different migratory properties and their role in populating the developing neocortex [18,19]. Nevertheless, this described inability to migrate along the RMS is contradictory to results by Fricker and colleagues, who also used embryonic NSCs (although from human embryonic tissue) and reported migration along the host RMS. Apart from species-specific migratory properties, observed differences in the migratory behavior could also derive from the fact that Brock and colleagues analyzed host brains only up to 15 days post-transplantation whereas the other team analyzed host brains six weeks post-transplantation into the SVZ. Moreover, human embryonic NSCs were passaged between 9 and 12 times prior to transplantation [17], potentially impacting a number of cellular parameters (for comparison see Table 1).

### 3. Brain Pathology Models and Their Heterogenic Impact on NSC Fate

Comparing outcomes of NSC transplantation in different neuropathological or injury inflicted models is important in order to understand the adaptability NSCs are capable of and also for the development of CNS repair strategies. Nevertheless, due to the high degree of variation and heterogeneity across the different model systems this section will focus on selected models representing both common and rare as well as global and focal pathologies. Working out the details between different injury models, and taking into account heterogenic responses of different brain regions depends on comparable starting conditions. This includes information on donor age, on the particular donor stem cell niche, on isolated cell types and whether they were propagated in culture or whether genetic manipulation was applied prior to transplantation. Moreover, variations deriving from different model systems will also be considered.

### 3.1. Dysmyelinating Neuropathologies

Treatment of hereditary white matter disorders characterized by abnormal or complete absence of myelin due to mutations in genes encoding for myelin proteins (such as in Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease) will most likely depend on engraftment of healthy cells giving rise to functionally unimpaired myelin forming oligodendrocytes. In shiverer mice (shi) homozygous mutations in the myelin basic protein (MBP) gene lead to the absence of MBP expression and consequently to low levels of compact and functional myelin [20,21] and it therefore serves as an animal model for dysmyelinating neuropathologies. Intracerebroventricular transplantation of C17.2 NSCs (an immortalized cell line derived from neonatal mouse cerebellum) into newborn (P0) shi mice resulted in excessive cell migration within the brain parenchyma, both into GM and WM. The degree of oligodendroglial differentiation was significantly higher when engrafted into these myelination deficient mice as compared to wildtype hosts. While in healthy mice 16% of the transplanted cells differentiated into the oligodendroglial lineage, up to 28% of them generated oligodendroglia in the shi brain [22]. This might therefore reflect the need for myelinating glial cells in the shiverer CNS but also the capacity of NSCs to sense and react to such a deficient background. This is a promising hint that NSCs can indeed compensate according to missing/impaired cell types and, as stated by the authors: "Such behavior might reflect a fundamental developmental strategy with therapeutic utility".

However, intracerebroventricular transplantation of the same NSC cell line (C17.2) into shi mice of comparable age (P1-P3) resulted in mainly neuronal differentiation [23]. While this was primarily a feasibility study and the primary focus of this study was not on cell fate acquisition, the authors still state that no oligodendroglial differentiation, and hence no myelin production, was observed.

7 of 22

Transplanted NSCs did accumulate into the surrounding parenchyma and expressed the neuronal marker TuJ-1 [23]. Interestingly, C17.2 cells were a courtesy of the former-mentioned study's senior author (Prof. Evan Snyder) and in both studies homozygous mouse mutants (*shi/shi*) were used as host animals, which in terms of methodology makes these studies highly comparable. Therefore, the reason for such differential fate outcome remains obscure.

Studies in which transplantation experiments were performed using different (neural) stem cell types but exclusively applying a single neuropathological model are of special value since methodological differences can be ruled out. When adult forebrain SVZ neural precursor cells (aNPCs) were grafted into the dysmyelinated spinal cord of shiverer rats, the majority differentiated into oligodendroglial cells and even into mature myelinating OLs [24]. In contrast, transplantation of embryonic stem cell-derived primitive neural stem cells (pNSCs) into the same model did not result in successful integration and even led to heterotoma formation. However, definitive NSCs (dNSCs) which were also investigated in this study and which derived from pNSCs by leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) application revealed oligodendroglial fate acquisition and generation of mature myelinating cells comparable to aNPC descendants. For dNSCs and aNPCs differentiation into oligodendroglia was in the range of 48–58% whereas only 3–4% astrocytes and 3–4% neurons were observed. Thus, a natural restriction point for (neural) stem cells appears to exist deciding on whether and when they are able to properly react to neuropathological dysfunctions and deficits, at least in a dysmyelinated environment such as the shiverer rodent.

#### 3.2. Traumatic Brain Injury

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) results from forced impact to the skull and brain, which leads to a primary- (direct negative influence on tissue architecture and homeostasis) as well as a secondary (cell death, inflammation) injury [25]. Due to their multipotent nature, NSC transplantation into TBI lesions is thus considered as a promising approach for broad cell replacement and functional improvement.

The study by Koutsoudaki and colleagues elegantly demonstrated the non-necessity of NSC modulation prior to transplantation into injured adult mouse brains. Upon TBI to the hippocampus by stabbing multiple times 2 mm deep through the cortex, corpus callosum, and hippocampus, non-modified (reporter-gene expression only) and insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF1) overexpressing NSCs (mouse P5, SVZ-derived) were transplanted close to the lesion site. Considering fate outcome as well as functional improvement (as assessed by the Morris Water Maze test, MWM), no differences between IGF1 producing and reporter gene only expressing NSCs were observed. Both cell populations ameliorated injury-induced spatial learning deficits and in both cases transplanted NSCs mainly differentiated into oligodendroglial cells [26]. As in some hippocampal injury procedures, also white matter structures of the corpus callosum are disrupted resulting in focal oligodendrocyte death [27], subsequent migration of NSCs into the corpus callosum and oligodendroglial differentiation (both in the corpus callosum and hippocampus) are probably driven by the need to repair WM structures. However, this observation is somehow in contrast to what has been described in injury-free hippocampus transplantations, where mainly astroglial and neuronal differentiation was described [13,14]. Since in both experimental set-ups (studies by Gage et al. and Raedt et al.) fate acquisition was largely comparable despite different donor cell origin, differences in terms of a higher OL differentiation in Koutsoudaki's TBI model might be best explained by an injury-dependent change in the tissue microenvironment.

In contrast to the TBI wound induced by a blunt-end needle, which also disrupts WM structures [26], the modified Feeney method was used to injure the cortical motor area in rats [28]. Unfortunately, from the data presented in this study it is not clear whether this modified method also results in hemorrhage in the underlying WM leading to the formation of a necrotic cavity within the corpus callosum as originally described [29]. According to the authors, transplantation of mouse embryonic hippocampus-derived NSCs 3 mm from the lesion (rostral, caudal, left, and right) at the day of injury resulted in migration of these NSCs towards the injured region. Analysis of fate

choice revealed that a few transplanted NSCs gave rise to TuJ-1-positive neurons and GFAP-positive astrocytes [28]. Differentiation into oligodendroglial cells was not reported so it can only be assumed that this modified procedure did not harm WM structures.

In a comparable experimental set up (modified Feeney method) neonatal mouse hippocampus-derived NSCs were transplanted 24 h after injury into the pericontusional region [30]. Similar to the above-mentioned investigation transplanted NSCs survived, migrated towards the lesion site differentiating into few TuJ-1-positive neurons and GFAP-positive astrocytes [30]. Although this study focused on BDNF expression-mediated effects of NSCs on the extent of injury and subsequent functional improvements, a proper description of all three cell types (neuronal, astroglial, as well as oligodendroglial cells) was not provided.

#### 3.3. Temporal Lobe Epilepsy

Temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) is a common form seen in about 30% of epileptic patients. By injecting kainic acid (KA) into the rodent hippocampus or the SVZ, neurodegeneration is induced and neuronal cell death and functional impairments similar to TLE patients can be mimicked. While NSC transplantation has also been investigated in terms of trophic support these NSCs can confer to the damaged environment, this section will focus on the aspect of NSC mediated cell replacement and fate choice.

Since kainate induced hippocampal degeneration represents a focal CNS injury, transplantation of P5 mouse SVZ-derived NSCs into the hippocampus close to the injection site resulted in only minor migration towards the lesion area [31]. Stem cell marker (nestin) expression as well as transplanted NSC proliferation were rarely or not all observed after longer time-points (up to 60 days) post-transplantation [31]. Interestingly, transplantation of NSCs directly into such kainate-treated tissues led to significant differences in fate choice compared to non-injured or TBI-injured hippocampi. Basically no glial cells as assessed by GFAP- and O4 staining for astrocytes and oligodendroglia, respectively, derived from the transplanted NSCs within the kainate injured hippocampus. Instead, approximately 36% of the engrafted cells were immunopositive for the neuronal marker NeuN and the majority of cells expressed the neuronal progenitor marker doublecortin (Dcx) [31]. Further highlighting the major impact an injury microenvironment can exert on engrafted NSCs, the authors also demonstrated that only few or even no beneficial effects could be attributed to IGF1 overexpressing NSCs when looking at later time-points. In fact they observed, that the naïve NSCs did not express IGF1 in culture but rather adapted this beneficial feature upon transplantation into the kainate-treated hippocampus. The exact reason for the cognitive improvement (MWM test) upon NSC transplantation needs further investigation since several beneficial effects of the NSC transplants were described such as neuronal cell replacement, IGF1 expression, decreased astroglial activation as well as normalized proliferation rates in the dentate gyrus. In terms of clinical translation, these results might also be promising for the development of potential treatment options for patients with TLE.

While transplantation of NSCs into the kainate-induced neurodegenerative hippocampus resulted in mostly neuronal differentiation and ameliorated cognitive function [31], another TLE study using NSCs derived from the embryonic rat medial ganglionic eminence (mgeNSCs) showed substantial different cell fates and behavioral outcome. Hippocampal neurodegeneration was induced by injecting kainate intraperitoneally in rats to generate a chronic injury and NSCs were therefore transplanted several months later [32]. In this situation, the majority of transplanted mgeNSCs differentiated into astrocytes (57%). Only a minor fraction differentiated into mature NeuN expressing neurons (13%), GABAergic interneurons (10%) and into few OPCs (3%). This finding seems contradictory to the hypothesis that the same kind of injury microenvironment exerts a dominant impact on the fate of (different) engrafted NSCs, indicating that timing is another critical factor, not only in terms of survival and integration as revealed for spinal cord injuries but also for acquired cell fates. It can therefore be assumed that chronic neurodegeneration has changed the injury microenvironment so that it mainly contains astrogenic cues (perhaps in a more rapid manner than the healthy hippocampus as it becomes more astrogenic with age anyways [33]). This is also supported by the observation that the majority of cultured mgeNSCs differentiated into neurons and OPCs in vitro [32]. Consequently, while in acute TLE lesions neuronal fate acquisition and cognitive improvement were observed [31], NSC transplantation in chronic TLE lesions resulted in astroglial differentiation, subsequent GDNF expression, a restored GDNF expression in host astrocytes, no cognitive improvement (MWM) but beneficial effects on spontaneous recurrent motor seizures (SRMS) [32]. How engrafted NSCs sense such subtle environmental changes remains to be investigated. Of note, no or only minor migration of transplanted cells within the hippocampal tissue and no tumor formation was observed in both acute and chronic TLE models.

A further TLE study also reported primarily astroglial fate choices although NSCs were transplanted into an acute TLE model [14]. A change in the injury microenvironment over time was supported by the observation that transplantation of mouse SVZ neurospheres at three weeks post-kainate lesion significantly improved the survival of transplanted cells compared to implantation after only three days. The striking differences in fate outcome despite similar starting conditions might indeed be dependent on subtle variations of transplanted cells. Raedt and colleagues used NSCs derived from young adult mouse SVZ, which were passaged at least ten times in vitro prior to transplantation, whereas Miltiadous' team used NSCs derived from P5 mice, which were propagated for "at least 3-4 passages". Moreover, while Raedt and colleagues xenografted mouse cells into the rat TLE model, the other group induced TLE in mouse hippocampi and grafted mouse cells. In addition, while Raedt's team transplanted SVZ NSC-derived neurospheres into kainate injection sites, Miltiadous' group transplanted dissociated SVZ-derived NSCs 600 µm away from the initial kainate injection site into the more rostral part of the injured hippocampus. Finally, the xenografting procedure was accompanied by cyclosporine application for immunosuppression, which can exert additional influences on the injury microenvironment due to a diminished immune response. Of note, beneficial effects of cyclosporine have been described for different injury models [34–36].

Another interesting finding is that SVZ-derived NSCs transplanted into healthy non-injured hippocampi were also located close to the SVZ several weeks after transplantation [14]—a distribution that was, however, not seen in TLE animals. This suggests that SVZ-derived NSCs can sense cues from the SVZ, which can be overridden by signals from the injured hippocampal tissue. Such a potential signal hierarchy with injury-derived signals dominating over naïve cues could be promising when it comes to NSC transplants in neuropathologies featuring dispersed lesions such as in MS.

### 3.4. Sly Disease

Sly disease is a rare hereditary lysosomal storage disorder, characterized by the deficiency in β-glucuronidase (GUSB) and subsequent accumulation of glycosaminglycans in many organs including the brain leading to mental retardation. Applying NSCs as early as technically feasible might provide a potential therapeutic approach in order to restore global dysfunction of the developing brain. The mucopolysaccharidosis VII (MPS VII) mouse strain mimics human sly disease pathological features. Upon transplantation of GUSB-expressing C17.2 NSCs into lateral ventricles of neonatal MPS VII mice, cells distributed and integrated in the whole brain and no tumorigenesis was observed [37]. Widespread integration into most brain regions (from olfactory bulb back to the hippocampal area) is most likely attributed to the global impact of the developing brain since a similar distribution was described in healthy animals [37]. Interestingly, donor cells did not spread completely throughout the whole brain, since in regions to which cells from the host SVZ do not contribute (e.g., retina) GUSB activity from donor cells was absent. Integration into the host brain tissue was maintained for up to 12 months post-transplantation indicating that even in a less beneficial environment (MPS VII brain) NSCs might be capable of surviving and contributing to normal CNS homeostasis. Morphological analysis three weeks post-transplantation revealed "normal neural morphologies" [37]. However, a detailed immunohistochemical characterization was missing. In light of the observations from this study it will be of interest to see whether also in mouse injury models with distinct focal brain region
impairment (e.g., stab wound to the cortical tissue) NSC transplantation into the neonatal developing brain would result into more widespread cell integration as opposed to the generally observed focal NSC occurrence around adult lesion sites.

## 3.5. Stroke

The lack of oxygen supply in the brain results in ischemic stroke, leading to irreversible neuronal damage [38]. Ischemia can be induced in the rodent brain via middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) resulting in a similar striatal injury as in stroke patients. Upon intrastriatal transplantation of embryonic cortical mouse NSCs, which in vitro primarily express nestin and immature neuronal markers (Dcx, β-III-Tub) and incorporate BrdU (labeling proliferative cells), into non-MCAO rat brains, these cells did not migrate and the majority died within a few days [39]. However, in MCAO rats where the ischemic epicenter lies in the striatum, transplanted cells survived and migrated throughout the ischemic striatum [39]. In terms of fate acquisition, sham and MCAO striatal tissue both allowed differentiation of engrafted NSCs into neuronal cells, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. The majority of NSCs in fact differentiated into GFAP-positive astrocytes and into Dcx-positive neuronal precursors—a pattern that was also described upon grafting of embryonic human NSCs into the healthy striatum [17]. Of note, the number of generated mature NeuN-positive neurons increased in the MCAO group compared to sham animals six days post-transplantation [39]. Interestingly, upon transplantation into the lateral ventricle of the adult rat (MCAO or sham), robust migration into the striatum was only observed in the MCAO group [39]. Here, assessment of fate choice in the ischemic striatum revealed an increase in Hu-positive neuronal cells while astroglial differentiation was decreased compared to sham operated animals six days post-intracerebroventricular transplantation. The high proportion in astroglial descendants of the intrastriatal-compared to intracerebroventricular-transplantations could thus reflect the acute necessity for functional astrocytes following MCAO. Furthermore, while transplantation of neonatal mouse SVZ-derived NSCs into the rat striatum 48 h following MCAO also resulted in neuronal differentiation (22%) accompanied by cells with astroglial- and oligodendroglial fates, co-transplantation of astrocytes and NSCs resulted in an increase in generated neurons (37%) [40]. Such co-transplantation also led to a higher ratio of proliferating and surviving NSCs seven days after transplantation.

Transplantation of neurosphere-derived cells from neonatal mice hence containing NSCs, various progenitors and more differentiated cells [41] into the ventricle of 12-week-old mice four hours following MCAO resulted in migration into striatal- and cortical tissue. Sham operated animals receiving the same grafts were devoid of donor cells in the brain parenchyma [41]. Even though neuronal fate acquisition was not assessed, early time-point analyses (one and seven days post-transplantation) revealed nestin-, GFAP-, as well as chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 4- (Cspg4 or NG2) positive NSC descendants which, however, had disappeared after 14 days. Assessment of mRNA expression in the cortex revealed an increase in various cytokine- and trophic factor messages (such as CXCL12, TGF- $\beta$ 1, VEGF-A, IGF1, and BDNF) in the transplantation-free MCAO-group compared to sham operated animals, which points towards a rapid host initiated regeneration reaction. Interestingly, the authors report further increased transcript levels in the ischemic group, which received NSC transplants [41]. Even though mRNA origin (host or donor) could not be discriminated, transplanted NSCs thus appear to also modulate endogenous repair mechanisms.

Regarding differences in the microenvironment of ischemic brain regions over time, Darsalia and colleagues compared the differential outcome of intrastriatally transplanted human fetal striatal NSCs 48 h and six weeks after stroke. Transplantation after 48 h following stroke resulted in a higher NSC survival rate as compared to transplantation at the later time-point. However, different time-points did not affect the extent of migration, differentiation and proliferation. Interestingly, analysis of neuronal fate acquisition revealed no change in the percentage of Dcx-positive neuroblasts but for both transplantation time-points the percentage was lower as compared to injury-free animals [42]. Such observations are indeed relevant in light of the necessity to conduct autologous transplantation

procedures at rather late stages in stroke patients. Moreover, looking at the currently available studies it becomes clear that fate acquisition of transplanted NSCs in the MCAO stroke model must be analyzed more carefully in future studies taking into account all neural lineages NSCs can give rise to, their maturation kinetics as well as subregional differences. This is even more important in light of the current assumption that transplanted NSCs can reflect, to some degree, the regenerative need of an injury environment.

### 3.6. Multiple Sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease characterized by oligodendrocyte and myelin loss, which ultimately leads to axonal degeneration and subsequent sensory, motor, and cognitive dysfunction [43]. The most common animal model used for recapitulation of mainly inflammatory aspects of this disease is experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). The majority of the here considered studies used myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG<sub>35–55</sub>) peptide induced EAE, which leads to a T-cell mediated autoimmune response towards oligodendrocytes with the first symptoms appearing ten days after initial immunization.

Intracerebroventricular transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived early multipotent neural precursor cells (hESC-NPCs) demonstrated robust migration into the host WM, which led to significantly reduced clinical sings of EAE in host mice [44]. The beneficial effects presumably resulted from diminution of inflammatory processes and subsequent reduced demyelination, as well as axonal damage [44].

Further evidence for a high migratory activity of implanted cells in the EAE brain derived from a report on human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived NSCs (iPSC-NSCs) having migrated into the dentate gyrus one month following intraventricular transplantation in EAE mice [45]. Co-localization of reporter protein-positive iPSC-NSCs and neuronal protein TuJ-1 indicated integration of graft-derived neurons into injured areas of the dentate gyrus. Two months following transplantation endogenous remyelination in the marginal zone of the WM was detectable. Thus, iPSC-NSCs dramatically reduced T-cell infiltration and ameliorated EAE dependent demyelination resulting in functional recovery [45]. It seems striking that in contrast to dysmyelinating pathologies [22,24] no substantial oligodendroglial differentiation of transplanted NSCs was described. Since endogenous remyelination was in fact detected, such effects either resulted from an immunomodulatory action of the stem cells, along with some of them giving rise to neurons, eventually tuning down the T-cell response. Alternatively, transplanted NSCs might also have activated host OPCs to differentiate and myelinate.

Minor regeneration promoting effects using allogenic NSCs were also reported for a chronic EAE model, into which transplantation was performed 40 days post-immunization. Here, treatment with non-modified bone marrow-derived (BM) NSCs (derived from six- to eight-week-old mice) [46] blocked the demyelination process but did not favor remyelination in the diseased spinal cord. On the other hand, BM-NSCs molecularly engineered to produce LINGO-1-Fc, a soluble LINGO-1 (leucine rich repeat and IG domain containing 1) antagonist (LINGO-1's role in neuropathologies is reviewed in [47]), significantly promoted remyelination in the chronic stage of EAE and reduced further demyelination processes as compared to control animals [48]. Additionally, LINGO-1-Fc expressing BM-NSCs significantly promoted neurological recovery. Histological assessment revealed improvements in axonal integrity, enhancement of oligodendrocyte maturation, and neuronal repopulation of the degenerated areas.

While the two previous studies report minor regeneration promoting effects using allogenic or naïve NSCs in EAE mice, Einstein and colleagues could show that intraventricularly transplanted striatal newborn rat multipotential NSCs migrated into inflamed WM tracts and subsequently differentiated into glial cells in EAE rats. This transplantation strategy resulted in a reduced inflammation of the host brain and ameliorated the disease course. Whether beneficial effects were due to additional processes attributed to particularly the rat system remains open.

Intraventricular transplantation of both, glial-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) overexpressing-(GDNF-NSCs) or naïve newborn rat cerebrum-derived NSCs ten days following EAE induction led to a delayed disease onset and significant reduction of clinical EAE signs [49]. More specifically, GDNF-NSC receiving rats recovered five days earlier to basal gait as opposed to rats that received non-modified NSCs. This observation might be attributed to the significant reduction in the number of inflammatory infiltrates in the striatum and the lower number of cells within each infiltrate in animals receiving naive NSCs or even to a greater extent upon application of GDNF-NSCs. Interestingly, the majority of NSCs migrated specifically towards inflamed areas in the corpus callosum and striatum. In addition, assessment of GDNF-NSC differentiation in the striatum revealed a significantly higher neuronal and oligodendroglial fate acquisition as compared to naïve NSCs. The latter of which preferentially generated GFAP-positive astrocytes.

## 3.7. Alzheimer's Disease

Neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease (AD) results in learning deficits and dementia. In a murine AD model (APP/PS1 mice), neuron-specific Thy1 promotor driving the co-expression of KM670/671NL mutated amyloid precursor protein (APP) and of L166P mutated presenilin-1 (PS1) leads to human amyloid depositions and local neuronal loss in the dentate gyrus [49,50]. The majority of hippocampus transplanted neonatal mouse SVZ-derived NSCs (primed towards the neuronal lineage by retinoic acid application in vitro) differentiated into neurons [51]. However, despite neuronal priming 24% of the total NSC population still differentiated into glial cells, implying the additional necessity to replace glial cells as well. In total, 8% NSC-derived oligodendroglia were reported—a surprising finding considering that upon NSC transplantation into the healthy hippocampus or hippocampal TLE models almost no oligodendroglial differentiation was described [14,31,32]. Unfortunately, efforts aiming at the identification of additional progenitor populations were not undertaken. A variety of AD mouse models have been generated, such as for example APP/PS1, B6C3-Tg, 5xFAD, 3xTg, APPSw-NSE (www.alzforum.org) [50,52–55] of which the APP/PS1 model is most widely used featuring amyloid plaque generation, mild to robust neuronal cell loss and cognitive impairments [51,56–62] and reporting on cognitive improvement after NSC transplantation [56,57,61,62]. However, Marsh and colleagues showed that fetal-derived human NSCs engrafted into the hippocampus migrated up to 1.7 mm and were detected in the lateral ventricle five months after transplantation, where they failed to differentiate and formed ectopic human cell clusters. Probably due to the lack of differentiation, the authors found no evidence for cognitive improvement [63]. Using an APPSw-NSE transgenic mouse line, lateral ventricle transplanted fetal human telencephalon NSCs (13 weeks of gestation) showed extensive migratory activity as indicated by broad distribution of these cells in SVZ, WM tracts, striatum, thalamus, hypothalamus and cortex. Some of the transplanted NSCs differentiated into neuronal- (5.8%) and glial cells (oligodendroglia 2.3% and astroglia 11.7%) but most of them remained nestin-positive (82.4%). Despite the low differentiation rate, transplantation of these NSCs resulted in improved spatial memory, decreased tau phosphorylation, lowered Aβ42 levels, and attenuated microgliosis and astrogliosis [58]. The observed contribution to regeneration was therefore unlikely a consequence of direct cell replacement but rather due to trophic, modulatory effects.

Interestingly, most of the compiled studies report that transplanted NSCs showed high migratory behavior leaving injection sites [56–65]. In addition, transplanted cells that remained mostly undifferentiated were mainly reported in cases where human NSCs were used [57,58,63]. Whether this reflects a natural restriction of human cells to adapt to an AD related environment remains to be shown. On the other hand, murine NSCs preferentially acquired either astrocytic [59,60,62,64] or neuronal fates [51]. While some studies report increased synaptic densities following NSC transplantation with a concomitant reduction in Aß concentration [56,58] others declare positive effects of transplanted NSCs without Aß alterations [51,57,62].

Using a chemical model to mimic AD related neuropathological features by okadaic acid injection into the lateral ventricles [65] only transplantation of rat NSCs (both derived from the SVZ or SGZ

of embryonic rats) overexpressing human nerve growth factor (NGF-NSCs) led to robust survival, migration, and integration while non-overexpressing NSCs did not. Besides, NGF expressing cells also enhanced cognitive performance. Whether this is due to an inhibited differentiation process, as reported for other AD studies, remains to be shown as no detailed assessment of fate choice was performed [65].

# 3.8. Huntington's Disease

Huntington's disease (HD) is an inherited neurodegenerative disease caused by the progressive loss of GABAergic medium spiny neurons (MSNs) in the striatum. Injection of 3-nitropropionic acid (3-NP) into the striatum serves as an animal model to mimic HD symptoms and related neurodegenerative aspects. Transplantation of human NSCs (v-myc immortalized and derived from fetal telencephalic tissue) into the injured striatum one week prior to the injury resulted in decreased loss of striatal neurons as well as the appearance of calbindin-expressing (marker for medium spiny striatal projection neurons) donor cell-derived neurons [66]. Upon immunohistochemical analysis of the grafting site, the authors stated that the transplanted NSCs were able to read signals operating in the damaged striata and to appropriately differentiate into GABAergic neurons. However, transplantation of the same NSC pool 12 h after the 3-NP injection did not confer such beneficial effects. As only a single time-point at one week post-3-NP injection was immunohistochemically analyzed, it is therefore possible, that the observation window was too small in order to detect a similar cell replacement role of these NSCs in this second set-up. A further study using YAC128 mice as yet another HD animal model confirmed that transplanted mouse iPSC-derived NSCs are capable of replacing lost neurons in the striatum [67]. YAC128 mice carry a full-length human mutant huntingtin gene (mHTT), which leads to selective, age-dependent progressive impairments in motor- and cognitive functions due to neuronal loss in the striatum [68–70]. Upon transplantation of mouse iPSC-derived NSCs into YAC128 mice, these mice showed better motor function (rotarod test), which was accompanied by neuronal differentiation of transplanted NSCs [67]. These mature NeuN-positive neurons were also positive for DARPP-32 (medium-sized spiny striatal projection neurons)—a feature that was also observed in injury-free striatal transplantation studies [17]. Moreover, it was of interest to see that NSC transplantation into control (wildtype) mice resulted in decreased survival of the engrafted cell population as opposed to the YAC128 striatum indicating a beneficial role of the diseased host environment. This observation finds further support by a transplantation study in which another chemical HD animal model was investigated. Here, injection of quinolinic acid into the striatum leads to regional excitotoxicity and subsequent degeneration of DARPP-32-positive, medium spiny projection neurons [71–73]. Even though the authors referred to the implanted cells as neural precursors, corresponding in vitro analyses revealed that the isolated cells were proliferating and could give rise to both, neurons and astroglia, which suggests that they were still NSCs. Finally, transplantation of human fetal, striatal eminence-derived NSCs six hours after striatal injury induction led to broad migration rostral and caudal to the injection site and to robust tissue integration [73]. Analysis after 12 weeks post-transplantation revealed that the majority of NSCs indeed differentiated into neurons of which some also displayed DARPP-32 expression. Glial descendants were not investigated.

#### 4. Heterogeneity among Spinal Cord Injury Models and Donor Cell Origin

Spinal cord injury (SCI) is a devastating neurological condition, which is caused by a traumatic impact to the spinal cord. It results in permanent impairment of motor- and sensory functions due to the interruption of descending and ascending nerve fiber tracts. Local cell loss at sites of injury is followed by glial scar formation and accompanied by inflammation which prevent regeneration of transected axons and exert an additional negative impact on functionality and survival of remote neurons [74,75]. Stem cell transplantation seems to be a beneficial therapeutic approach in order to promote spinal cord regeneration either via secretion of neurotrophic factors or in that engrafted stem cells adopt neuronal and glial identities and functionally integrate into damaged neuronal

circuits [76,77]. However, the question to what extent regeneration can take place and how the lesion environment affects fate and differentiation of transplanted NSCs is still under investigation addressing different spinal cord injury models as well as NSC populations of different origin.

In this regard, we compared data on fate acquisition of transplanted NSCs from two methodologically different SCI models. Compression or contusion used to induce broader and probably medically more relevant spinal cord lesions is compared to more defined injuries resulting from spinal cord hemisection or complete transection. Both models affect spinal cord integrity and lead to motor and sensory dysfunction while differing in terms of lesion volume and extent of secondary damage. Transplantation of various NSCs indeed led to the generation of different cell fates correlating with the type of evoked injury.

Interestingly, rodent and human NSCs transplanted into a compression or a contusion lesion preferentially differentiated into oligodendrocytes [78–91] while cells transplanted into hemisected or transected lesions predominantly differentiated into astrocytes [92–97]. This effect seems to be independent of host species (mouse, rat), donor cell tissue and species (SGZ, SVZ, spinal cord, iPSCs from fibroblasts; mouse, rat, human) and age (adult, embryonic, fetal) of donor animals [81,89,94,98]—a relevant aspect for clinical translation. In the majority of the described cases, where these NSCs have been transplanted into a compression lesion, cells differentiated into oligodendrocytes (41-51%), followed by astrocytes (5–31.2%) and neurons (0–21%) [79,85,87,99]. Engrafted cells, which showed neither neuronal nor glial marker protein expression apparently remained as non-differentiated nestin-positive cells [82]; however, without developing signs of tumorigenesis. In contrast to this pro-oligodendroglial fate acquisition in compression lesions, NSCs transplanted in a hemisected or transected spinal cord model mostly differentiate into astrocytes, a few into oligodendroglial cells (except for up to 44% in one study) [97] and rarely into neurons as most studies state [95,96]. Therefore, the choice of the SCI model apparently exerts a great impact on the fate outcome, which could indeed influence the degree of cellular and functional regeneration. Nevertheless, there are always exceptions to the rule where environmental influences are not dominating [80,82,100,101]. Transplantation of fetal rat spinal cord NSCs into an adult rat SCI compression model resulted in a majority of GFAP-positive astrocytes (32.6%), a few 2',3'-cyclic nucleotide 3' phosphodiesterase- (CNP) positive oligodendrocytes (4.4%) and low degree of neuronal cells (5.9%) whereas precursor marker expression (such as neuronal Dcx or oligodendroglial NG2) was not investigated [80].

While most NSC transplantation based SCI studies focused on rodent models, Iwanami and colleagues used a primate contusion model. Upon cervical contusion in marmosets and subsequent transplantation of human NSCs, assessment of fate acquisition of the engrafted NSCs showed the following distribution: 46% GFAP-positive astrocytes, 25% nestin-positive stem cells, 21%  $\beta$ -III-Tub-positive neurons, and 5% Olig2-positive oligodendroglial cells [82]. Since in rodents a contused tissue environment generated overall higher oligodendroglial cell numbers as shown by the expression of myelin basic protein, remyelination events or axonal ensheathment by myelinating descendants of transplanted NSCs [79,84,85,90,102], these observations thus question how well rodent models can recapitulate the spinal cord pathology in higher mammals such as primates and consequently also in human.

Migration of transplanted NSCs towards an injury site, into lesion zones or close to demyelinated axonal fibers is key for a potential beneficial role of transplanted NSCs in terms of local neurotrophic factor secretion or remyelination. Considering the migratory potential of transplanted NSCs, it was found that migration exclusively occurs in spinal cords with a contusion or compression injury [83–87,89,91,99,103]. For hemisected and transected tissues the majority of studies did either not describe or discuss cell distribution or provided no explanations why migration was not observed [93–97,101,104]. Moreover, in most studies cells were grafted to positions rostral and/or caudal from the lesion sites and not directly into lesion zones thereby ensuring maximal survival rates of implanted cells [81,84,105]. Nevertheless, a single study directly assessed different positions of NSC injection and reported that a transplantation rostral and caudal of the lesion site leads to an increase in NSC survival when compared to injection into the lesion epicentre [86,87]. Such observations must

therefore be considered in terms of clinical translation dealing with NSC-based regeneration therapies balancing survival of transplants vs. a limited degree of distribution which owning to the tissue sizes in higher mammals might indeed critically restrict a positive impact on cell replacement and functional restoration.

Despite the well described self-renewing potential of (neural) stem cells in vitro as well as in their discrete niches in vivo, transplanted stem cells showed little or no proliferation activities within host tissues in all SCI studies considered here [86,91,95,98]. Besides the described absence of tumorigenesis by NSCs in different SCI models, studies where NSCs were applied to an injury-free spinal cord also report no tumor formation [106,107]. The observed high differentiation rate and low proliferation potential of NSCs post-transplantation indicates that NSCs most likely sense and react to injury-specific cues which constitutes an important safety aspect. This is of even greater interest as indeed nearly all studies reported a certain degree of motor function recovery upon transplantation of diverse NSCs into the injured spinal cord independent of the chosen SCI model [82,102,103,105]. In this regard one has to take into account that studies with no observed functional benefit might remain unpublished, given that in SCI research recovery of lost functions constitutes a primary endpoint. However, reports on NSC populations failing to support neuroregeneration would still contribute to our still limited understanding of NSC biology under traumatic conditions.

The aforementioned studies revealing differences and similarities in different SCI models all used subacute or acute application conditions, in that NSC transplantation was performed immediately or shortly after injury. However, this does not necessarily reflect a patient's situation who will first receive emergency surgery in order to stabilize general conditions and to avoid secondary damage preceding possible regeneration directed therapies. Moreover, for autologous stem cell transplantation a timely application of appropriate cell numbers is not feasible. Investigating chronic SCI models in which cells are transplanted several weeks after SCI might therefore be more relevant in terms of clinical translation and feasibility. In this regard, not only the type of induced injury (pressure or cut) appears to be important but also the disease process seems to account for the NSC fate. This particular question was addressed by several groups comparing chronic (several weeks after injury) to a subacute (days after injury) transplantation approaches. In two studies, a lower survival rate of NSCs transplanted after four and eight weeks into contusion lesions compared to a subacute transplantation process was observed [85,86]. While Karimi-Abdolrezaee and colleagues could not find any cells after one to two weeks following transplantation even with positive stimulating growth factors infused for seven days after transplantation, subsequent investigations [87,89,97] were able to detect engrafted cells several weeks later independent of the lesion model used (contusion, hemisection). Interestingly, even though NSCs were transplanted into chronic lesion conditions fate assessment analysis revealed that engrafted cells still differentiated mainly into glial cells and that only a few neurons were generated [86,97] bearing a high degree of similarity to the observations made in acute models. Thus, despite a lowered survival rate, the chronic lesion environment appears to still exert a beneficial influence on the differentiation of human NSCs and of iPSC-NPCs as two groups reported a more mature oligodendrocyte phenotype in stem cell derivatives upon transplantation into early chronic- or chronic lesions [98,99].

Of note, given that at least for transplanted OPCs heterogenic responses in gray vs. white matter have been described [108], a systematic investigation to reveal potential heterogeneity between gray/white matter instructed fates of transplanted NSCs has not been conducted yet. To our knowledge, a single study from 2008 reported that transplanted NSCs mainly accumulated in GM at the lesion site and with only a small percentage of cells found within WM regions [105]. As gray or white matter specific cues might indeed be relevant for survival or migration of transplanted NSCs such differences should be addressed more carefully when planning and analysing NSC transplantation studies in both, injury-free spinal cords and SCI models—also in light of the desired cellular outcome (neurons vs. oligodendroglia).

# 5. Conclusions

The high complexity of adult mammalian central nervous systems and the low degree of intrinsic repair capacity results in devastating functional impairments and persisting disabilities in most neuropathologies. The discovery of neural stem cells and their potential to give rise to all cell lineages of the CNS has revived the field in terms of functional cell replacement. Initial concerns related to exogenously applied NSCs and possible adverse effects were refuted as the majority of NSC transplantation studies revealed no tumor formation. Interestingly, studies investigating the outcome of NSC transplantations into healthy CNS tissue revealed dominant region-specific cues instructing the grafts. Despite a great heterogeneity among different CNS lesion models, transplanted NSC migration towards lesion sites and subsequent differentiation into to be replenished cell types are common observations in the majority of neuropathological models. These observations raise hope for the development of NSC-mediated CNS regeneration therapies as most neural stem cell types seem to be sensible to injury environments and their requirements and since even delayed NSC applications can confer functional benefits.

**Author Contributions:** F.B. and I.S.A. equally contributed to literature research and graphical abstract creation. F.B., I.S.A., and P.K. equally contributed to writing of this review article.

**Funding:** Research on myelin repair in the laboratory of P.K. was supported by the French societies ARSEP (Fondation pour l'Aide à la Recherche sur la Sclérose en Plaques) and AFM (Association Française Contre les Myopathies), the Christiane and Claudia Hempel Foundation for clinical stem cell research, by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; grants KU1934/2-1, KU1934/5-1), by iBrain and by the Stifterverband/Novartisstiftung. The MS Center at the Department of Neurology is supported in part by the Walter and Ilse Rose Foundation and the James and Elisabeth Cloppenburg, Peek & Cloppenburg Düsseldorf Stiftung.

**Conflicts of Interest:** F.B. and I.S.A. have no competing interests. P.K. performed consultancy work for GeNeuro and received compensation for speaking from Sanofi Genzyme.

## References

- 1. Smart, I. Subependymal Layer of Mouse Brain and Its Cell Production as Shown by Radioautography after Thymidine-H3 Injection. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **1961**, *116*, 325–347. [CrossRef]
- 2. Altman, J.; Das, G.D. Autoradiographic and Histological Evidence of Postnatal Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Rats. *J. Comp. Neurol.* **1965**, *124*, 319–335. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Lois, C.; Alvarez-Buylla, A. Proliferating subventricular zone cells in the adult mammalian forebrain can differentiate into neurons and glia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1993**, *90*, 2074–2077. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Eriksson, P.S.; Perfilieva, E.; Bjork-Eriksson, T.; Alborn, A.M.; Nordborg, C.; Peterson, D.A.; Gage, F.H. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. *Nat. Med.* **1998**, *4*, 1313–1317. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Doetsch, F.; Caille, I.; Lim, D.A.; Garcia-Verdugo, J.M.; Alvarez-Buylla, A. Subventricular zone astrocytes are neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain. *Cell* **1999**, *97*, 703–716. [CrossRef]
- 6. Barnabe-Heider, F.; Goritz, C.; Sabelstrom, H.; Takebayashi, H.; Pfrieger, F.W.; Meletis, K.; Frisen, J. Origin of new glial cells in intact and injured adult spinal cord. *Cell Stem Cell* **2010**, *7*, 470–482. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Weiss, S.; Dunne, C.; Hewson, J.; Wohl, C.; Wheatley, M.; Peterson, A.C.; Reynolds, B.A. Multipotent CNS stem cells are present in the adult mammalian spinal cord and ventricular neuroaxis. *J. Neurosci.* 1996, 16, 7599–7609. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Akkermann, R.; Beyer, F.; Kury, P. Heterogeneous populations of neural stem cells contribute to myelin repair. *Neural Regen. Res.* 2017, *12*, 509–517. [CrossRef]
- Zweifel, S.; Marcy, G.; Lo Guidice, Q.; Li, D.; Heinrich, C.; Azim, K.; Raineteau, O. HOPX Defines Heterogeneity of Postnatal Subventricular Zone Neural Stem Cells. *Stem Cell Rep.* 2018, *11*, 770–783. [CrossRef]
- 10. Pilz, G.A.; Bottes, S.; Betizeau, M.; Jorg, D.J.; Carta, S.; Simons, B.D.; Helmchen, F.; Jessberger, S. Live imaging of neurogenesis in the adult mouse hippocampus. *Science* **2018**, *359*, 658–662. [CrossRef]
- Seidenfaden, R.; Desoeuvre, A.; Bosio, A.; Virard, I.; Cremer, H. Glial conversion of SVZ-derived committed neuronal precursors after ectopic grafting into the adult brain. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 2006, 32, 187–198. [CrossRef]

- 12. Beckervordersandforth, R.; Tripathi, P.; Ninkovic, J.; Bayam, E.; Lepier, A.; Stempfhuber, B.; Kirchhoff, F.; Hirrlinger, J.; Haslinger, A.; Lie, D.C.; et al. In vivo fate mapping and expression analysis reveals molecular hallmarks of prospectively isolated adult neural stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell* **2010**, *7*, 744–758. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gage, F.H.; Coates, P.W.; Palmer, T.D.; Kuhn, H.G.; Fisher, L.J.; Suhonen, J.O.; Peterson, D.A.; Suhr, S.T.; Ray, J. Survival and differentiation of adult neuronal progenitor cells transplanted to the adult brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 1995, *92*, 11879–11883. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Raedt, R.; Van Dycke, A.; Waeytens, A.; Wyckhuys, T.; Vonck, K.; Wadman, W.; Boon, P. Unconditioned adult-derived neurosphere cells mainly differentiate towards astrocytes upon transplantation in sclerotic rat hippocampus. *Epilepsy Res.* **2009**, *87*, 148–159. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Herrera, D.G.; Garcia-Verdugo, J.M.; Alvarez-Buylla, A. Adult-derived neural precursors transplanted into multiple regions in the adult brain. *Ann. Neurol.* **1999**, *46*, 867–877. [CrossRef]
- 16. Lois, C.; Alvarez-Buylla, A. Long-distance neuronal migration in the adult mammalian brain. *Science* **1994**, 264, 1145–1148. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Fricker, R.A.; Carpenter, M.K.; Winkler, C.; Greco, C.; Gates, M.A.; Bjorklund, A. Site-specific migration and neuronal differentiation of human neural progenitor cells after transplantation in the adult rat brain. *J. Neurosci.* **1999**, *19*, 5990–6005. [CrossRef]
- 18. Brock, S.C.; Bonsall, J.; Luskin, M.B. The neuronal progenitor cells of the forebrain subventricular zone: Intrinsic properties in vitro and following transplantation. *Methods* **1998**, *16*, 268–281. [CrossRef]
- 19. Rakic, P. Guidance of Neurons Migrating to Fetal Monkey Neocortex. Brain Res. 1971, 33, 471–476. [CrossRef]
- 20. Chernoff, G.F. Shiverer: An autosomal recessive mutant mouse with myelin deficiency. *J. Hered.* **1981**, 72, 128. [CrossRef]
- 21. Readhead, C.; Hood, L. The dysmyelinating mouse mutations shiverer (shi) and myelin deficient (shimld). *Behav. Genet.* **1990**, *20*, 213–234. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Yandava, B.D.; Billinghurst, L.L.; Snyder, E.Y. "Global" cell replacement is feasible via neural stem cell transplantation: Evidence from the dysmyelinated shiverer mouse brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **1999**, *96*, 7029–7034. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Walczak, P.; Kedziorek, D.A.; Gilad, A.A.; Barnett, B.P.; Bulte, J.W. Applicability and limitations of MR tracking of neural stem cells with asymmetric cell division and rapid turnover: The case of the shiverer dysmyelinated mouse brain. *Magn. Reson. Med.* **2007**, *58*, 261–269. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Rowland, J.W.; Lee, J.J.; Salewski, R.P.; Eftekharpour, E.; van der Kooy, D.; Fehlings, M.G. Generation of neural stem cells from embryonic stem cells using the default mechanism: In vitro and in vivo characterization. *Stem Cells Dev.* **2011**, *20*, 1829–1845. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Xiong, Y.; Mahmood, A.; Chopp, M. Animal models of traumatic brain injury. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2013**, *14*, 128–142. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Koutsoudaki, P.N.; Papastefanaki, F.; Stamatakis, A.; Kouroupi, G.; Xingi, E.; Stylianopoulou, F.; Matsas, R. Neural stem/progenitor cells differentiate into oligodendrocytes, reduce inflammation, and ameliorate learning deficits after transplantation in a mouse model of traumatic brain injury. *Glia* 2016, 64, 763–779. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Lotocki, G.; de Rivero Vaccari, J.P.; Alonso, O.; Molano, J.S.; Nixon, R.; Safavi, P.; Dietrich, W.D.; Bramlett, H.M. Oligodendrocyte vulnerability following traumatic brain injury in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* **2011**, *499*, 143–148. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pang, A.L.; Xiong, L.L.; Xia, Q.J.; Liu, F.; Wang, Y.C.; Liu, F.; Zhang, P.; Meng, B.L.; Tan, S.; Wang, T.H. Neural Stem Cell Transplantation Is Associated with Inhibition of Apoptosis, Bcl-xL Upregulation, and Recovery of Neurological Function in a Rat Model of Traumatic Brain Injury. *Cell Transplant.* 2017, 26, 1262–1275. [CrossRef]
- 29. Feeney, D.M.; Boyeson, M.G.; Linn, R.T.; Murray, H.M.; Dail, W.G. Responses to cortical injury: I. Methodology and local effects of contusions in the rat. *Brain Res.* **1981**, *211*, 67–77. [CrossRef]
- 30. Xiong, L.L.; Hu, Y.; Zhang, P.; Zhang, Z.; Li, L.H.; Gao, G.D.; Zhou, X.F.; Wang, T.H. Neural Stem Cell Transplantation Promotes Functional Recovery from Traumatic Brain Injury via Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor-Mediated Neuroplasticity. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **2018**, *55*, 2696–2711. [CrossRef]
- 31. Miltiadous, P.; Kouroupi, G.; Stamatakis, A.; Koutsoudaki, P.N.; Matsas, R.; Stylianopoulou, F. Subventricular zone-derived neural stem cell grafts protect against hippocampal degeneration and restore cognitive function

in the mouse following intrahippocampal kainic acid administration. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* **2013**, *2*, 185–198. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 32. Waldau, B.; Hattiangady, B.; Kuruba, R.; Shetty, A.K. Medial ganglionic eminence-derived neural stem cell grafts ease spontaneous seizures and restore GDNF expression in a rat model of chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. *Stem Cells* **2010**, *28*, 1153–1164. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Beccari, S.; Valero, J.; Maletic-Savatic, M.; Sierra, A. A simulation model of neuroprogenitor proliferation dynamics predicts age-related loss of hippocampal neurogenesis but not astrogenesis. *Sci. Rep.* 2017, 7, 16528. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. McMahon, S.S.; Albermann, S.; Rooney, G.E.; Moran, C.; Hynes, J.; Garcia, Y.; Dockery, P.; O'Brien, T.; Windebank, A.J.; Barry, F.P. Effect of cyclosporin A on functional recovery in the spinal cord following contusion injury. *J. Anat.* **2009**, *215*, 267–279. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Ibarra, A.; Hernandez, E.; Lomeli, J.; Pineda, D.; Buenrostro, M.; Martinon, S.; Garcia, E.; Flores, N.; Guizar-Sahagun, G.; Correa, D.; et al. Cyclosporin-A enhances non-functional axonal growing after complete spinal cord transection. *Brain Res.* **2007**, *1149*, 200–209. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Erlandsson, A.; Lin, C.H.; Yu, F.; Morshead, C.M. Immunosuppression promotes endogenous neural stem and progenitor cell migration and tissue regeneration after ischemic injury. *Exp. Neurol.* 2011, 230, 48–57. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 37. Snyder, E.Y.; Taylor, R.M.; Wolfe, J.H. Neural progenitor cell engraftment corrects lysosomal storage throughout the MPS VII mouse brain. *Nature* **1995**, *374*, 367–370. [CrossRef]
- Bernstock, J.D.; Peruzzotti-Jametti, L.; Ye, D.; Gessler, F.A.; Maric, D.; Vicario, N.; Lee, Y.J.; Pluchino, S.; Hallenbeck, J.M. Neural stem Cell Transplantation in ischemic stroke: A role for preconditioning and cellular engineering. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 2017, *37*, 2314–2319. [CrossRef]
- 39. Jin, K.; Sun, Y.; Xie, L.; Mao, X.O.; Childs, J.; Peel, A.; Logvinova, A.; Banwait, S.; Greenberg, D.A. Comparison of ischemia-directed migration of neural precursor cells after intrastriatal, intraventricular, or intravenous transplantation in the rat. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2005**, *18*, 366–374. [CrossRef]
- 40. Luo, L.; Guo, K.; Fan, W.; Lu, Y.; Chen, L.; Wang, Y.; Shao, Y.; Wu, G.; Xu, J.; Lu, L. Niche astrocytes promote the survival, proliferation and neuronal differentiation of co-transplanted neural stem cells following ischemic stroke in rats. *Exp. Ther. Med.* **2017**, *13*, 645–650. [CrossRef]
- 41. Capone, C.; Frigerio, S.; Fumagalli, S.; Gelati, M.; Principato, M.C.; Storini, C.; Montinaro, M.; Kraftsik, R.; De Curtis, M.; Parati, E.; et al. Neurosphere-derived cells exert a neuroprotective action by changing the ischemic microenvironment. *PLoS ONE* **2007**, *2*, e373. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Darsalia, V.; Allison, S.J.; Cusulin, C.; Monni, E.; Kuzdas, D.; Kallur, T.; Lindvall, O.; Kokaia, Z. Cell number and timing of transplantation determine survival of human neural stem cell grafts in stroke-damaged rat brain. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* **2011**, *31*, 235–242. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Thompson, A.J.; Baranzini, S.E.; Geurts, J.; Hemmer, B.; Ciccarelli, O. Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* **2018**, *391*, 1622–1636. [CrossRef]
- 44. Aharonowiz, M.; Einstein, O.; Fainstein, N.; Lassmann, H.; Reubinoff, B.; Ben-Hur, T. Neuroprotective effect of transplanted human embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursors in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE* **2008**, *3*, e3145. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Zhang, C.; Cao, J.; Li, X.; Xu, H.; Wang, W.; Wang, L.; Zhao, X.; Li, W.; Jiao, J.; Hu, B.; et al. Treatment of multiple sclerosis by transplantation of neural stem cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. *Sci. China Life Sci.* **2016**, *59*, 950–957. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Bonilla, S.; Silva, A.; Valdes, L.; Geijo, E.; Garcia-Verdugo, J.M.; Martinez, S. Functional neural stem cells derived from adult bone marrow. *Neuroscience* **2005**, *133*, 85–95. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Mi, S.; Pepinsky, R.B.; Cadavid, D. Blocking LINGO-1 as a therapy to promote CNS repair: From concept to the clinic. *CNS Drugs* **2013**, *27*, 493–503. [CrossRef]
- Li, X.; Zhang, Y.; Yan, Y.; Ciric, B.; Ma, C.G.; Chin, J.; Curtis, M.; Rostami, A.; Zhang, G.X. LINGO-1-Fc-Transduced Neural Stem Cells Are Effective Therapy for Chronic Stage Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 2017, *54*, 4365–4378. [CrossRef]
- Gao, X.; Deng, L.; Wang, Y.; Yin, L.; Yang, C.; Du, J.; Yuan, Q. GDNF Enhances Therapeutic Efficiency of Neural Stem Cells-Based Therapy in Chronic Experimental Allergic Encephalomyelitis in Rat. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016, 2016, 1431349. [CrossRef]

- Radde, R.; Bolmont, T.; Kaeser, S.A.; Coomaraswamy, J.; Lindau, D.; Stoltze, L.; Calhoun, M.E.; Jaggi, F.; Wolburg, H.; Gengler, S.; et al. Abeta42-driven cerebral amyloidosis in transgenic mice reveals early and robust pathology. *EMBO Rep.* 2006, *7*, 940–946. [CrossRef]
- 51. Zhang, W.; Gu, G.J.; Zhang, Q.; Liu, J.H.; Zhang, B.; Guo, Y.; Wang, M.Y.; Gong, Q.Y.; Xu, J.R. NSCs promote hippocampal neurogenesis, metabolic changes and synaptogenesis in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. *Hippocampus* **2017**, *27*, 1250–1263. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 52. Oddo, S.; Caccamo, A.; Shepherd, J.D.; Murphy, M.P.; Golde, T.E.; Kayed, R.; Metherate, R.; Mattson, M.P.; Akbari, Y.; LaFerla, F.M. Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: Intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. *Neuron* **2003**, *39*, 409–421. [CrossRef]
- Jankowsky, J.L.; Fadale, D.J.; Anderson, J.; Xu, G.M.; Gonzales, V.; Jenkins, N.A.; Copeland, N.G.; Lee, M.K.; Younkin, L.H.; Wagner, S.L.; et al. Mutant presenilins specifically elevate the levels of the 42 residue beta-amyloid peptide in vivo: Evidence for augmentation of a 42-specific gamma secretase. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 2004, 13, 159–170. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Oakley, H.; Cole, S.L.; Logan, S.; Maus, E.; Shao, P.; Craft, J.; Guillozet-Bongaarts, A.; Ohno, M.; Disterhoft, J.; Van Eldik, L.; et al. Intraneuronal beta-amyloid aggregates, neurodegeneration, and neuron loss in transgenic mice with five familial Alzheimer's disease mutations: Potential factors in amyloid plaque formation. *J. Neurosci.* 2006, 26, 10129–10140. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Hwang, D.Y.; Cho, J.S.; Lee, S.H.; Chae, K.R.; Lim, H.J.; Min, S.H.; Seo, S.J.; Song, Y.S.; Song, C.W.; Paik, S.G.; et al. Aberrant expressions of pathogenic phenotype in Alzheimer's diseased transgenic mice carrying NSE-controlled APPsw. *Exp. Neurol.* **2004**, *186*, 20–32. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- McGinley, L.M.; Kashlan, O.N.; Chen, K.S.; Bruno, E.S.; Hayes, J.M.; Backus, C.; Feldman, S.; Kashlan, B.N.; Johe, K.; Feldman, E.L. Human neural stem Cell Transplantation into the corpus callosum of Alzheimer's mice. *Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol.* 2017, 4, 749–755. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Ager, R.R.; Davis, J.L.; Agazaryan, A.; Benavente, F.; Poon, W.W.; LaFerla, F.M.; Blurton-Jones, M. Human neural stem cells improve cognition and promote synaptic growth in two complementary transgenic models of Alzheimer's disease and neuronal loss. *Hippocampus* **2015**, *25*, 813–826. [CrossRef]
- 58. Lee, I.S.; Jung, K.; Kim, I.S.; Lee, H.; Kim, M.; Yun, S.; Hwang, K.; Shin, J.E.; Park, K.I. Human neural stem cells alleviate Alzheimer-like pathology in a mouse model. *Mol. Neurodegener.* **2015**, *10*, 38. [CrossRef]
- 59. Li, B.; Gao, Y.; Zhang, W.; Xu, J.R. Regulation and effects of neurotrophic factors after neural stem Cell Transplantation in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **2018**, *96*, 828–840. [CrossRef]
- 60. Zhang, Q.; Wu, H.H.; Wang, Y.; Gu, G.J.; Zhang, W.; Xia, R. Neural stem Cell Transplantation decreases neuroinflammation in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurochem.* **2016**, *136*, 815–825. [CrossRef]
- 61. Wu, C.C.; Lien, C.C.; Hou, W.H.; Chiang, P.M.; Tsai, K.J. Gain of BDNF Function in Engrafted Neural Stem Cells Promotes the Therapeutic Potential for Alzheimer's Disease. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 27358. [CrossRef]
- 62. Blurton-Jones, M.; Kitazawa, M.; Martinez-Coria, H.; Castello, N.A.; Muller, F.J.; Loring, J.F.; Yamasaki, T.R.; Poon, W.W.; Green, K.N.; LaFerla, F.M. Neural stem cells improve cognition via BDNF in a transgenic model of Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2009**, *106*, 13594–13599. [CrossRef]
- 63. Marsh, S.E.; Yeung, S.T.; Torres, M.; Lau, L.; Davis, J.L.; Monuki, E.S.; Poon, W.W.; Blurton-Jones, M. HuCNS-SC Human NSCs Fail to Differentiate, Form Ectopic Clusters, and Provide No Cognitive Benefits in a Transgenic Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Stem Cell Rep.* **2017**, *8*, 235–248. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Hampton, D.W.; Webber, D.J.; Bilican, B.; Goedert, M.; Spillantini, M.G.; Chandran, S. Cell-mediated neuroprotection in a mouse model of human tauopathy. *J. Neurosci.* **2010**, *30*, 9973–9983. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wu, S.; Sasaki, A.; Yoshimoto, R.; Kawahara, Y.; Manabe, T.; Kataoka, K.; Asashima, M.; Yuge, L. Neural stem cells improve learning and memory in rats with Alzheimer's disease. *Pathobiology* 2008, 75, 186–194. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Ryu, J.K.; Kim, J.; Cho, S.J.; Hatori, K.; Nagai, A.; Choi, H.B.; Lee, M.C.; McLarnon, J.G.; Kim, S.U. Proactive transplantation of human neural stem cells prevents degeneration of striatal neurons in a rat model of Huntington disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2004**, *16*, 68–77. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Al-Gharaibeh, A.; Culver, R.; Stewart, A.N.; Srinageshwar, B.; Spelde, K.; Frollo, L.; Kolli, N.; Story, D.; Paladugu, L.; Anwar, S.; et al. Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neural Stem Cell Transplantations

Reduced Behavioral Deficits and Ameliorated Neuropathological Changes in YAC128 Mouse Model of Huntington's Disease. *Front. Neurosci.* 2017, *11*, 628. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 68. Van Raamsdonk, J.M.; Pearson, J.; Slow, E.J.; Hossain, S.M.; Leavitt, B.R.; Hayden, M.R. Cognitive dysfunction precedes neuropathology and motor abnormalities in the YAC128 mouse model of Huntington's disease. *J. Neurosci.* **2005**, *25*, 4169–4180. [CrossRef]
- 69. Gray, M.; Shirasaki, D.I.; Cepeda, C.; Andre, V.M.; Wilburn, B.; Lu, X.H.; Tao, J.; Yamazaki, I.; Li, S.H.; Sun, Y.E.; et al. Full-length human mutant huntingtin with a stable polyglutamine repeat can elicit progressive and selective neuropathogenesis in BACHD mice. *J. Neurosci.* **2008**, *28*, 6182–6195. [CrossRef]
- 70. Ehrnhoefer, D.E.; Butland, S.L.; Pouladi, M.A.; Hayden, M.R. Mouse models of Huntington disease: Variations on a theme. *Dis. Model. Mech.* **2009**, *2*, 123–129. [CrossRef]
- 71. Schwarcz, R.; Whetsell, W.O., Jr.; Mangano, R.M. Quinolinic acid: An endogenous metabolite that produces axon-sparing lesions in rat brain. *Science* **1983**, *219*, 316–318. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 72. Sanberg, P.R.; Calderon, S.F.; Giordano, M.; Tew, J.M.; Norman, A.B. The quinolinic acid model of Huntington's disease: Locomotor abnormalities. *Exp. Neurol.* **1989**, *105*, 45–53. [CrossRef]
- 73. Armstrong, R.J.; Watts, C.; Svendsen, C.N.; Dunnett, S.B.; Rosser, A.E. Survival, neuronal differentiation, and fiber outgrowth of propagated human neural precursor grafts in an animal model of Huntington's disease. *Cell Transplant.* **2000**, *9*, 55–64. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 74. Bareyre, F.M.; Schwab, M.E. Inflammation, degeneration and regeneration in the injured spinal cord: Insights from DNA microarrays. *Trends Neurosci.* **2003**, *26*, 555–563. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 75. Silver, J.; Miller, J.H. Regeneration beyond the glial scar. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **2004**, *5*, 146–156. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 76. Murray, M.; Kim, D.; Liu, Y.; Tobias, C.; Tessler, A.; Fischer, I. Transplantation of genetically modified cells contributes to repair and recovery from spinal injury. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 2002, *40*, 292–300. [CrossRef]
- 77. Coumans, J.V.; Lin, T.T.; Dai, H.N.; MacArthur, L.; McAtee, M.; Nash, C.; Bregman, B.S. Axonal regeneration and functional recovery after complete spinal cord transection in rats by delayed treatment with transplants and neurotrophins. *J. Neurosci.* 2001, *21*, 9334–9344. [CrossRef]
- 78. Plemel, J.R.; Chojnacki, A.; Sparling, J.S.; Liu, J.; Plunet, W.; Duncan, G.J.; Park, S.E.; Weiss, S.; Tetzlaff, W. Platelet-derived growth factor-responsive neural precursors give rise to myelinating oligodendrocytes after transplantation into the spinal cords of contused rats and dysmyelinated mice. *Glia* 2011, *59*, 1891–1910. [CrossRef]
- McDonald, J.W.; Liu, X.Z.; Qu, Y.; Liu, S.; Mickey, S.K.; Turetsky, D.; Gottlieb, D.I.; Choi, D.W. Transplanted embryonic stem cells survive, differentiate and promote recovery in injured rat spinal cord. *Nat. Med.* 1999, 5, 1410–1412. [CrossRef]
- Ogawa, Y.; Sawamoto, K.; Miyata, T.; Miyao, S.; Watanabe, M.; Nakamura, M.; Bregman, B.S.; Koike, M.; Uchiyama, Y.; Toyama, Y.; et al. Transplantation of in vitro-expanded fetal neural progenitor cells results in neurogenesis and functional recovery after spinal cord contusion injury in adult rats. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 2002, 69, 925–933. [CrossRef]
- Cao, Q.; Xu, X.M.; Devries, W.H.; Enzmann, G.U.; Ping, P.; Tsoulfas, P.; Wood, P.M.; Bunge, M.B.; Whittemore, S.R. Functional recovery in traumatic spinal cord injury after transplantation of multineurotrophin-expressing glial-restricted precursor cells. *J. Neurosci.* 2005, 25, 6947–6957. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 82. Iwanami, A.; Kaneko, S.; Nakamura, M.; Kanemura, Y.; Mori, H.; Kobayashi, S.; Yamasaki, M.; Momoshima, S.; Ishii, H.; Ando, K.; et al. Transplantation of human neural stem cells for spinal cord injury in primates. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **2005**, *80*, 182–190. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 83. Alexanian, A.R.; Crowe, M.J.; Kurpad, S.N. Efficient differentiation and integration of lineage-restricted neural precursors in the traumatically injured adult cat spinal cord. *J. Neurosci. Methods* **2006**, *150*, 41–46. [CrossRef]
- Cloutier, F.; Siegenthaler, M.M.; Nistor, G.; Keirstead, H.S. Transplantation of human embryonic stem cell-derived oligodendrocyte progenitors into rat spinal cord injuries does not cause harm. *Regen. Med.* 2006, 1, 469–479. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 85. Karimi-Abdolrezaee, S.; Eftekharpour, E.; Wang, J.; Morshead, C.M.; Fehlings, M.G. Delayed transplantation of adult neural precursor cells promotes remyelination and functional neurological recovery after spinal cord injury. *J. Neurosci.* **2006**, *26*, 3377–3389. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 86. Parr, A.M.; Kulbatski, I.; Tator, C.H. Transplantation of adult rat spinal cord stem/progenitor cells for spinal cord injury. *J. Neurotrauma* **2007**, *24*, 835–845. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 87. Parr, A.M.; Kulbatski, I.; Zahir, T.; Wang, X.; Yue, C.; Keating, A.; Tator, C.H. Transplanted adult spinal cord-derived neural stem/progenitor cells promote early functional recovery after rat spinal cord injury. *Neuroscience* **2008**, 155, 760–770. [CrossRef]
- 88. Piltti, K.M.; Avakian, S.N.; Funes, G.M.; Hu, A.; Uchida, N.; Anderson, A.J.; Cummings, B.J. Transplantation dose alters the dynamics of human neural stem cell engraftment, proliferation and migration after spinal cord injury. *Stem Cell Res.* **2015**, *15*, 341–353. [CrossRef]
- Piltti, K.M.; Funes, G.M.; Avakian, S.N.; Salibian, A.A.; Huang, K.I.; Carta, K.; Kamei, N.; Flanagan, L.A.; Monuki, E.S.; Uchida, N.; et al. Increasing Human Neural Stem Cell Transplantation Dose Alters Oligodendroglial and Neuronal Differentiation after Spinal Cord Injury. *Stem Cell Rep.* 2017, *8*, 1534–1548. [CrossRef]
- Salewski, R.P.; Mitchell, R.A.; Li, L.; Shen, C.; Milekovskaia, M.; Nagy, A.; Fehlings, M.G. Transplantation of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neural Stem Cells Mediate Functional Recovery Following Thoracic Spinal Cord Injury Through Remyelination of Axons. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 2015, *4*, 743–754. [CrossRef]
- 91. Sontag, C.J.; Uchida, N.; Cummings, B.J.; Anderson, A.J. Injury to the spinal cord niche alters the engraftment dynamics of human neural stem cells. *Stem Cell Rep.* **2014**, *2*, 620–632. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cao, Q.L.; Zhang, Y.P.; Howard, R.M.; Walters, W.M.; Tsoulfas, P.; Whittemore, S.R. Pluripotent stem cells engrafted into the normal or lesioned adult rat spinal cord are restricted to a glial lineage. *Exp. Neurol.* 2001, 167, 48–58. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Lu, P.; Jones, L.L.; Snyder, E.Y.; Tuszynski, M.H. Neural stem cells constitutively secrete neurotrophic factors and promote extensive host axonal growth after spinal cord injury. *Exp. Neurol.* 2003, 181, 115–129. [CrossRef]
- 94. Vroemen, M.; Caioni, M.; Bogdahn, U.; Weidner, N. Failure of Schwann cells as supporting cells for adult neural progenitor cell grafts in the acutely injured spinal cord. *Cell Tissue Res.* **2007**, *327*, 1–13. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 95. Vroemen, M.; Aigner, L.; Winkler, J.; Weidner, N. Adult neural progenitor cell grafts survive after acute spinal cord injury and integrate along axonal pathways. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 2003, *18*, 743–751. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Pfeifer, K.; Vroemen, M.; Blesch, A.; Weidner, N. Adult neural progenitor cells provide a permissive guiding substrate for corticospinal axon growth following spinal cord injury. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 2004, 20, 1695–1704. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 97. Pfeifer, K.; Vroemen, M.; Caioni, M.; Aigner, L.; Bogdahn, U.; Weidner, N. Autologous adult rodent neural progenitor Cell Transplantation represents a feasible strategy to promote structural repair in the chronically injured spinal cord. *Regen. Med.* **2006**, *1*, 255–266. [CrossRef]
- 98. Nutt, S.E.; Chang, E.A.; Suhr, S.T.; Schlosser, L.O.; Mondello, S.E.; Moritz, C.T.; Cibelli, J.B.; Horner, P.J. Caudalized human iPSC-derived neural progenitor cells produce neurons and glia but fail to restore function in an early chronic spinal cord injury model. *Exp. Neurol.* 2013, 248, 491–503. [CrossRef]
- 99. Piltti, K.M.; Salazar, D.L.; Uchida, N.; Cummings, B.J.; Anderson, A.J. Safety of human neural stem Cell Transplantation in chronic spinal cord injury. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* **2013**, *2*, 961–974. [CrossRef]
- 100. Brock, J.H.; Graham, L.; Staufenberg, E.; Im, S.; Tuszynski, M.H. Rodent Neural Progenitor Cells Support Functional Recovery after Cervical Spinal Cord Contusion. *J. Neurotrauma* **2018**, *35*, 1069–1078. [CrossRef]
- 101. Wang, G.; Ao, Q.; Gong, K.; Zuo, H.; Gong, Y.; Zhang, X. Synergistic effect of neural stem cells and olfactory ensheathing cells on repair of adult rat spinal cord injury. *Cell Transplant.* 2010, 19, 1325–1337. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 102. Fujimoto, Y.; Abematsu, M.; Falk, A.; Tsujimura, K.; Sanosaka, T.; Juliandi, B.; Semi, K.; Namihira, M.; Komiya, S.; Smith, A.; et al. Treatment of a mouse model of spinal cord injury by transplantation of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived long-term self-renewing neuroepithelial-like stem cells. *Stem Cells* 2012, 30, 1163–1173. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hasegawa, K.; Chang, Y.W.; Li, H.; Berlin, Y.; Ikeda, O.; Kane-Goldsmith, N.; Grumet, M. Embryonic radial glia bridge spinal cord lesions and promote functional recovery following spinal cord injury. *Exp. Neurol.* 2005, 193, 394–410. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 104. Lukovic, D.; Moreno-Manzano, V.; Lopez-Mocholi, E.; Rodriguez-Jimenez, F.J.; Jendelova, P.; Sykova, E.; Oria, M.; Stojkovic, M.; Erceg, S. Complete rat spinal cord transection as a faithful model of spinal cord injury for translational Cell Transplantation. *Sci. Rep.* 2015, *5*, 9640. [CrossRef]
- 105. Bottai, D.; Madaschi, L.; Di Giulio, A.M.; Gorio, A. Viability-dependent promoting action of adult neural precursors in spinal cord injury. *Mol. Med.* **2008**, *14*, 634–644. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 106. Enomoto, M.; Shinomiya, K.; Okabe, S. Migration and differentiation of neural progenitor cells from two different regions of embryonic central nervous system after transplantation into the intact spinal cord. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 2003, 17, 1223–1232. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 107. Yan, J.; Xu, L.; Welsh, A.M.; Hatfield, G.; Hazel, T.; Johe, K.; Koliatsos, V.E. Extensive neuronal differentiation of human neural stem cell grafts in adult rat spinal cord. *PLoS Med.* **2007**, *4*, e39. [CrossRef]
- 108. Vigano, F.; Mobius, W.; Gotz, M.; Dimou, L. Transplantation reveals regional differences in oligodendrocyte differentiation in the adult brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* **2013**, *16*, 1370–1372. [CrossRef]



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

# Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich, Felix Beyer, versichere an Eides Statt, dass die vorliegende Dissertation von mir selbständig und ohne unzulässige fremde Hilfe unter Beachtung der "Grundsätze zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis an der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf" erstellt worden ist. Textstellen, die wörtlich oder abgewandelt aus anderen Arbeiten stammen, habe ich mit einer Quellenangabe versehen. Diese Arbeit wurde weder vollständig noch in Teilen einem anderen Prüfungsamt zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades vorgelegt.

Felix Beyer, 05.10.2020